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Section 1 — Strategic Report and Directors’ Report




INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The Directors present their strategic report of INEOS Quatire Holdings Limited {(the “Company™) and i1s
subsidiary undertakings (together the “Graup™) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Results for the year

The results of the Group are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 28 which shows a profit for the
year of £1,964.9 milhon (2021: €1,576.1 million).

Review of the business

Development projects

On 28 July 2022, the Group and China Petrolenm & Chemical Corporation (Sinopec) signed a petrochemical deal
to establish a 50:50 joint venture for ABS (Acrylonitrile Butadiene Styrene), based on the Group's world leading
proprietary ABS Technology. This inciudes the 600 kilotons per annum (“ktpa™) Ningbo facility currently under
construction by the Group, plus a further 600 ktpa of new capacity. This transaction was completed on 28
December 2022, See divesture note below.

In the context of the deal, the Group and Sinopec also intend to:

e eswblish a second joint venture to operate a plant in Tianjin to produce 300 ktpa ABS palymer with
Terluran ABS technology.

e  establish a third joint venture to operate & plant to produce 300 kipa ABS polymer with Terluran ABS
technoiogy.

Divestures

On 22 April 22 2022, the Group sold 13.8% of us shareholding in INEOS Styrolution Tndia Limited for a
consideration of $25.1 million {€22.5 million equivalent), The Group's shareholding reduced frem 75.0% to
61.2% as a result, with cantrol being retained.

On | August 2022, the Group entered into an agreement to divest iis remaining shareholding of §1.2% n INEOS
Styrolution India Limited with Shiva Performance Materials Private Limited. The wransaction was completed on
17 November 2022. The total sale price was $80.3 mitlion (€80.7 million equivalentj. The disposed business had
cash balances of €14 8 million, which led to a net cash inflow of €65.9 million. Transaction costs of €6.5 miilion
remain unsettled as at 31 December 2022,

On 28 Juiy 2022, the Group’s subsidiary, INEOS Styrofution APAC Ple. Limited, entered into an agreement {o
transfer 50% of its shareholding in TNEOS Styrolution Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Limited to Sinopec. As
a result, the Group gave up control but retained joimt control. The transaction was completed on 28 December
2022, The toral sale price was $489 .4 million (64726 million equivalent), of which $255.0 million (€246.2 million
equivalent} is deferred. A withholding tax of €13.5 mullion was paid n relation to the sale price settled on
compiction. The disposed business had cash balances of €40.7 milton, which led to a net cash inflow af €172.2
million. Transaction costs of €2.7 miilion remain unsettled as at 31 December 2022

See note 3 af the financial statements for further details.
Financing arrangements

On 31 May 2022, the Group repaid, ahead of terms, the amounts outstanding under the Three-Year Dollar Term
Loan A Facility due 2023 of $87.5 million (€83.2 million equivalent), the Three-Year Euro Term Loan A Facility
due 2023 of €75.0 million and the Five-Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility due 2025 of $210.0 million (€199.7
million equivalent). See note 7 of the financial statements for further details.



__in particular due to being able_to pass.ever the-increase-in utility-prices to the customers:

INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT FUR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Review of the business (continued)
Financing arrangements (continued)

In January 2022, the Styrolution bysiness entered into a new long-term loan agreement with Bank of China and
ICBC to provide RMB 3,300.0 million (€464.3 million equivalent) of financing for the construction of a new 600
kiloton ABS plant in Ningbo, China. As at 31 December 2022, the amount utilised against the facility was RMB
3,035.2 million (€408.9 million equivalent). On 28 December 2022, the Group completed an equity transfer
agreement with Sinopec relating to the sale of 50% equity interest in INEOS Styrolution Advanced Materials
(Ningbo} Pte Ltd. As a result of this divesture, the obligation of the Group under this term loan facility have been
transferred to the newly created joint-venture and derecognised in the Group consolidated financial statements.
See notes 3 and 17 of the financial statements for further details.

Subsequent to the year end, on 14 March 2023, the Group entered into an Incremental Facility Agreement to raise
a new Dollar Term Loan B of $500.0 miilion (€47(.6 million equivalent) and a new Euro Term Loan B of €375.0
million. The gross proceeds received under these borrowings were used on 15 March 2023 o pay an interim
dividend to the Group’s immediate parent company of €500.0 million with the remaining proceeds used to increase
the liguidity of the Group.

The Term Loan denominated in dollars bears interest at 2 rate per annum equal to SOFR + 0.10% CSA (subject
to a floor of 0% per annum) plus 3.75%. The Term Loan denominated in euros bears interest at a rate per annum
equal to EURIBOR (subject to a floor of 0% per annum} plus 4.0%. The Euro Term Loan B Facility and the Dollar
Term Loan B Facility are payable, subject to certain exemptions, on {4 March 2030.

Subsequent to the year-end, the Group entered into an interest rate swap agreement with HSBC to hedge the fair
value risk in relation to the 2030 Term Loans with the notional principal amount of $500 million. Under this
interest rate swap agreement, the Group will exchange the variable SOFR exposure for fixed-SOFR obligations.

Subsequent to year-end, the Group has compieted its transition from LIBOR to SOFR in relation to the Dollar
Term Loan B due 2027, See note 32 for further details.

Review of trading results

Revenue from continuing operations was €18,172.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
€14,932.2 million) and earnings before interest, tax, impairment, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items
and after the share of profit/(loss) of associated undertakings and joint ventures using the equity accounting
method ("EBITDA before exceptional items™) was €2,572.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 {2021:
€3,039.1 million). A reconciliation of EBITDA before exceptional items to profit before tax can be found in note
2 to the financial statements.

The Styrolution business’ revenue increased by €744.6 million, or 12.6%, to €6,634.3 million in the year ended
31 December 2022 from €5,889.7 million in the year ended 31 December 2021. A strong first half of the year
supported by high demand particularly for durables continuing the trend started during COVID was followed by
nid to low cyele levels in the second half of the year with customers de-stocking due to market uncertainty and
expectation of further price reductions. Open arbitrage from Asian products into the Americas and Europe in the
second half of 2022 softened further the demand in these regions. As a result, the overall volumes for the year
were lower compared to the prior year, also affected by the divesture of INEOS Styrolution India Limited in
November 2022. The average prices in the current year were higher than prices in the comparative year and more
than compensated for lower sales volumes. Revenues in the current year included an upfront royalty revenue of
€71 million recognised in the current year primarily in the context of the provision of ABS technology licence to
the joint-venture formed between the business and Sinopec. EBITDA before exceptionals decreased by
€431.7 million, or 36.6%, to €748.6 mitlion in the year ended 31 December 2022 from €!,180.3 million in the
year ended 31 December 2021. Softer demand combined in all regions and most product groups resulted in
reduced margins in the current year. The open arbitrage from Asian product into the Americas and Europe
impacted margins in these regions. The margin reduction came primanly from the global ABS business. A
reduction in polystyrene margins in Asia was partially offset higher polystyrene margins in Europe and Amencas



INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Review af the business (continued}

Review of trading results {conlinued)

The INEOS [novyn business’ revenue increased by €910.6 million, or 21.5%, to €5,136.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, as compared to €4,225.6 million for the same period in 2021. Total volumes were lower
than the prior year period, but absolute revenues increased due to extremely high pricing on key products.
Production and sales volumes of key products, including general purpose polyvinyl chloride (PVC), specialty
PVC and caustic soda were lower than the prior year as high inflation and the energy crisis in Europe resulted in
weaker demand in the secand half of 2022, European producers also faced more competition from US and Asian
imports. Average sales prices of general purpose and specialty PVC in Europe reached record levels in 2022 due
to higher ethylene feedstock and energy input costs. Trims to chlorine production (and hence co-produced caustic
sada production) due to high electricity prices and low PVC demand led to very tight caustic soda markets in
Europe despite a weaker demand environment, with price records being braken in each successive quarter of 2022.
The European contract price of caustic soda (as reported by Chemical Market Analytics) reached €2,407 per ton
in the fourth quarter of 2022, whilst the average annualised European contract price of caustic soda in 2022 was
194% higher than Z021. The current year aiso benefiled from significantly higher prices of caustic potash, and
chlorine derivatives such as Cereclor, chlioromethanes and epichlorchydrin. EBITDA befare exceptional items
increased by £201.6 million, or 20.7%, 10 €1,176.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, as compared 1o
€974.4 million for the same period in 2023, Business profitability in 2022 was the highest annual performance
since the formation of INEOS [novyn in 2015, despite the energy crisis in Europe and the aforementioned
reduction in sales volumes of general purpose PVC, speciaity PVC and caustic soda, This was mainly due to the
unprecedently high pricing of caustic soda, which despite the weakening demand environment in the second half
af 2022, reached record levels in Europe. The primary driver was low chlorine production rates across Europe, as
a consequence of high clectricity prices and low PVC demand. On an annualised basis. the achieved spread of
genera! purpose and specialty PVC prices over ethylene were also higher than the pror year with demand
remaining resitient in the first half of the year. However, by the second half of the year, demand and therefare
spreads had weakened considerably which forced European PVC producers to reduce plant operating rates. Sales
volume of other products such as caustic potash, chloromethanes, epichlorehydrin and sait were lower than 2021

but absoluie margins achieved increased due to healthy market conditions for most of the year.

The Acetyls business' revenue increased by £150.6 million, or 12.4%, to €1,369.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, a5 compared to €1,219.0 million for the same period in 2021, Total volumes were lower than the
prior year period, but absolute revenues increased due to higher saies prices. In Europe, volumes were down by
19% (104 kt) due to the challenging environment which has seen rising raw material prices as well as weakened
demand for both acid and anhydride as customers struggled with affordability on the back of the high gas cost.
European sales prices were up as increasing gas prices were reflected in cost plus and marker reference sales
contracts for acetic acid and anhydride. In the US, volumes were down by 23% (147 ktes) due to reduced customer
demand and an unplanned shutdown at third-party plant. US acetic acid prices increased again driven by increasing
gas prices. EBITDA before exceptional items decreased by €258.6 million, or 41.6%, to €363.4 milhion for the
year ended 31 December 2022, as compared to €622.0 million for the same period in 2021. Lower business
profitability is mainly driven by a lower share of joint-venture net profit partially offset by higher margins in the
US. Share of joint-venture net profit from the Asian joint-ventures were down as fower saies prices coupled with
higher feedstocks reduced margins significantty. Net profits of the Korean joint-venture were partially supported
by higher volumes and higher margins of Vinyl Acetate Monomer (VAM) as demand in this seclor was strong
although starting 1o soften toward the end of the year. Net profit of the Atias joint-venwre was down compared to
last year due to lower sales volumes, lower margins as a higher methanol discounts were offered and higher fixed
costs due to unplanned outages. The US was the largest contributor with 40% of customers on cost plus sales
pricing allowing the higher feedstock prices to be passed on 1o customers. Margins in Europe were lower
compared to prior year due to high energy costs, increased freight charges, significant flaring costs due 1o
reduction in production and [ower sales volumes, offsetting higher sales prices.



INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
STRATEGIC REFORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Review of the business (continued)

Review of trading resulls (continued)

The Aromatics business’ revenue increascd by €1,432.0 nullion, or 38.9%, to €5,115.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2022, as compared to €3,683.2 miiiion for the same period in 2621, Total volumes were [ower than
the prior year period, but absolute revenues increased due to higher sales prices. In Europe, high inflation and the
energy crisis weakened the demand. High production costs made European producers uncompetitive versus Asian
import volumes. The purified terephthalic acid (PTA) sales volumes in the US remained strong through the first
half of the year but then slowed significantly in the last quarter due to the combined effect of increasing volume
of Asian imports of PTA and polyethylene terephthalate (PET) and a slowdown in demand as a result of fiscal
policy. Asian volumes were at similar leve!l to the prior year The price of mixed xylenes increased significantly
during 2022 as a result of the sharp rise in gasoline prices globally. As the key raw material for paraxylene (PX)
and ultimately PTA this then drove the absolute prices of products higher throughout the year. As a reference. the
US PX price ended in December 2021 at $992/t and closed 2022 at $1,235/1. However during the year the US PX
price peaked at $2 282/, a 130% increase in price compared to the start of the year. EBITDA before exceptional
items increased by €22.0 million, or 8.4%, to €284.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022, as compared
to €262.4 million for the same peried in 2021. Business performance for the year improved versus prior year as
lower sates volume have been more than offset by higher margins and lower fixed costs. PTA margins in the US
were better than in prior year and the profitability fundamentals of the business remained strong. Margins in
Europe were heavily impacted by high energy prices and the impact of Asian prices as an alternative for customers.
The fail in energy prices in the last quarter of the year brought an improvement in margins, Margins in Asia
continued to be structurally pared back by an oversupplied PTA market. However, the export margins from Zhuhai
for international sales improved. [n addition, the business focused the sales of Zhuhai tons more towards the PET
resin market, rather than fiber, as the customers have a more reliable demand.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has total equity of €4,648.6 million (2021: €3,312.6 mullion). Net debt at 31
December 2022 was €4,861.6 million (2021: €5,348.9 million).

Key exceptional items
Net exceptional charges of €9.4 million have been recognised in 2022 (2021: €250.6 milhon).

In 2022, exceptional administrative expenses of €1.3 million were incurred by the Aromatics businesses in respect
of manpower reorganisations and €3.8 million due to cancellation of projects started under BP ownership and no
longer expected to be pursued.

In 2022, exceptional finance costs of €4.3 million were incurred in refation o the write off of unamortised debt
1ssue costs associated with the Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 and the Term Loan A Facilities due 2025 which
were repaid in full on May 31, 2022,

For further details of exceptional items, refer to note 4 of the financial statements.




INEOS QUATTRO HOGLDINGS LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3t DECEMBER 2022

Principal risks and uncertainties

The management of the business and the execution of the Group’s strategy are subject to a number of risks.
Management undertakes an annual rnisk identification and assessment process to identify the key business risks
affecting the Group. The key business risks affecting the Group which werg identified within this nisk assessment
process are set oul below:

= The petrochemical industry is cyclical — changing market demands and prices may negatively affect the
Group's operating margins and impair its cash flow which, in turn, could affect its ability to make payments
on its debt or to make further investments in the business.

+ Raw matenals and suppliers — if the Group is unable to pass on increases in raw material prices, or to retain
or replace its key suppliers, its results of operations may be negatively affected.

» Internanional operations and currency fluctuations — the Group is exposed to currency fluctuation risks as
well as to economic downtums and Jocal business risks in several different countries that could adversely
affect its profitability.

e Competition — significant competition in the Group’s industries, whether through efforts of new and current
competitars or through consolidation of existing customers, may adversely affect its competitive position,
sales and overall operations.

e [nability to maximise utilisation of assets — the Group may be adversely affected if it is unable te implement
its strategy to maximise utilisation of assets.

e Synergies — the Group may not realise anticipated revenue and cost synergies, benefit from anticipated
business opportunities or experience anticipated growth from any of its acquisitons.

s Quibreaks of disease — the outbreak of comagious diseases may have a negative impact on the Group's
business and performance, and an adverse impact on the global sconomy generally. During the course of 2021
and imto 2022, the Group has managed the outbreak of the COVID-19 cotonavirus by implementing various
measures to ensure the safety of employees and the angoing operation of the plants.

« Substantial debt — the Group’s substantial debt couid adverseiy affect its financial position and prevent it
from fulfilling its debt obligations. :

s Cyber security — a cyber incident could occur and result in information theft, data corruption, operational
disruption and/or financial loss.

+ Climate change — existing and proposed regulations to address climate change by limiting greenhouse gas
emissiONs may cause us 1o incur significant addinonal operating and capital expenses. In addition compliance
with new regulation could limit the useful economic life of our planis, lead to a reduction in demand for fossil
fuel derived products and result in a lack of competitiveness if our competitors develop new technologies.

+ Repulation — the Group is highly regutated and may have substantial obhigations and liabilities arising from
health, safety, security and environmental (“HSSE™) iaws, regulations and permits appficable to our
operations.

s Customers — the Group is subject to the risk of loss resulting from non-payment or non-performance by our
customers. Qur credit procedures and policies may not be adequalte to minimise or mifigate customer credit
risk. Qur customers may experience financial difficultics, including bankruptcies, restructurings and
hguidations.

» Employees — the success of the Group depends on the continued service of certain key personnel and on good
relations with our workforce as any signifrcant disruption could adversely affect the Group.

¢ Joint ventures — some of the Group’s petrochemical facilities are owned and operated in joint ventures with
third parties. We do not control these joint ventures, and actions taken by our joint venture partners in respect
of these joint venrures could matenially adversely affect our business.



INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Section 172(1) statement

The directors have the duty under section 172 to promote the success of the Group for the benefit of stakeholders
as a whole and remain conscious of the impact their decisions have on employees, communities, suppliers,
customers, investors and the environment. In the performance of its duty te promete the success of the Group and
faimess in decision making the Board have regard (amongst other matters) for:

a. the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

b. the interests of the Group's employees;

€. the need to foster the Group's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;

d. the impact of the Group's operations on the community and the environment;

e. the desirability of the Group maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and
f.  the need to act fairly as between members of the Group.

The Group’s governance and processes are operated to ensure that all relevant matters are considered by the Board
in its principal decision-making, as a means of contributing to the delivery of the Group’s long-term success,
which are discussed below.

Long lerm factors (a)

The Group's principal objectives are to maintain its position as a key global supplier of its products and to increase
the value of INEQS by generating strong, sustainable, and growing cash flows across industry cycles. To achigve
these objectives, the Group has the following key strategies:

Maintain health, safety, security, and environmentai excelience;

Maintain and grow the Group’s leadership positions to enhance competitiveness;
Reduce costs and realise synergies,

Maximise utilisation of assets;

Access advantaged feedstock and energy opportunities; and

Develap and implement a sustainable business.

s e an op

The Group aims to operate and develop its business in a way that supparts both the current and future needs,
taking into account relevant economic, environmental, and secial factors. This enables the Group to sustain the
business for the long term. The directors strongly believe that sustainable business management and practices will
contribute to long-term business success and will strengthen the Group’s leading position in the market and also
in a circular warld. The directors ensure that the Group has sufficient resources to support its long-term growth
strategy and to fund its investments. An important element is the Group’s long-term cash and operational planning
in relation to the capital requirements needed to grow and to extend the life span of the assets. The directors
consider available and required funds as a basis for any dividend under its distribution paolicy.

Stakeholder considerations (b — e)

Engaging stakeholders and developing meaningful partmerships is essential for long-term business success. The
Group engages in regular, open, and proactive dialogue with all relevant stakeholders as this 1s nceded o
understand their perspectives, expectations, concerns, and needs. For example in many instances suppliers are
located on the same chemical parks which helps develop partnerships, facilitate discussions as well as reduce
waste, inefficiency. The Group also works with trade unions and have open and constructive discussions as well
as investing in training proegrammes to continue ta develop employees at all [evels of the organisation. In this way,
the Group is able to integrate stakeholder’s considerations into business decision-making processes.

Dialogue-with-stakeholders -gives—the-Group- the--opportunity -to explain-its—clear-and-committed-approach-to
sustainability as well as the value of the Group’s waork, products and services for society.
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Section 172(1) statement (continued)
Stakeholder considerations (& - e} (continued)

Key stakeholders contribute 1o the Group's economic, social, and environmental performance. Stakeholders
include customers, suppliers, employees, investors, financial experts and rating agencies, local communities,
indusiry associations, NGOs, scientific institutions, universities, government, and value chain pariners. The Group
is very conscious of having a sustainable business so INEOS produces an annual sustainability report which aligns
with the Global Reporting Initiative (GR1) framework and focuses on the issues most material to the Group and
its stakeholders. The report focuses on seven key areas, being:

Climate change ~ advancing the transition to net Zero,

Circular economy - maximising resource efficiency and eliminating waste,
Zero pollution — driving progress towards sustainable chemical value chains;
Our people — prioritising workpliace heaith and safety (SHE) and faimess;
People in our value chain — safeguarding conditions and human rights;
People in our communities ~ respecting and supporting local commuuaities,
Governance - maintainintg the highest standard of ethics and compliance.

el A e

These matters are considered by the directors in making decisions and in assessing the long-term viability of the
business.

The Group is committed to maintaining a workplace that is safe, professional, and supportive of teamwork and
trust. The Group is committed to creating and sustaining a2 work environment of mutual trust where all employees
are treated with respect and dignity, compensated fairly based on local market conditions, and are entitled to
adequate working hours. The Group value diversity of its people and each of its employees is recognised as an
important member of the team.

The Group is committed to protecting and maintaining the quality of the environment and to promoting the health
and safety of its employees, contractors, suppliers, customers, visitors, and the communities in which 1t operates.
For example INEQS is a signatory to the Internatienal Council of Chemical Associations” (ICCA) Responsible
Care Global Charter which demonstrates the Company's commitment to strengthening chemicals management
systems, safeguarding people and the environment, and working towards sustainable solutions through our value
chain. Compliance with all legislation intended to protect people, property and the environment is one aof the
Company’s fundamental priorities and applies to its products as well as to its processes. Management lead by
example and allocate the required resources to achieve excellence in SHE performance.

The need to act fairly as between members of the Group (f}

The Group has a single shareholder and a singie ulumate conwrolling party. Their interests are taken into accoum
by the directors to promote faimess in decision making,

Principal decisions

Each of the Group’s four businesses made a number of principal decisions in the year ended 31 December 2022,

including:

* the repayment of the Term Loans A facilities ahead of their terms;

e investment in capital and suslainability projects such as a project te fuel switch to hydrogen at the Hull site in
the United Kingdom, the development of a newly hydrogen business and the launch of Project Circle to treat
PVC from various post-consumer waste streams that are difficult to recycie mechanically in INEOS Inovyn,
the development of a pilot plant to develop [nfinia, a technology which wiil enabie currently unrecyclabie PET
plastic waste ta be transformed back into new, virgin-quality feedstocks; and

e Signature of an agreement with Sinopec to reshape the Group production and technology of ABS in China and
build a total of t,800 ktpa of new capacities through three joint-ventures to meet the rapidly growing local
demand.
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Section 172(1) statement

The directors have the duty under section 172 to promote the success of the Group far the benefit of stakeholders
as a whole and remain conscious of the impact their decisions have on employees, communities, suppliers,
customers, investors and the environment. In the performance of its duty to promote the success of the Group and
fairness in decision making the Board have regard (amongst other matters) for:

the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

the interests of the Group's employees;

the need to foster the Group's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;

the impact of the Group's operations on the community and the environment;

the desirability of the Group maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and
the need to act fairly as between mernbers of the Group.

e oo o

The Group’s governance and processes are operated to ensure that all relevant matters are considered by the Board
in its principal decision-making, as a means of contributing te the delivery of the Group’s long-term success,
which are discussed below.

Long term factors (a)

The Group's principal objectives are to maintain its position as a key global supplier of its products and 1o increase
the value of INEOS by generating strong, sustainable, and growing cash flows across industry cycles. To achieve
these objectives, the Group has the following key strategies:

Maintain health, safety, security, and environmental excellence;

Maintain and grow the Group's leadership positions (o enhance competitiveness;
Reduce costs and realise synergies;

Maximise utilisation of assets;

Access advantaged feedstock and energy opportunities: and

" e a0 o

Develop and implement a sustainable business.

The Group aims to operate and develop its business in a way that supports both the current and future needs,
taking into account relevant economic, environmental, and social factors. This enables the Group to sustain the
business for the long term. The directors strongly believe that sustainable business management and practices will
contribute to long-term business success and will strengthen the Group’s leading position in the market and aiso
in a circular world. The directors ensure that the Group has sufficient resources to support its long-term growth
strategy and to fund its investmenis. An imporiant element is the Group’s long-term cash and operational planning
in relation te the capital requirements needed to grow and to extend the life span of the assets. The directors
consider available and required funds as a basis for any dividend under its distribution policy.

Stakeholder considerations (b - e)

Engaging stakeholders and developing meaningful partnerships is essential for long-term business success. The
Group engages in regular, open, and proactive dialogue with ail relevant stakeholders as this is needed to
understand their perspectives, expectations, concerns, and needs. For example in many instances suppliers are
located on the same chemical parks which helps develop partnerships, facilitate discussions as well as reduce
waste, ingfficiency. The Group also works with trade unions and have open and constructive discussions as well
as investing in training programmes to continue to develop employees at all levels of the organisation. In this way,
the Group is able (o integrate stakeholder’s consideraticns into business decision-making processes.

Dialoguc-with-stakcholders-gives-the-Group - the..opportunity -to explamn-its_clear-and-committed-approach-to
sustainability as well as the value of the Group’s work, products and services for society.
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Section 172(1) statement (continued)
Stakeholder considerations (b — e) (continued)

Key stakeholders contribute to the Group’s economic, social, and environmental performance. Stakeholders
include customers, suppliers, employees, investors, financial experts and rating agencies, local communities,
mdustry associations, NGOs, scientific institulions, upiversities, government, and value chain panners. The Group
is very conscious of having a sustainable business so INEOS produces an annual sustainability report which ahigns
with the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) framework and focuses on the issues most material to the Group and
its stakeholders. The report focuses on seven key areas, being:

Climate change — advancing the transition to net zero,

Circular economy ~ maximising resource efficiency and eliminating waste;
Zero pollution — driving progress towards sustainable chemical value chains;
Qur people — prioritising workplace heaith and safety (SHE) and faimess;
Peopte in our value chain — safeguarding conditions and human rights;
Peaple in our communities ~ respecting and supporting local communities;
Governance — maintaining the highest standard of ethics and compliance.

N s~

These matters are considered by the directors in making decisions and in assessing the long-term viability of the
business.

The Group is commitied to maintaining a workplace that is safe, professional, and supportive of teamwork and
trust. The Group is committed to creating and sustaining a work environment of mutual trust where afi employees
are treated with respect and dignity, compensated fairly based on local market conditions, and are entitled to
adequate working hours. The Group value diversity of its people and each of its employees is recognised as an
important member of the team.

The Group is committed to protecting and maintaining the quality of the environment and to promoting the health
and safety of its employees, contractors, suppliers, customers, visitors, and the communities in which it operates.
For example INEOS is a signatory 1o the International Council of Chemical Associations’ (ICCA) Responsible
Care Global Charter which demonstrates the Company's commitment to strengthening chemicals management
systems, safeguarding people and the environment, and working towards sustainable solutions through our value
chain. Compliance with all legislation intended to protect people, property and the environment 15 one of the
Company’s fundamental prionties and applies 1o its products as well as to its processes. Management fead by
example and alfocate the required resources to achieve excelience in SHE performance.

The need to act fairly as between members of the Group (f?

The Group has a single shareholder and a single ultimate controlling party. Their interests are taken into account
by the directors to promote faimess in decision making.

Principal decisions

Each of the Group's four businesses made a number of principal decisions in the year ended 31 December 2022,

including:

« the repayment of the Term Loans A facifities ahead of their terms;

s investment in capital and susfainability projects such as a project to fuet switch o hydrogen at the Hull site in
the United Kingdom, the develepment of a newly hydrogen business and the launch of Project Circle to treat
PVC from various post-consumet waste streams that are difficult to recycle mechanically in INEQS Inovyn,
the development of a pilot plant to develop Infinia, atechnology which will enabie currently unrecyclable PET
plastic waste to be transformed back into new, virgin-quality feedstocks; and

e Signature of an agreement with Sinopec ta reshape the Group production and technelogy of ABS in China and
build a total of 1,800 ktpa of new capacities through three joint-ventures to meet the rapidly growing local
demand.
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Section 172(1) statement {continued)

Principal decisions (continued)

The principal decisions are defined to be decisions taken in the Group that are of a strategic nature and significant
to any of the Group’s key stakeholder groups. The Directors have engaged with key shareholder and stakeholder
groups through a variety of means and stakeholder interests were considered in decision-making-

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

The Group is classified as a large unquoted group due to its size and shareholding structure. Disclosures under
the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting requirements for the Group are contained in the Streamlined Energy
and Carbon Reporting in the Strategic Report of the consolidated financial statements of INEOS Industries
Limited, an intermediate parent undertaking. This reporting covers the Group’s UK operations. The consolidated
financial statements of INEOS Industries Limited are available to the public and may be obtained from the
Company Secretary at Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, SO43 7FG, United Kingdom.

Key performance indicators

The Group uses a number of financial and non-financial key performance indicators (“KPIs”) to measure
performance, which are monitored against budget and the prior year.

The main financial KPI for the business is earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation and
exceptional items (“EBITDA before exceptional items"). EBITDA before exceptional items for the Group for the
year ending 31 December 2022 was €2,572.4 million {2021: €3,039.1 millicn). The Group also closely monitors
fixed costs against budget and prior year as well as working capital ratios.

The Group uses a number of other non-financial key performance indicators to measure performance including
health, safety and environmental (“SHE") metrics such as Occupational Safety and Health Administration
(“OSHA™) incident and injury rates to measure the safe working of employees and contractors. Other KPI includes
monitoring the reliability of operating assets.

Strategic future developments

The Group’s corporate strategy is to continue growing profitability and cash flows by optimising the cost base of
the businesses, increasing the focus on high margin products and further product diversification, leveraging
existing resources to expand sales and keeping the overall management structure of the Group simple and
decentralised. The Group has an expension strategy in China to increase its ABS production capacities through
the set-up of two additional joint-ventures with Sinopec, following the first joint-venture completed in December
2022 (see note 3).

The Group will continue to pursue its sustainability agenda and has committed to reducing its carbon emissions
by 33%, (compared to 2019 levels) by 2030 and be Net Zero by 2050 in line with EU policy. The sustainability
strategy of the Group is described in the sustainability section in the Directors’ Report.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

W Leask
Director
14 April 2023
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements of INEOS Quattro Holdings
Limited (the “Company™) and its subsidiary undertakings {(iogether the “Group™) for the year ended 31 December
2022

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of a range of chemicals used in a variety of
applications. The principal activity of the Company is to act as a holding company.

Dividends

Interim dividends of €521.0 miliion were declared and paid duning the year (2021: €393.3 million). Final
dividends of €500.9 million (2021: €nil} were declared on 23 January 2023. This dividend distribution did not
constitute any cash outflow for the Group as this was used to settle the amount owed by the Group’s immediate
parent in form of an inter-company loan.

Future developments

Future developments are discussed in the Strategic Report.

Covid-19 and the Ukraine conflict

The Group continues to implement contingency plans for the COVID-19 pandemic, with the primary objective of
maintaining the safety of personnel and the reliable operation of the Group’s plants.

The chemical industry is deemed as essential, critical infrastructure by governments across the world. Throughout
the pandemic all of the Group's plants have continued to operate fuily and supply chains have operated without
significant disruption. Protecting employees and ensuring that they remain healthy has been the first priority of
the Group. All plants have sufficient resources and have implemented measures to ensure that this remains the
case throughout the pandemic.

The Group does not have operations in Belarus, Russia or Ukraine. During 2021 and 2022 revenue generated in
these countries was not material to the Group. The Group is not currently experiencing any material disruption to
its operations and do not foresee any direct impact as a result of the conflict, but will continue to monitor the
evolving situation closely.

Whilst there is still uncertainty due to the COVID-19 pandemtic and the disruption on the energy market resulting
from the conflict in Ukraine, the Directors have undertaken a rigorous assessment of the potential impact on
demand for the Group’s products and services and the impact on margins for the next 12 maonths and the Directors
do not expect a material impact on the Group's ability to operate as a going concemn.

Going concern

The Group financial statements have been prepared on a going concem basis and approved by the Board of
Directors in accordance with United Kingdon adopted international accounting standards.

The Group meets its day to day working capital requirements through its intercompany loan and external financing
facilities, along with cash genecraied by its subsidiaries’ operations. The Group held cash balances of €1,530.1
million at 31 December 2022 {2021: €!,291.3 million) and gross loans and borrowings of €6,391.7 million at 31
December 2022 (2021 €6.640.2 million) of which €20.6 million is due to be repaid within | 2 menths. The Group
has no significant financial covenants. The Directors have considered the Group's projected future cash flows and
working capital requiremeats and are cenfident that the Group has sufficient cashflows to meet its working capital
requirements for the nexi twelve months from the date of signing the financial statements,
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Going concern (continued)

In particular, the Directors have stress tested the forecasts through taking account of reasonable possibte changes
in trading performance on the impact on EBITDA before exceptional items, cash flow and debt. The stress tests
show that the Group will still have sufficient cash flow to meer all of its abligatians as they fall due within the
next 12 moaths from the date of signing the financial statements.

On the basis of this assessment together with net assets of €4,648.6 million as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
€3,312.6 million) and the Group’s ability to meet working capital requirements through its extemal firancing
facilities, along with access to cash generated by its subsidiaries, the Directors have concluded that the Group can
operate within its current facilities without the need to obtain new ones for a period of at least 12 months from the
date of this report and have therefore prepared these financial siatements on a going concern basis in accordance
with the Companies Act 2006 and applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom.

Research and development

The Group’s research and development team develops new applications for its higher margin and less cyclical
specialiy chemicals, provides support to the Group’s customers and seeks to improve the efficiency of the Group’s
manufacturing processes. The research and development team also leads the Group’s efforts with respect ta the
development and capacity expansions of the plants and maintaining and improving safety and environmental
standards. The Group spent approximately €33.9 million (2021: €43.7 million) on research and development
during the year, of which €32.7 million (2021: €42.6 million) was expensed to the income statement.

Directors’ indemnities

The company has made qualifying third party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its directors which were
made during the year and remain in force at the date of this report.

Donations

The Group made no political contributions (2021: €nil).

Financial risks

The Group’s operations expose it 1o a variety of financial risks that include the effects of changes in price nsk,
credit cisk, currency fluctuation risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group has in place a risk management
programme that sceks to limit the adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group where appropriate.
The Group’s approach to managing liguidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its hiabilities when due, under normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage 10 the Group  The Group generally does not enter into foreign currency exchange
instruments to hedge foreign currency transaction exposure, although the Group may do so in the future. The
Group benefits from natural hedging, to the extent that currencies i which net cash flows are generated from the
Group's operations, are matched against long-term indebtedness

The Group is exposed to commodity price nisk as a result of its operations. However, given the size of the Group’s
operations, the cost of managing exposure to such risk exceeds any potential benefits. The Group manages its
credit exposures with a set of policies for ongoing credit checks on potential and current customers or
counterparties.

The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to its term loan borrowings
upon which interest is paid at variable rates and its cash resources which are invested at variable rates. The policy
to manage this exposure is continually reviewed and adapted depending on market condition. As an example,
subsequent to the year-end, the Group entered into an interest rate swap agreement to exchange a portion of its
variable SOFR exposure for fixed-SOFR obhigations.
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Directors

The directors who held office during the year, and up to the date of signing the financial statements, were as
follows:

G W Leask
I F Ginns
M ] Maher (resigned 7 December 2022)

Employees

The Group places considerabie importance on communication with employees. This is Lo ensure that employees
at all levels of the organisation are kept aware of key business developments, and in particular financiai
performance, so as to focus atention on key performance metrics. Town Hall sessions, in person in 2022 and
virtual in 2021, are held at various points in the year that are hosted by members of the Executive Committee,
regional leadership teams and site management, Business news items are also communicated in local language to
the organisation either via cascade or direct to individuals via emaif, Builetin Boards and Intranet facilities. Work
groups in the manufacturing areas have daily “wolbox tatks™ that cover Safety, Health and the Environment
("SHE”), critical operational items for the day and business developments. The Group undertakes employce
surveys on a regular basis and there are action plans in place to address issues ansing.

INEQOS is commitied to an environment where open, honest communications are the expectation, not the
exception. There is encouragement to discuss issues with line managers or other managers. In addition, there is
an “INEOS Speak Up!” service for those employees wishing to report more serious unethical or improper
behaviour. The Group has regard to employees’ interests and take employee views into account when making
decisions.

The Group operates in full accordance with prevailing employment legislation including information and
consultation with employees and their representatives on matters affecting their interests. Outside of any necessary
formal consultation process, there are regular briefings between the Company and the Works Councils/Trade
Union bodies in each region.

The Group facilitates a number of schemes designed to encourage employees to dehiver key business targets. This
includes a discretionary Short-Term Incentive Plan and a Long-Term Incentive Plan, both of which are designed
to focus atlention on key areas of perforance such as SHE, EBITDA before exceptionals, working capital, plant
reliability and fixed costs.

It is the Group's practice to give full and fasr consideration to applications for employment rcceived from disabled
persons, subject to the Group’s requirements and to the qualifications, ability and aptitude of the individual in
each case. In the event of employees becoming disabled, every effort is made lo ensure their continued
employment with the Group and to provide suitable adjustments to the workplace where appropriate.

The Group continually strives to meet, and where possible, exceed all relevant legal requirements applying to
safety, health and the environment. It is committed to continuous improvement in all aspects of its operations.
Through its Safety, Health, Environment and Quality ("SHEQ"} Policy, the Group aims to be amongst the
chemical industry leaders in heaith, safety, environmental protection and customer satisfaction, ensuring that
praducts meet society's increasing eavironmental requiremnents. Specifically the Group works to two guiding
principles. The first being to protect the health and safety of its employees, the communities in which it operates;
and the users of its products. Secondly, the Group seeks 10 minimise the effects on the environment from its
operations, storage; iransport; use and disposal of jts products. The Group manages SHE as an integral part of its
activities through a formal management system that sets clear SHE standards/targets and monitors performance
against them. [t requires all members of staff {and others who work on its behalif) to adhere to the standard in the
SHE Management System and to exercise personal responsibility 1o prevent harm to themselves, others and the
environment. Comprehensive SHE information and training is provided to all employees, with SHE objectives
set far every individual each year through the performance appraisal process. SHE targets also feature n the
Group's discretionary Business Bonus Scheme. Apprapriate SHE information and training 15 also provides to
other who work for the Group. handlie its products or operate its technologies. The Group afso participates in
industry wide responsibfe care and sustainable development activities.
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Health and safety

The Group’s facilities and operations are subject to a wide range of health, safety, security and enviranmenial
(“HSSE") laws and regulations tn all of the jurisdictions in which tt operates. These requirements govern, among
other things, the manufaciure, storage, handling, trcatment, transportation and disposal of hazardous substances
and wastes, wastewater discharges, air emissions (including GHG emissions), noise emissions, human health and
safety, precess safety and risk management and the clean-up of contaminated sites. Many of the Group’s
operations require permits and controls to monitor or prevent pollution. The Group has incurred, and will continue
to incur, substantial ongoing capital and operating expenditures ta ensure compliance with current and future
HSSE laws, regulations and permits or the more stringent enforcement of such requirements.

The Group’s operations are currently in material compliance with all HSSE laws, regulations and permits. The
Group actively addresses compliance issues in connection with its operations and properties and believe that it
has systems in place to ensure that environmental costs and liabilities will not have a material adverse impact on
the Group.

Sustainability

Improving the sustainability of our business and operations is central to the way INEOS work. It is of ¢ritical
importance to its employees, to its partners and customers, 10 the communities in which it operate, and to its
investors.

INEOS sustainability strategy is to develop and safely manufacture the producis needed to address the evolving
challenges of climate change, public health, resource scarcity, urbanisation and waste in a way which drives us
all towards a net zera emissions economy by 2050. TNEOS will do so whilst reducing the impact of its operations.
It is built on six key pillars:

Excellence in Safety Health & the Environment (SHE)

Climate change - delivery of a net zero business

Circualar Economy — maximising the re-use and recycie of our products

People — ensuring an equal opportunity environment in which a diverse team of people can flourish and
deliver the innovations we need

5. Communities and the Natural Environment — enhance the communities in which we operate

6. Governance — rigorously sustaining the highest standards oof ethics and compliance

hatball & e

The efforts on sustainability, inciuding targets, reporting of Green House Gas (GHG) and other emissions, of
energy and water usage, and of waste generation, are published in our INEOS wide 2022 Sustainability Report
(https://www.ineos com/sustainability/sustainability-reports), which ts aligned with the framework described in
the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). and UN sustainable development goals. Two key prionties, Climate Change
and the Circular Economy, are summarised befow.

Climate Change

Following the Paris Climate Agreement of 2015, most nation states have recognised the threat posed by chmate
change and have set the goal to achieve a net zero emission economy by 2050 and are adopting regulations and
legislation to support this objective,

In response, INEQS implemented management of the risks posed by climate change to each of its businesses
and the potential new business opportunities and threats arising from the transition. The assessments will be
regularly updated in the context of three the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) climate change
scenarios in which temperature rise compared to the pre-industrial period is limited to 2 C or less, 2-4.5 C and 5-
8.5 C respectively (https://fwww_ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg3/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGII!_Chapter03.pdf).
An INEQS-wide target has been set 10 achieve 33% reduction in GHG emissions by 2030 (compared to 2019)
_and net zero emissions by 2050, In line with this, INEOQS_Quattro businesses.-have-each-developed a-roadmap—-

" which outlines plans and key actions required to deliver the 2030 target of 33% reduction. INEQS wide, the

company has earmarked over €6 billon capital investment to support the delivery of targets.
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Sustainability (continued)
Actions include the foilowing:
Continuous improvemen! of energy and process efficiency

INEQS is warking aggressively across all its business and sites to make impartant reductions in energy use and
associated GHG emissions. Optimisation projects vary widely. from finding new ways of improving process
efficiency to innovative solutions for heat or power integration, including waste heat valorisatiens.

The INEOS Tnovyn business has a salt plant upgrade project in Tavaux, France which utilises best-in-class
mechanical vapour recompression unit technofogy. The project is expected to be compicted in 2024 and wili
reduce stearn consumption by 360 kilo tonnes per annum which is equivalent to reducing the Tavaux site's
footprint by 16%. Water consumption will also be reduced by 6%. The North Star project in Norway was
commissioned in 2020 and consisted of major debottlenecking activities across both the electrochemical and
VCM assets. This project has reduced steam consumption by 80 kilo tonnes annually.

The Aromatics business’ PTA technology allowed the latest PTA plant in Zhuhai to reduce GHG emissions by
65%, water discharge by 75% and solid waste disposal by 95% compared to conventional technologies.

The Acetyls business is continting to roil out its retrofit of world leading CATIVA XL acetic acid production
technology to its global assets. This technology package allows Acetyls plaats to produce acid with 80% less heat
input and 50% less electricity than generic technology. As part of this TNEOS” innovative High Pressure Offgas
Reinjection technology has now been rolled out to all applicable plants. This recycles carbon that was previously
incinerated and re-injects it into the process where it is instead captured and reacted into product, reducing GHG
emissions and reducing natural gas usage.

Investiment in green hydrogen and blue hydrogen for use as a fuel on sites and as a feedstock

The Aceryls business is undertaking a project to fuel switch to hydrogen at Hull site, the United Kingdom.
The site has a large demand for heat that can only be met by buming fuet. Currently, this is done with natural
gas, resulting in over 350,000 tonnes of CQ; being emitted every year. The project will enable Hull assets
to switch to using its own clean hydrogen instead of natural gas. Burming hydrogen wiil not release any COa,
decarbonising the site. This fuel switching will reduce scope | emissions by about 80%, which is the
equivalent of taking about 140,000 petrol cars off the road. The business will create a centre of expertise in
hydrogen fuel switching, allowing further work to decarbonise Acetyls’ global assets. Thus fuel switch
project is also part of a wider roadmap for the Hull site which will see it become the world’s first net-zero
acelic acid production site by 2030.

The INEOS Inovyn business intends to build a new 20MW electrolyser to produce clean hydrogen through
the electrolysis of water. powered by zero-carbon electricity in Norway. This project will lead to 2 minimum
reduction of an estimated 22,000 tonnes of CQO; per year by reducing the carbon footpriat of INEOS’
operations at Rafnes and serving as a hub to provide hydrogen to the Norwegian transport sector. The
busincss is also carrying out a feasibility study to make green hydrogen for use at the Koln site and are
parucipating with parthers in Antwerp to develop an open access hydrogen network.

Additionally, INEOS [novyn has deveioped a newly formed hydrogen business for use in feedstocks, luels
and transportation, heating and power generation.

Increased purchase of renewable energy to subsiitute for fossif derived energy of renewable energy

Acrass the whole INEOS Group, power purchase agreemenis for about 570 MW renewable energy have aiready
been signed to reduce the dependence on fossil-based energy sources.
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Sustainability (continued)
Use of bio-based feedstocks to reduce dependency on fossii-based materials and deliver bio-based products

The Styrolution business offers the integration of rencwable feedstock as a replacement for fossil fuel in upstream
exasting petrochemical installations. In 2020, it launched the world’s first specialty styrenics materials made using
renewable feedsiock within the value chain. The renewable feedstock sources are certified by the Intemational
Sustainability and Carbon Certification to assess that they are managed and attributed in accordance with their
sustainability criteria.

The INEOS [novyn business is developing certified bio-attributed vinyl resins (Biovyn®) as weil as bio-
based epichlorohydrin {Reodrin®) used for the manufacture of epoxy resins. These products, whilst still
relatively niche, can provide almost carbon neutral products providing up to 90% of GHG savings when
compared with conventional materials and volumes are expected to grow in the coming years,

Product and the circular economy

INEOS believes that its products already make a critical contribution to society by providing the most sustainable
options for a wide range of societal needs. Examples include preservation of food and clean water; provision of
wind turbines, solar panels and other renewable technologies, construction of lighter and more efficient vehicles
and aircraft, production of medical devices and applications, manufacture of clothing and apparel, materials for
insulation and other industrial and home applications. Studies suggest that if polymers and plastics were to be
replaced to the maximum extent in applications where they can be substituted, overall life-cycle greenhouse gas

(GHG) gmissions would increase by more than 50% (https://denkstatt.eu/download/] 3971/).

However, it is generally accepted that a move towards a more circular economy, in which materials are reused
and recycled to their maximum extent, is an important component of a more sustainable climate neutral economy.
In certain regions, for example Europe and the UK, legislation is under development to incentivize recycling of
materials, especially for packaging products. The Group has therefore commuited to achieving the following
INEOS-wide targets by 2025.

»  Ofter a range of polyolefin products for packaging applications in Europe containing 50% or more
recycled content.

* Incorporate at least 325 kia of recycled material into products.
«  Ensure 100% of our polymer products can be recycled.

In addition, a new INEOS wide target to incorporate 825 kt of recycled or bio-sourced material into INEOS
products by 2030.

In line with these objectives, in 2019, the Styrolution business introduced INEOS Styrolution ECO, a new family
of sustainable products. It comprises products made from post-consumer recycled material as well as renewable
feedstock and complements the existing portfoho of styrenics standard preducts and specialties, The Styrolution
business has demenstrated the advanced recycling capabilities of polystyrene with the first production of
polystyrene from styrene monomer made only of depolymerised material. This technology facilitates a full
recycling loop for plastics, which is expected to be applicable even to food applications. Through a partnership
with Indaver, a leading European waste management company, the business will benefit from their demo-plant
for advanced recycling, where polystyrene waste will be recycled to purified styrene. Based in Antwerp, this
demo-installation is expected to be operational in 2024.

For ABS standard, the Styrolution business has developed mechanically recycled grades containing 50% ar 70%
comprising post-consumer recycled material that are commercially available today. These products meet the

performance and quality levels of virgin materials. It has alsc established co-operations to secure high quality
waste for polystyrene and ABS feedstock.
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Sustainability (continued)

The Styrolution business is also leading a consortium to advance the production of ABS from recycled feedstock
through a project called “ABSolutely Circular”. The project was accepted by the EU LIFE programme, the
European Union funding instrument for the environment and resource efficiency and received funding.

INEOS lnovyn continues to have a pivotal role in the European-wide VinylPlus® voluntary industry initiative
which commits to 900 and 1,000 kilo tonnes of PVC recycling across Europe by 2025 and 2030, respectively.

INEOS Tnovyn has also launched Project Circle which aims to treat PVC from various post-consumer waste
streams that are difficult, if not impossible to recycle mechanically. These technologies will enable waste
polymers containing PVC-rich waste to be to be broken down to their constituent components and then reformed
back into palymers. This will enable a much wider range of waste materials to be re-incorporated into polymer
manufacturing, reduce GHG emissions and provide an improved outlet for waste polymers. We are also working
with partners to implement new technologies to enable easier sorting of end-of-1ife pelymers.

The Aromatics business has developed Infinia, a technoiogy which wiil enable currently unrecyclable PET plastic
waste — such as black food trays and coloured bottles — to be diverted from landfill or incineranon and instead
transformed back into new, virgin-quality feedstocks. The new feedstocks are interchangeable with those made
from traditiona! hydrocarbon sources and can be used to make new PET packaging that can be recycled again and
again.

Infinia is complementary to mechanical recycling, dealing with PET waste that is currently difficult or impossible
10 process using mechanical methods. A new pilot plant, located in Napervilie, [llinois, has been commissioned
to prove the technology on a continuous basis. If depioyed at scale in several facilities the technology has the
potential to prevent billions of PET bottles and trays from ending up in landfil} or incineration every year.

Sustainability gevernarnce

The Chief Executive of each of the four businesses of the Group is accountable for development of a strategy and
plans 1o ensure that the byusiness remains sustainable in the longer term. The strategy is reviewed annually with
the shareholders. Each business sets targets annually based on its business plan. Progress against targets is reported
and reviewed at Executive Committee (EXC(Q) meetings with the shargholders at least six times per year.

In addition to the above, Business Divisions are subject to INEOS wide targets set by the Shareholders for Safety,
Health & Environment, Green House Gas reductions, and. for the Polymers businesses, recycling argets.

In addition to formal gevemance processes, INEOS operates a Chmate and Energy Network (CEN) which helps
ensure coordination across all INEOS businesses on carbon, energy and resource matters. Cross business CEN
teams share information and best practice on policy, advocacy, extemmal developments, new business opportunities
and mnovation. The network aiso assembles data from the different businesses to provide business and INEQS
wide views on GHG emissions, energy usage, water usage, and waste. The network has more than |,000 active
members across all businesses
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Sustainability (continued)

Summary of risks

Management has in plare a number of actions t miligate against chmate and climate retated risks, as well as other
risks associated with developing legisiation on sustainability and reporting. A summary of responses to key risks is summarised
below.

PERCEIVED RISKS ACTIONS
Transition to net zero risks

1. Management has committed to net zero and intermediate targets based on
practical business roadmaps which contain actions to reduce GHG emissions
whilst sustaining business profitability.

2. Management has identified new business apportunities, e.g. green and blue -
hydrogen, btobased products and recycled products.

3. Management is investing in technologies for new products such as recycled
products and bio-based products to meet growing consumer demand for these
lower carbon materials.

4. Management is acquiring more renewable energy and is investing in new
assets, technologies, and infrastructure to reduce the carbon footprint of its
products in line with evolving customer and consumer demands.

Poli d Legal transition risk i . . .
oney and hega sition fisks 1.  Management monitors evolving government policies and regulations, both

independently and through its membership of industry associations, to ensure
that plans and actions stay ahead of developing legislation

2.  Management has in place strict policies on ethical and legislative maners, and
has implemented the appropriate governance and training mechanisms to
ensure full compliance.

Market trapsition risks ¢.g. changing
consumer trends  resulting  tn
products and services becoming
obsolete

I.  Management believes that its current chermical and polymer pontfolio
provides products which are essentizl 1o support the transition to a net zero
economy by providing the most sustainable options for 2 wide number of
industrial and consumer applications.

2. Management has set business wide targets consistent with legislation
intended to drive the development of 2 circutar economy.

3.  Management is investing in technologies for new products such as recycled
products and bic-based products to meet growing consurner demand for these
materials.

4, Management has a policy for sustainable procurement to ensure that i
acquires feedstocks and other materials of increasingly lower carbon
footprint,

5. Management is acquiring more renewable energy and is investing in new
assets, technologies, and infrastructure to reduce the carbon footprint of its
ptoducts in line with evolving customer and consumer demands.

Financing risks . R .
g I Management has committed to net zero and intermediate targets based on

practical business roadmaps which combine GHG emissions reduction with
sustainment of business profitability and addition of new business
opportunitics, €.g. green and blue hydrogen, biobased products and recycle
products.

2. Management has incorporated the forward cost of carbon in Europe and
potentially elsewhere into its capital investrent decision making.

3. Management aspircs 1o 2ero accidents in the workplace and has in place the
policies targets, controls and audit systems to cnsure the highest possible
standards with regards to safety and the environment.

4. Management has significantly increased public disclosure on ESG issues,
including provision of a detailed and public sustainability report, and has
artained favourable ESG assessments from ECOVADIS relative to peers.

. e m e el -5 ——INEQS-is-a-recognised respondentto CDP,




INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
DIRECTORS' REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Sustainability (continued)

Summary of risks (continued)
PERCEIVED RISKS

ACTIONS

Acute physical risks e.g. exweme
weather gvents causing damage to
equipment and supply chain
disruption

|, Management is assessing rsks to operarions against three IPCC developed
climate change scenarios — high, intermediate and low temperature rises.

2. Management has ensured that equipment and plant 15 designed to withstand
exreme weather conditions as currently expected, and will continue to do so
w the future.

3. Management has developed multiple feedstock and sales options to provide
resilience to supply chain disrupsions.

Reputation  transition  risks  e.g.
damage to reputation thraugh failure
to transition effectively to a lower-
carbon economy

1. Management has announced the target io achieve net zero and 1s developing
intermediate targets based on practical business roadmaps which contain
actions to reduce GHG emissions and stay ahead of evolving regulations.

2. Management aspires to zero accidents in the workplace and has in place the
policies targets, controls and audit systems to ensure the highest possible
standards with regards to safety and the environment.

3. Management has significantly increased public communication and
disclasure on targets, progress against targets, and ESG issues, including
provision of a detailed and public sustainability report

4  Management has established strong links with communities around INEOS
sites 10 communicate plans and progress against objectives and invite
feedback.

5. Management has submiticd the business to detailed ESG asscssments from
ECOVADIS and received gold rating for the breadth of INEOS companies.

6. [NEOS is a recognised respondent o CDP.

Business relationships

The business relationships with suppliers and customers are of strategic importance to the Direciors of the Group
and their decision-making process. The business relationships of the Group are described in the Section 172(1)
statement in the Strategic Report.

Branches outside the United Kingdom

Branches of the Group have been established in Austria, Belgium, Chma, France, Germany, [taly, Japan,
Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain and Sweden.

Subsequent events

On 23 January 2023, the Group has declared a dividend payment to its owners of €500.9 million. The dividend
has been used to settled the loan (principal plus inerest) owed by INEOS Industries Holdings Limited to INEOS
Quattro Holdings Limited; hence did not resulted in any cash outflow.

On 14 March 2023, the Group entered into an Incremental Facility Agreement to raise a new Dollar Term Loan
B of $500.0 million (€471.6 million equivalent) and a new Eure Term Loan B of €375.0 milhon. The gross
proceeds recesved under these borrowings were used on 15 March 2023 10 pay an interim dividend 1o the Group's
immediate parent company of €300.0 million with the remaining proceeds used to increase the liquidity of the
Group.

Subsequent to the year-end, the Group entered into a nterest swap agreement with HSBC. Under this swap
agreement, the Group will exchange variable interest for fixed rate for a portion of debt equal te $500 million.

Subsecquent to year-end, the Group has completed its transition from LIBOR to SOFR in relation 1o the Dollar
Term Loan B due 2027. See note 32 for further details.
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements 1n accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company law roquires the diculurs Lo prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom adopted
international accounting standards. The directors have chasen to prepare the parent company financial statements
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting
Standards and applicable law), including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”. Under company law the
directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period.

In preparing the parent company financial statements, the directors are required to:
« select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
= make judgments and accounting estimates that arc reasonable and prudent;

e state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any matenial
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

= prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business,

In preparing the group financial statements, International Accounting Standard | requires that directors:
s properly select and apply accounting policies;

* present -information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information;

» provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in international
accounting standards are insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions,
other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial performance; and

* make an asscssment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concem.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and expiain the
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements compty with the Companies Act 2006. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for 1aking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included
on the company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from Iegisfation in other jurisdictions.

Statement of disclosure of infermation to auditors

The directors confirm that as far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s
auditors are unaware and that they have taken all steps necessary as directors in order to make themselves aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information. This
confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provision of s418 of the Companies Act
2006.
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Independent auditors

In accordance with Section 485 of the Companies Act 2005, a resolution is to be proposed at the Annual General
Meeting for reappeintment of Deloitte LLP as auditor of the Company.

Registered address

INEQS Quattro Holdings Limited
Hawkslease

Chape! Lane

L yndhurst

Hampshire

S043 7FG

United Kingdom

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

G W Leask
Director
14 April 2023
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS
LIMITED

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion:

s the financial statements of INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited {the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries
(the *Group’) give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent company’s affairs as at
31 December 2022 and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended;

s The Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted
intermational accounting standards,

s  The parent company financial statements have been propetly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure
Framework”; and

=  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

e the consolidated incomne statement;

» the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

e the consolidated and parent company balance sheets,

s the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity;
= the consolidated cash flow swatement; and

«  the related notes 1 to 32 and parent company related notes 1-14.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is
applicable law and United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure
Framework” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (LiK)) and applicable
law. Qur responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the parent company 1n accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the
‘FRC’s”) Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibihties in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Counclusions relating te going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use af the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainnes relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group's and parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of al least twelve months from when the financial statements
are authonsed for issue.

Qur responsibilities and the responsibiliues of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevan( sections of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS
LIMITED

Other infarmation

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are respunsible for the other information contained within the
annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or ocur knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required o determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial
statements themselves. I, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial staternents and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the parent
company’s ability to continue as a geing concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concem basis of accounting unless the dicectors either intend to liquidate the Graup or the parent
company or to cease operations, or have no realistic altermative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objectives are 1o obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high levet of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducied in accordance
with 1SAs (LUK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatemnents can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is tocated on the FRC’s website
at: www. fre.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures
in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities,
including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is
detailed below.

We considered the nature of the Group's industry and its control environment, and reviewed the Group's
documentation of their policies and procedures relating Lo fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We
also enquired of management and the directors about their own identification and assessment of the risks of
irregularities, including those that are specific to the Group’s business seclor.
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LIMITED

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud (continued)

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the Group operates in, and identified

the key laws and regulations that:

*  had a direct effect on the delermination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
These included UK Companies Act, pensions legisiation, tax legisiation, IFRS and FRS 161, as well as laws
and regulations prevailing in each country in which we identified a full-scope component and

= do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but comphiance with which may be fundamental to
the Group's ability to operate or to avoid a matenal penalty. These included the Group’s operating licences
and envirenmental regulations.

We discussed among the audit engagement team including significant component audit teams and relevant internal
specialists such as tax, valuations, pensions and [T specialists regarding the opportunities and incentives that may
exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements.

As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following area, and our

procedures performed to address it are described below:

¢ Occurence of non-routine revenue transactions given these are more susceptible 1o mampulation compared
to automatic routine transactions.

Our specific procedures performed to address the occurence of non-routine cevenue transactions include the

following precedures:

s assessed the design and implementation of the key controls in place around the revenue recognition process;

e substantive testing of manual adjustments to revenue through agreernent to supporting evidence that verifies
the occurrence of the revenue,

In common with all audits under 1SAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to
the risk of management override. In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we
tested the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in
making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any
significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:

» reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supperting documentation to assess compliance with
provisions of relevant laws and rcgulations descnibed as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

#  performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks
of material misstatemment due to fraud;

e enquiring of management and in-house legal counse! conceming actual and potential litigation and claims,
and instances of non-compliance with laws and regulanons; and

« reading minutes of meetings of those charged with govemance and reviewing correspondence with HMRC
and tax authorities.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REFURT TO THE MEMBERS OF INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS
LIMITED

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opihion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

s the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

» the strategic report and the directors” report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and of the parent company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic rcport or the
directors’ report.

Vatters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinton:

e adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or retumns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors” remuneration specitied by law are not made; or

* we have nat received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Use of our report

This report is made sofely (o the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyene other than the company and the company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

coms A Lan

James Leigh FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor

London, United Kingdom

14 Aprl 2023
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INEQS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Note 2022 2021
€m

REVENUE ... e et e [P 2 18,172.3 14,932.2

Cosi of sales before excepuonai items .. (15,17¢.7) (i1,821.5)

Exceptional cost of sales ... 4 - {140.6)
Total cost of sales..................... . e (151711 {11,962.1)
Gross profit.....eee. 3,000.6 1.970.1
Distribution costs ........ SO PUUS U UR [PURR (901.9) _(B145
Administrative expenses before exceptional items ... l (474.8) (440.0)
Exceptional adminiStrative eXpenses...........ooooovoovino e - 4 (5.1} {41.1
Tota! admINiStrative EXPEMSES ....oce i oo (475.9) {481.1)
Operating profit ............... 5 1,618.8 1,674.5
Share of profit of associates and joint ventures using the equity method 12 2336 462.0
Dividends received from other Mvestments..........err e 26 25
Empairment of investments....... et e e e 12 - (1.9)
Loss on disposal of equity accounted investments ... . 12 (26.6)
Profit on disposal of controlling stake in businesses. .............. ..o 3 7103 -
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment . ... 5.6 4.3
Profit before net finance casts ... 2,544.3 2,142.3
Finance iNCOME ..........ccoiviiie e, TR e e 8 896 101.8
Finance costs before exceptional items. . 8 {287.0) (273.1)
Exceptional finance costs.._. e 4,8 HCEN (68.9)
Total finaNCe COSIS.....ooi it v et e 291.3) (342.0)
Net finance costs .................... e (201.7) (240.2)
Prafit BefOre aX.. ..o eieciensicssrsesinrinesrinesancs i csesareass e ressssanesaaseasess 2,342.6 1,902.1
Tax CRATEE .. e 9 (3771 {326.00
Profit for the year . . 1,964.9 1,576.1
Profit attributable to:

- Owners of the parent .......... e e et e 1,920.3 1,5458

- Non-controfling interest.........oooeiiinieii e 44.6 303

1,964.9 1,576.)

All activities of the Group relate to continuing operations.

The notes on pages 34 to 105 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31

DECEMBER 2022

Profit for the year... i rsmvs s e e
Other comprehensive (expense)/income:

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurement of post-employment benefit obligations ......................
Deferred taxes on remeasurement of post-employment bcnef’t
obligations ......... RSOOSR P RSP RTROION
Fair value gain on investments in cqulty instruments designated as
FVTOCT vttt e
Reclassification of foreign cxchange translation difference on disposal
of subsidiaries to profit OT 1055 .....ooeeeiii e
Htems thai may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Foreign exchange translation differences of subsidiaries.....................
Total other comprehensive {(expensc)income for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
- Owners of the PRrent. ..ot
- Naon-controlling interest ... i

Total comprehensive income for the year

Note 2022 2021
€m

1,964.9 1,576.1
20 (35.6) 54.8
14 6.8 9.6)
25 (0.4) -
3 9.8 -
{51.0) 202.9
(70.4) 248.1
1,894,5 1,824.2
1,854.9 1,784.7
39.6 39.5
1,894.5 1,824.2

The notes on pages 34 to 105 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statemends.
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Nate 2022 2022
Non-curreat assets Em
Property, plant and equipment.... 10 4,122.8 49722
Intangible assets .....co-.coevvernenns 11 2,187.1 2,265.2
Investments in equity-accounted investees . 12 1,800.6 1,530.9
Other INVESHMIENTS. .11 cvericreies s ereeeesensensaeessteieseiasaneosessessrnsesirns e esiaees s raesasnns 12 9.8 8.1
Other fINANGCIAE BSSELS. ..cc\ vieiiereeraereeirreetereortancterssesesesesaasesssnessanresns rreeerrens 13 22 2.1
Other receivabies 16 i52.7 525
Empioyee benefits . 20 277 9.0
DEFErTetd TRX @SSEES......cecerirrnenrrienresesanronsarassernssas ies e coesensassensnesnresreas s Saatatacs 14 150.2 202.9
Total non-current sssets 9,053.1 2132.9
Current assets
Inventories 15 14736 1,548.9
Trade and other receivables.... 16 2,3605 2,377.9
Tax receivables for cuirent tax .. 9.2 54.7
Other financial assets........... 13 2445 -
Cash and cash equivalents... 26 1,530.( 1,291.3
‘Fotal current assets 5,688.3 5,271.8
Total assets i4,741.4 14é35~7
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital ... . 23 0.3 0.3
Merger reserve 24 (4,526.9) (4,526.9)
Retained earnings... 8,961.0 7.551.5
Other reserves 148.1 2135
Total shareholders' funds 4,5825 3,238.4
NON-cOMTOHHNG IBIBIESE. ..ot i et et es e s 66.1 742
Total equity 4,648.6 33126
Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 7 6,336.5 6,436.4
Lease liabilities................... 18 2243 226.6
Trade and other payabies. [RSST 19 142.5 145.9
Employes benefits ... 20 188.5 2333
Provisions.............. 21 154.6 185.3
Deferred tax liabilities. 14 400.3 404.9
* Total non-current liabilities 7.447.7 7,633.4
Current liabilities
Interest-bearing 10ans and DOMTOWINGS ..oovv.veecimrcvirers s s v RS 17 45 1339
Lease Habilities............ccococeenninnn 18 65.0 72.6
Trade and other payables. ... 19 23010 2,978.5
Tax liabilities for current tax .. 1947 146.0
Other financial liabilities............... et : 22 46.2 53.4
PrOVESIOMIS ..o oe oo et 21 337 553
Total current liabilities. 2,645.1 3,439.7
Tatal liabilities 10,0928 11,073.1
Total equity and liabilities ; 14,7414 14,385.7

The notes on pages 34 to 165 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 14 April 2023 and were signed on its
behalf by:

W Leask
Director

INEOS Quattro Hoidings Limited
Registered number: 08922632
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Balance at 1 Junwary 2021 ..........___.

Profit for the year ... ...
Other comprehensive
income/(expense):

Remeasutement of past-employment
benefit obligations ... .
Deferved raxes on remeasurement of
post-employment benefit obligations..
Foreign exchange translacion
ditferences of subsidianes .................

Total other comprehensive income
Transactions with owners, recorded
directly in equity:

Reduction of share premium.........
Repayment of Equity Bridge
Contribution . ...

Dividends .. O
Tr:nsacnons wnh OWnLrS, recorded
directly in equity ......ccooiicecirmrinereene

Balance at 31 December 2021 ..........

Profit for the year ...
Other ¢cumprehensive
(expense)/income:

Remeasurement Ofpoﬂ-emp[oymcnt
benefit obligations .. .
Deferred raxes on remcasurement of
post-employment benefit obligations.,
Foreign exchange translation
differences of subsidianies ..
Reclassificanon to profit or Ioss an
disposal of subsidiaries....
Fair valuc loss on investrnents in
£quity mstruments designated as

Total other comprehensive expense,
Transactions with gwners, recorded
directly in equity:

Adjustment arising from change in
non-controlling intcrest.. -
Adustmenl arising from dtsposal of
non-controlling interest... -

Dividends ............. ..
Transactons with ewners, remrded
directly in equity.........cooovvviririneen.

Balance at 31 December 2022 ... .

INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED
3] DECEMBER 2022

Share Non-
premiu Toatal conrrolli
Share m Merger  Retained  Other shareholde ng Total
Note  _ capital reserve  reserve  earnings  reserves 15’ funds interest equity
€m
03 66204 (4,526.9) 603.5 25.4) 2,671.9 7.3 2,741.2
- - 1,545.8 - 1,545.8 303 1.576.1
20 - - - - 53.7 537 11 54.8
14 B . - - (9.4) (9.4) (0.2} @8
. - - - 194.6 194.6 83 2029
233.9 238.9 9.2 248.1
23 (6,620.4) - 6,620.4 - - - -
23 - - - (824.9) - (324.9) - (8324 9)
23 - - - (393.3) - (393.3) {36.6) (429.9)
- 16,620.4) - 54022 ~ (1,218.2) {36.6) (1,254.8)
0.3 - (4,526.9) 7,851.5 2138 32384 74.2 33126
- - - 1,920.3 - 19203 44 6 1.964.9
20 . - . - (32.6) {32.6) I&Y)! (35.6)
14 - - - - 6.1 6.1 0.7 6.8
- - - - (48.3) (48.3) 2n (51.0)
3 - - - - 98 9.8 - 98
14 - - - - [0.4) (0.9) - 0.4)
- - - - {65.4) (65.4) (5.0) {70.4)
- - - 10.2 - 10.2 12.2 224
. . - . . - (32.5) (32.5)
23 - - - {521.0) ~ {521.0) (274} (548 4)
- - - __{510.8) - {510.8) (47.7) {S58.5)
0.} - (4,526.9) §,961.0 148.1 4,582.5 66.1 4,548.6

Thc notes on pages 34 to 105 are an mtcgral part of these consolldatcd financial staternents.
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- INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022

Analysis of other reserves:

Balance at | January 2021

Remeasurerment of post-cmployment benefit obligatons ...

Decferred taxes on remcasurernent of post-cmployment benefit
obligations .. e

Forcign exchange translation diffcrences of subsidiaries.........

Balance at 3t December 202}

Remeasurement of post-emmployment benefi abligations . .........

Deferred taxes on remeasurement of pest-employment berefit

obligations ... .. R SN USSR
Fair valuc gain on invesuments in cquity instruments designated
as FVTOCL . . e e s e s R

Reclassification of foreign exchange translaton difference on
disposal of subsidiaries. ...

Foreign exchange tanslation differences of subsidianes ...

Balance at 31 December 2022

Translation _ Fair value Actuarial Tatal ather

_!\_‘0_,‘?_ reserve reserve reserve feserves

€m

(10.7) - 047 (25.4)
20 - - 537 537
i4 ' - - {9.4) (9.4)
194.6 - - 194.6
1839 29.6 138
20 - - (326} {32.6)
14 - - 61 6.1
14 - ©4) - (0.4)
98 - - 9.8
(48.3) . - (483}
1454 (0.4) 3.1 148.1

The notes on pages 34 to 105 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INEOQS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022

Naote 2022 2021
€m

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the vear ... ettt ke et e ee etee et aeeane s 1,964.9 o 1,576.1
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and impairmignt. .........cocoiii e e e 10 5829 5955
Amortisation and IMPAITMENT ..........ccuri e s e 8] 129.4 122.9
INEE FINANCE COSIS -eeiiiiiiiii et et e et rmeie s on et osr s e e rinas g 2017 240.2
Share of profit of joint ventures and associated undcrlakmgs............A................ 12 (233.6) (462.0)
Dividends received from other investments ....................... (2.6) (2.5)
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (5.6) (4.3}
Impaimment of INVESIMENIS ..coocov vt reieerenie s 12 266 1.0
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries ... (710.3) .
Tax charge... 9 37177 326.0
Decrease/(mcrease) in trade and olher recewables 406.6 (789.4)
Decrease!(mcreasc) in inventories . 733 (589.2)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and olher payables .................................................. (542.5) 1,0320
(Decrease)fincrease in provisions and employee benefits....... ... [ (74.6) 70.0
Tax paid . oovereceeieeeeee e (321.8) (291.1)
Net cash from operating activities 1,872.1 1,825.2

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest and other finance income received .. ... . . 136 5.0

Net repayment of loans made to related parties ... 4.2 6.7
Pividends received from joint ventures ... 12 4014 188.7
Dividends received from other investments 26 2.5
Disposal of businesses, net of cash disposed of and wnhholdmg ax.. 3 238.1 R
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment.......n . 16.1 6.8
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired .. ... 3 - 85.8
Acquisition of other INVesSIMents..........ccoocveiiiirier e [ (0.2) 0.7
Acquisition of intangible assets ... ... e (75.7) 3.5
Acquisition of property, ptant and eqUIPMENT..........c.. . oo, (869.4) (750.2)
Net cash used in INVESHINE ACHIVILIES 1oomieericr st s e e (269.3) {458.9)
Cash flows from financing activities

Procecds from external borrowings.... 17 431.1 48325
Repayment of extemnal barrowings . (418.9) (4,185.4)
DEbT ISSUE COBIS. ..ttt reerni ettt sreetieenr e et eeee s nreennes e e {1.2) (63.0)
[nterest paid....... PP S e e (270.2) (187N
Capital element of lease paymcnls OSSPV OPPUTPUUPRP PRI ¥ - (82.8) (95.8)
Non-cantrolling interest buy-out...............coooieiiiicnn e 23 225 -
Drawdown of loans made to the owners of the Company (S00.5)

Repayment of Equity Bridge Contribution to the owners of the Company ... 23 - (824.9)
Dividend paid atributable to the owners of the Company.................... .23 (521.0) (3933
Dividend paid attributable to non-controlling interest . . 34.9) (10.3)
Net cash used in financing actVIties ...t {1,375.9) (927.9)
Nct increase in cash and cash equivalents ... . 26 226.9 438.4
Cash and cash equivalents at | January..............coo i 26 1.291.3 B05.6
Effect of exchange rate fluctualions on cash held [r9 473
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December ..o iiimnimrinc s enisiae 26 1,530.1 1,291.3

The notes on pages 34 to 105 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31t DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1 Overview

INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited (“the Company™) is a private company, limited by shares, incorporated in the United
Kingdom, registered in England and Wales, and has its registered office at Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst,
Hampshire, S043 7FG, United Kingdom.

The Company was incorporated on 18 December 2015, as a subsidiary of INEOS Industries Holdings Limited.

1.2 Basis of accounting

These firancial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group™)
and equity account the Group’s interest in associated undentakings and recogmse its joint arrangements as joint
operations or joint ventures. The parent company financial statements present information about the Company as a
separate entity and not about its Group.

The Group financial statements have been prepared on a going concermn basis and approved by the Board of Directors
in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards .

In preparing the financial statemnents, the directars have considered the impact of climate change, particularly 1n the
context of the principal risk identified on page 19. There has been no material impact identified on the financial
reporting judgements and estimates. The directors are aware of the ever-changing risks attached to climate change and
will regularty assess these risks against judgements and estimates made in preparation of the group’s financial
statements

The Group meets its day 1o day working capital requirements through its intercompany loan and external financing
facilities, along with cash generated by its subsidiaries’ operations. The Group held cash balances of €1,530.1 million
at 3t December 2022 (2021 €1,291 .3 million) and gross (oans and borrowings of €6,391.7 miltion at 31 December
2022 (2021 €5,640.2 million). The Group has no significant financial covenants. The Directors have considered the
Group's projected future cash flows and working capital requirements and are confident that the Group has sufficient
cashflows to meet its working capitzal requirements for the next twelve months from the date of signing the financial
statements. In particular, the Directors have stress tested the forecasts through taking account of reasonable possible
changes in trading performance on the impact on EBITDA before exceptional items, cash flow and debt. The stress
tests show that the Group will still have sufficient cash flow to meet all of its obligations as they fall due within the
next 12 months from the date of signing the financial statements.

On the basis of this assessment together with net assets of €4,648.6 million as at 31 December 2022 (202): €3312.6
million) the Directots have concluded that the Group can operate within its current facilities for a period of at least 12
months from the date of this report. Therefore, these financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis
in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom.

The Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the directors in accordance with United Kingdom
adoepted international accounting standards and have been approved for issuance by the Board of Directors on 14 April
2023.

The notes below provide a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated
financiat statements. The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently
ta atl periads presented in these Group financial statements.

1.3 Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the historicaf cost basis except for derivative finangial instruments classified
at fair vatue through the profit or loss or at fair vatue through other comprehensive income.

1.4 Functional and presentation currency

The presentational currency of the Group is the Euro, which is the functional currency of the majority of operations.
The Group’s primary products are sold in an international commodifies market which is priced and invaiced primarily
in euros.
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L5

INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

Changes in zccounting policies

The Group financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies that are consistent with those of the
previous financial year. The Group has adopted the following amendments to accounting standards for the first time
in 2022, with effect from | January 2022, although there has been no material effect on the Group's financial

statements:

1.6

Amendmeats to LAS 37: Onerous Contracts—Cost of Fulfilling a Contract.

The amendments specify that the cost of fulfilling a contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the
contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract consist of both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract
{examples would be direct labour or materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling
contracts (an example would be the allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and
equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS 3,

The amendments update a reference to the Conceptual Framewark for Financial Reporting without changing
the accounting requirements for business combinations.

Amendments to LAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment—Proceeds before [ntended Use.
Under the amendments, proceeds from selling items before the related item of Property, Plant and Equipment
is available for use should be recognised in profit or loss, together with the costs of producing those items.
TAS 2 /nventories should be applied in identifying and measuring these production costs.
The amendments aiso clarify the meaning of ‘testing whether an asset is functioning properly’. 1AS 16 now

specifies this as assessing whether the technical and phys:cal performance of the asset is such that it is capable
of being used in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative

purposes.
Il not presented separately in the statement of comprehensive income, the financial statements shall disclose

the amounts of proceeds and cost included in prefit or loss that relate to items produced that are not an output
of the entity’s ordinary activities, and which line item(s} in the statement of comprehensive income include(s)

such proceeds and cost.
Annual Improvements to TFRS Standards 2018-2020-

IFRS 1: Subsidiary as a first-time Adopter — The amendment provides additional relief to a subsidiary which
becomes a first-time adopter later than its parent in respect of accounting for cumulative translation
differences. The amendment allows entities that have measured their assets and liabilities at carrying amounts
recorded in their parent’s books to also measure any cumulative translation differences using the amounts
reported by the parent. This amendment will also apply to associates and joint ventures that have taken the

same [FRS | exemption,

IFRS 9: Fees in the *10 per cent test for derecognition of financial liabilities ~ The amendment clarifies
which fees should be included in the 10% test for derecogmition of financial labilities.

IFRS 16: The amendment removes the illustration of the reimbursement of leasehold improvements.

Amendments to [AS | Presentation of Financtal Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (effective date | January 2024).

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are ali entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the

ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated

from the date that control ceases.

35



INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

1.6 Basis of consolidation (continued)
Subsidiaries {continued)

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations, except acquisitions under cammaon
control which are outside the scape of IFRS 3. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary 1s the
fair values of the assets transferred, the lLiabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabihities and contingent Nabilities assumed in
a business combination are measured initiatly at theie fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-cantrolling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition-
related cosls are expensed as incurved.

If the business combination of a subsidiary or joint venture is achieved 1 stages, the acquisition date carrying value
of the acquirer’s previously heid equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured lo fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or [osses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 in the profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companics are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also elimnated.

Transactions with non-conirolling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions
- that 15, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any
comsideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposals 1o non-controlling interesis are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the date
when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recogmsed in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joiat venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or lass.

Special purpose entities ("SPE")

A SPE is consolidated if, based on an evaluation of the substance of its relationship with the Group and the SPE’s
risks and rewards, the Group concludes that it controls the SPE. The Group has established three SPE’s, INEOS
Styrolution Receivables Finance Designated Activity Company, Deutsche Bank Mexico F/1787 and INEOS Norway
Finance Treland Limited, for debt securitisation programmes. The Group does not have any direct or indirect
shareholdings in these SPE’s. The SPE’s are controlled by the Group as they have been established under terms that
impose strict limitations on the decision-making powers of the SPE’s management that result in the Group receiving
the majority of the benefits related to the SPE's operations and net assets, being exposed to the majority of risks arising
from the SPE’s activities, and retaining the majority of the residual or ownership risks related 1o the SPE’s and their
assets. TINEOS Styrolution Receivables Finance Designated Activity Company, Deutsche Bank Mexico F/(787 and
INEQS Norway Finance Irefand Limited are therefore regarded as SPE’s and have been consclidated in these financial
statements.

Associated undertakings

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a
sharehalding of between 20% and 50% of the vouing rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the
equity method of zccounting. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised at ¢ost, and the carrying
amount s increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The Group’s investment in associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition. 1f the ownership interest
in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

L6 Basis of consolidation (continued)
Associated undertakings (continued)

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the income statement, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recagnise
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behaif of the assariate

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the
associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impatrment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to *share of profit/{loss)
of associates’ in the income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its associate are
recognised in the Group's financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated untess the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted

by the Group.

Joint arrangements

Under IFRS L1 “Joint Arrangements’, investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or
joint ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the
legal structure of the joint arrangement. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements and determined
them to be either joint operations or joint ventures.

The Group recognises its direct right to the asserts, liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations and its share
of any jointly held or incurred assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These have been incorporated in the financial
statements under the appropriaie headings.

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity methed. Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
profits or loses and movements in other comprehensive income, When the Group's share of losses on a joint venture
equals or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which wicludes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the group's net investment in the joint ventures), the group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated uniess the transaction provides evidence of an
umpairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the joint ventures have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the polices adopted by the Group.

1.7 Foreign exchange

Transactions in foreign currencies are tranglated to the respective functional currencies of Group entittes at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign
exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the consolidated income statement except for differences
arising on the rewranslation of a financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation,
or qualifying cash flow hedges, which are recognised in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in 2 foreign exchange are translated using the exchange rate at
the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are retranslated to the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
determined.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation,
are ranslated to the Group’s presentational currency, euros, at foreign exchange rates ruling at the reporting date. The
revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
The Group applies an average rate for the year where this rate approximates to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the transactions. Exchange differences arising from this translation of foreign operations are taken directly to
the translation reserve. They are recycled into the consolidated income statement upon disposal.
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSGLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
3t DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

1.7 Foreign exchange (continued)

Exchange differences arising from a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation, the settiement
of which is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are considered to form part of 2 net investment in a
foreign operation and are recagnised directly in equity in the ranslation reserve. Foreign exchange differences arising
on the retranslation of a borrowing designated as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation are recognised
directly in OCI, in the translation reserve, to the gxtent that the hedge is effective. When the hedged part of a net
investment is disposed of, the associated cumulative amount in equity is transferred to profit or loss as an adjustment
to the profit or lass on disposal.

1.3 Classification of financial instruments issved by the Group

Financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet the following two
conditions:

(a) They include no contractual obligation upon the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or to exchange
financial assets or financial habilities with another party under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to
the Group, and

(b)Y Where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a non-
derivative that includes no obligation ta deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity instruments
or is a derivative that will be settled by the Company’s exchanging 2 fixed amount of cash or other financial
assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability, Where the
instrument so classified takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these financial
statements for called up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in refation to those shares.

Non-derivative financial instruments

Nen-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in debt and equity secunties, irade and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue. Subsequent 10 initial recognition they are tested for classification as per IFRS 9. If the trade
receivables satisfy the criteria for cash flow characteristics test and business model test as per [FRS 9, then they are
recognised at amortised cost. [f they do not qualify for being recognised al amortised cost they are recognised at {air
value through profit or foss or at fair value through other comprehensive income. :

Trade and other payabies

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisibon or issue. Subsequent 1o initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
methed.

Investnients in debt and equity securities

Investments in debt securities are measured at amortised cosi if they meet both of the following conditions and are not
destgnated as a fair value through profit and loss:

e The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets 1o collect contractual cash flows,
and

e  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income only if it meets both of the following
conditions and is not designated as a fair value through profit and lass:

e The asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling financial assets; and

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest an the principal amount outstanding.
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

1.8 Classification of financial instruments issued by the Group {continued)

Investments in debt and equity securities (continued)

For investment in equity securities that are not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes to fair value in other comprehensive income. The Group makes this election on an investment-by-investment

basis.

All other financial assets, including derivatives, are classified as measured at fair value through profit and loss. When
these investments are derccognised, the enmulative gain or loss previously recogmised directly in equity is recognised
in the income statement. Where these investments are interesi-bearing, interest calculated using the effective interest
method is recognised in the income statement. Where no reltable measurement of fair value is available, investments
are stated at historic acquisition cost.

Cash and cash equivalenis
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash balances and call deposits.

Cash flows entered into by a third party on behalf of the Group (as it’s ‘agent’) are presented *gross’. These are
typically cash flows arising from financing activities, undertaken by agent banks.

lnterest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, tnterest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Debt restructuring

The Group derecognises financial liabilities in accordance with the provisions in IFRS 9. When debt (s medified, the
Group analyses the modifications from both a quantitative and qualitative perspective to determine if the modifications
are substantial and meet the IFRS requirements for de-recognition, in which case the debt is treated as extinguished.
All fees paid in connection with a debt extinguishment are expensed immediately. When a medification is accounted
for as a non-substantizl modification, associated fees incurred are deferred as an adjustment to the carrying value of
the liability and amortised using the criginal effective interest rate.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging
Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value, The gain or loss on subsequent remeasurement
to fatr value is recognised immediately in the conselidated income statement as finance income or expense. Where
derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item
being hedged.

Cash flow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset
or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial
instrument is recognised directly in the hedging reserve. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the
derivative that is recognised in hedging reserve is limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item,
determined on a present value basis, from inception of the hedge. Any ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised
immediately in the consolidated income statement as finance income or expense.

Where the forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability,
the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from the hedging reserve and is included in the inital carrying
amount of the non-financial asset or hability.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a Ainancial asset or a financial liabiity,
the associated gains and losses that were recognised directly in equity are reclassified into profit or loss in the same
period or periods during which the hedged expected future cash flows affect profit or loss, e.g. when interest income
or expense is recognised.

" For cash Nlow hedges, other than those covered by the preceding tWo policy statemints; the @ssociated cumulative gain
or loss is removed from equity and included in the consolidated income statement as an adjustment to revenue and
cost of sales in the same period or periods during which the hedged forecast transaction affects revenue and cost of

sales in the consolidated income statement,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
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1.8 Classification of financial instruments issued by the Group (continued}
Derivative financial instruments and hedging (continued)

When a hedging instrument expires, is sold, terminated, exercised. or the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge
accounting, hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity
and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. [f the hedped transaction is no
longer expected to ke place, the cumulative uncealised gain or lass recognised i equity is recognised in the
consolidated income statement immediately.

1.9 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly atiributable to the acquisition of the asset. Cost may include the cost of
materials, labour and other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended
use. Cost may also include the cost of dismantiing and removing items and restoring the site on which they are located.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate
items of property, plant and equipment. :

Depreciation is charged to the consoiidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of each part gf an item of property, plant and equipment. Depreciation caommences from the date an asset is brought
into service. Land and assels in the course of construction are not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as
follows: :

+  Buildings 10 10 50 years

* Plant and Equipment

- Major items of plant 3 to 30 years
- Major plaat overhauls 2 10 4 years
- Moror vehicles 5 years

- Computer hardware and major software 2 10 4 years
- Fixtures and fittings 3 to 40 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when evenis or changes in
circumstances indicate thal the carrying value may not be recoverabie. Where an indicator of impairment exists, the
Group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount, which is the higher of the asset’s fair value less cost to sefi and
value in use. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (s considered impaired
and 1s written down (o its recoverabie amount.

Assets are derecognised upon disposal er when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference berween the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying value of the asset) is included n the consolidated income statement in the period
in which the item is derecognised.

116 Business comhbinations, goedwill and intangible assets

All business combinations are accounted for by applying the Acquisitton method, except acguisitions under common
control which are outside the scope of IFRS 3 Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition of subsidianes,
associates and joint ventures.

Acquisitions under comman control are accounted for at book value. The difference in the book value of the assets
acquired and consideration paid is recognised in retained eamings within a distributable merger reserve. The Group
has elected not to include the results of businesses acquired under common control transactions within the Group
income statement for any periods prior 1o the date of acquiring control.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is atlocated to groups of cash-generating
units and is not amartised but is tested annually for imapairment. The cash generating units within the Group are
predominately business units. In respect of equity accounted investees. the carrying amount of goodwill is included
in the carrying amount of the investment in the investee.
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1.10 Business combinations, goodwill and intangible assets (cantinued)
Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.
Intangible assels

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. These intangible asscts principally comprise intellectual property rights, customer relationships,
non-compete agreements and license fees.

Inangible assets acquired separately from a business are carried initially at cost. The initial cost is the aggregate
araount paid and the fair value of other consideration given to acquire the assets. An intangible asset acquired as part
of a business combination is recognised separately from goodwill if the asset is separable or arises from contractual
or other legal rights and its fair value can be measured reliably.

Amortisation

Amortsation is charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite. Intangible assets with an indefinite usefu! life and goodwill are
systematically tested for impairment at each reporting date. Other intangible assets are amortised from the date they
are available for use. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

e Customer relationships 3 — 12 years

s Intellectual property rights 10— 15 years

* Non-compete agreements life of the agreement
¢ Licenses up to 15 years

e« Other 3 years

These intangible assers are tested for impairment at the end of the reporting period if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Useful lives are examined on an annual basis
and adjustments, where applicable, are made on a prospective basis.

1.11 Research and development
Expenditure on research activities is recognised in the consolidated income statement as an expense as incurred.

Expenditure on development activities is capitalised if the product or process is technically and commerciaily feasible
and the Group intends to and has the technical ability and sufficient resources to complete development, future
economic benefits are probable and if the Group can measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible
asset during its development. Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or
substantially improved products or processes. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Where regulatory and other uncertainties are such that the criteria are not
met, the expenditure is recognised in the income staterment. Other development expenditure is recognised in the
income statement as an expense as incurred. Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and less accumulated impairment losses.

1.12 Impairment
Impairment of financigl asseis

A financial asset not classified at fair value through profit and loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine
whether there 1s evidence that it is impaired.

Trade and other receivables

The Group applics the simplificd approach when providing for expected credit losses prescribed by 1FRS 9 for its
trade receivables and contract assets. This approach requires the Group to recognise the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables taking in consideration historical as well as forward-looking information.

Where the Group has assessed the probability of default of a financial asset to be low, the loss allowance is considered
ummaterial,

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with the financial assets ciassified

at amortised cost at each balance sheet date and adjusts the allowance accordingly.
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1.12 Impairment (continued)
Investments in debt and equity securities

Impairment of equity securities classified as FVOCI are not tested for impairment under [FRS 9. If the fair value of a
debt instrument classified as FVOCI increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurming after
the impairment loss was recognised in the income statement, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

Impairment of non-financiaf assets excluding inventories and deferred tax assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's non —financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets are
assessed at the end of the reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.

For goodwili and other intangible assets that have an indefinite usefu! life and intangible assets that are not yet
availabie for use, the recoverable amount is estimated at the end of the reporting period.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the consohdated income statement.

Imparment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating anits are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit
on a pra rata basis. A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Calculation of recoverable amourit

The recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less cost to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimaled future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. '

Reversals of impairmert
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed when there 15 an indication that the impairment loss may no
longer exist and there has been a change in the estimares used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment [oss is reversed only 1o the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amounlt that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment {oss had been
recognised.

1.13 {nventories

Inventories (excluding engineering stocks and maintenance spares) are stated at the lower of cost, using the first-in
first-out or average cost method, and net reahisable value which 1s defined as the estimated selling price less the
estimated cost of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Cost includes expenditure incurred
in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs in bringing them to their existing location
and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of
overheads based on normal operating capacity. Provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving or defective items where
appropnate.

Items owned by the Group that are held on consignment at another entity’s premises are included as part of the Group’s
inveniory.

Engineering stocks and maintenance spares are valued at moving average price. Catalysts, which are part of the
chemical reaction and are consumed in the production process, are held as raw materials and consumables within
inventories, These are consumed over a certain period. depending on their renewal cycles, according to normal
production levels.

Cost of sales includes direct costs of raw material, distribution and handling costs.

1.14 Commeodities

Contracts that are entered into and continue to be held for the purpose of receipt or delivery of non-financial items in
accordance with the Group's expected purchase, sale or usage requirements {own-use contracts) are not accounted for
as derivative financial instruments, but rather as executory contracts.
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1.15 Leases

Al inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or conrains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group uses
the definition of a lease in TFRS 16 Leases.

Group as a lessee
Right-of-use assels

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.¢., the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assels are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised and lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove’ the undetlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the
end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease
terrn or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase aption. In that case the right-
of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as
those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use assel is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if
any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present vaiue of lease
payments to be made over the lease t1erm, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined. the Group's incremental borrowing rate.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate (initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date), amounts
expected o be paid under residual value guarantees less any lease incentives receivable. The lease payments also
inciude the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for terminating a lease, if the |ease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are expensed in the period in which the event or condition
that tnggers the payment occurs,

The lease liability is subseguently measured by increasing the camying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
(using the effective interest method} and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made. In
addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is 2 modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in the in-substance fixed lease payments a change in the assessment of whether the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise an option to purchase the underlying asset, a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or if there is a change in the Group's estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way and there has been no change in the scope of the lease, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if
the carrying amount of the nght-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

Short-term leases and leuses of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to all leases that have a [ease term of [ 2 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. The Group also applies the lease of low-value
assels recoguition exemption 1o leases of assets that are valued below €10,000. Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

" 116~ Gevernment grantsand similar deferred income  ——o-  —— - - . .. .

Government grants and similar deferred income are shown in the balance sheet as deferred income. This income is
amortised on a straight-line basis over the same period as the 1angible fixed asset to which it relates or the life of the
related project
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1.17 Employee benefits

The Group operates a number of defined contnbution plans and funded and unfunded defined benefit pension schemes.
The Group also provides unfunded carly retirement benefits, long service awards and an incettive plan for certain
employees.

The Group provides health care insurance to eligible retired employees and their dependants, primarily in the United
States.

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions ino a
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions
to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the consclidated income statement as incurred.

Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Group’s net
abligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment benefits is calculated separately for
cach plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have camed in teturn for their service in the
current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any plan assets
(at bid price) are deducted. The liability discount rate is the yicld at the reporting date on AA credit rated bonds
denominated in the currency of, and that have maturity dates approximating to the terms of, the Group’s obligations.
The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit methed.

When the benefits of a plan are amended or curtailed, the portion of the increased or decreased benefit relating to past
service by employees is recognised as an expense immediately in the consolidated income statement.

Where the calculation results in 2 benefit to the Group, the asset recognised is limited to the present valug of any future
refunds from the plan or reductions in future conmibutions to the plan.

The pension scheme surplus (to the extent that it 1s recoverable) or deficit is recognised in full.
The movement in the scheme surplus/deficit is split between:
» costof sales and administrative expenses;
+ net finance costs and,
* [nnet expense recognised directly in equity, the remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations.

Certain of the Group's pension plans include multi-employer schemes for employees of the Group and other INEOS
or third-party companies. The method used to split the results between the Group and the other participating employers
15 as follows:

s Most memibers are ailocated to a specific company, but where this was not possible members are allocated
to the largest employer within the Group.

*  Active scheme liabilities are allocated pro-rata based on the relative value of accrued pensions for active
members. Deferred and pensioner members are allocated to the largest employer within the Group.

e  Total asscts and cash flows are allocated in proportion to accrued pensions.

« The aliccation of total scheme liabilities is based on data collected at the last valuation date and this
proportionate split has been applied consistently in the calculations.

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service
is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expecied to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing
plans if the Group has a present fegal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided
by the empioyee and the obiigation can be estimated reliably.
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1.18 Provisions

A provision 15 recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that
can be estimated reliably and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation. The timing of recognition requires the application of judgement to existing facts and circumstances, which
can be subject to change. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at risk free pre-rax
rates based on country specific government bond yields which match the maturity of the expected future cash tlows,
The unwinding of the discount is recognised in finance costs.

Fstimated direct costs lu be incarred in connection with restructuring measures are provided for when the Group has
a constructive obligation, which is generally the same as the announcement date. The announcement date is the date
on which the plan is announced in sufficient detail such that employees have valid expectations that the restructuring
will be carried oul.

The Group is exposed to environmental and remediation liabilities relating to its past operations. Provision for these
costs is made when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation to carry out remediation works and costs can be
gstimated within a reasonable range of possible outcomes.

i.18 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds,

1.20 Revenue

Revenue represents the invoiced value of products and services sold or services provided to third parties net of sales
discounts, value added taxes and duties. Contracts for goods and services are analysed to determine the distinct
performance obligations against which revenue should be recognised. The amouni o be recognised is determined
from the standalone selling prices for goods and services, allocated to the performance obligations. Revenuc is
recognised when (or as) the performance obligations are satisfied by transferring a promised good or service to a
customet.

The timing of the satisfaction of a performance obligation varies depending on the individual terms of the sales
agreement. Payment terms vary across the Group dependent on geographical location of each cperating company.
Transfer of control can occur when the product is received at the customer’s warchouse, or loading the goods eonto the
relevant carrier, or when the product leaves the production site, depending on the international shipping terms that the
product is sold under.

The pricing for products sold is determined by market prices {market contracts and arrangements) or is linked by a
formula to published raw material prices plus an agreed additional amount (formula contracts). Revenue arising from
the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are dispatched or delivered depending on the relevant delivery terms
and point at which the control of the good or service is transferred to the customer.

The Group applies the five-step model for revenue recognition, introduced by IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. This model allows the Group to identify the contract with a customer; to determine the performance
obligations in the contract; to establish the transaction price, which is later allocated to the performance obligations in
the contract; and to recognise revenue when, or as, the entity satisfies a performance obligation, that is, that the control
of the asset is transferred to the customer.

The Group has a small number of contracts that include distinct performance obligations. This results, in a limited
number of cases, that revenue for certain performance obligations (being primarily separate shipping obligations) is
recognised later in time. Additionally, certain customer contracts offer various forms of volume or early payment
discount. These variable considerations might have as a consequence timing differences, but since the majonty of
contracts have terms of less than one year, the differences are solved within the peniod. Revenue is recognised to the
extent that it is highly likely that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur.

Additionally, certain customer contracts offer various forms of variable consideration in the form of early settlement
discount or retrospective volume discounts. If it is highly probable that an early settlement discount will be taken and
the amount is not expected (o reverse when the variability is resolved, the discount is recognised as a reduction of
revenue gs the sales are recognised. 1f a volume discount applies retrospectively to all sales under the contract once a

- -certain -threshold-is -achieved, an. estimate_of.the volumes_to_be sold and the resulting. discount ts.calculated_in

determining the transaction price and this calculation is updated throughout the term of the contract.

Certain time and location swap contracts with third parties for commodities and finished goods are excluded from
rumover and cost of sales.
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1.20 Revenue (continued)

Services provided 1o third parties include administrative and operational services provided to other companies with
facilities on the Group's sites. Revenue is recognised at a point in time or over-time depending on whether the over-
time revenue recognition criteria {s met.

No assets related to costs to obtain or fulfil a contract have been recognised. Tts impact, if any, is deemed immaterial.

i.21 Finance income and costs

Interest income and interest expense are recognised in the consolidated income statement as it accrues. using the effective
interest method. Dividend income is recognised in the consolidated income statement on the date the eniity’s right to
receive payments is established. Foreign exchange gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

Finance costs comprise interest payable, finance charges on leases, unwinding of the discount on provisions, net fair
vajue losses on derivatives, net interest on emptoyee benefit habilities and net foreign exchange losses that are recognised
in the consolidated income statement (see foreign exchange accounting policy).

Finance income comprises interest receivable on funds invested and from related party loans, net fair value gains on
derivatives and net foreign exchange gains.

1.22 Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferved tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income
stalement except to the extent that i relates to wems recognised directly in equity, in which case o is recognised in
equity. .

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilties for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not provided
for: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities thar affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit other than in a business combination; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the exient
that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the
expecied manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacled at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if it is possible
that there is a legally enforceable right to offset cucrent tax liabilities and assets because they relate 1o taxes levied by
the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settie current tax
ifabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable thar future taxable profits wiil be available
against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

1.23 Segmental analysis

The Group determines its operating segments in a manner consistent with the intermal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-makers. The chief operating decision-makers are responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the cperating segments. The chief operating decision-makers are the members of the Executive
Committees of each business who report into the shareholder.

The Group's primary format for segment reporting is based on business segments. The business segments are
determined based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure and the aggregation criteria set out in
IFRS 8.

Segment results that are reported to the chief operating decision-makers include items directly aunbutable to a segment
as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

Details of the Group operating segments and the segmentat analysis of revenue and EBITDA before exceptionals are
shown in note 2.
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1.24 Exceptional items

Tn arder to provide readers with a clear and consistent presentation of the underlying operating performance of the
Group's ongoing business it separately identifies those profits and losses which because of their size or nature, are
outside the normal course of business so are expected to be non-recurring. This may include the disposal of businesses,
the impairment of non-current assets, the cost of restructuring acquired or existing businesses, the impact of one off
events such as legal settlements or finance costs relating to call premia and write-off of unamortised debt issue costs
following substantial madification or redemption of debt as exceptional items.

1.25 Emssions Trading schemes

The Group participates in the EU and UK Emissions Trading Schemes. The Scheme encourages companies to reduce
carbon emissions by offering financial incentives if they achieve their annual reduction targets. [f a company reduces
emissions beyond their target then the surplus may be traded in the form of emissions permits.

The incentive maney due from the EU and UK Emissions Trading Schemes are recognised in the consolidated income
statement within cost of sales as a reduction of energy costs once the reduction targets have been met. The emissions
permits allocated under the Scheme are at nil cost. Any additional emission permits that are purchased are recognised
as intangible assets. The Grap recognizes the revenue [rum such pertits upon their sale to third parties.

The Group accrues for emissions produced. The accrual is measured at the carrying amount of the emission rights
held (nil if granted, otherwise at cost) or, in the case of a shortfall, at the current fair value of the emission rights

needed.

1.26 Actcounting standards not applied

A number of new standards and amendments are effective for annual periods beginning after | January 2023 and
earlier application is permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted the new or amended standards in preparing
these consolidated financial statements.

The impact of their adoption is being assessed and 1s not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial
statemnents in the period of initial application. The new standards and amendments are as follows:
» IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts {(effective date | January 2023).
»  Amendments to JAS 12: Income taxes—deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction {effective date | January 2023).
e Amendments to IAS 1 Preseniation of Financial Statements and [FRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of
Accounting Policies (effective date | January 2023).
*  Amendments to IAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates (effective datc 1 January 2023}
s Amendments to IFRS 16; Lease liability in a sale and leaseback (effective date | January 2024).

2 OPERATING SEGMENTS

Revenue and EBITDA before exceptional items are key measures used by the chief operating decision makers of the
Group to assess the performance of the business segments.

The Group divides its operatiens into four segments:

- Strolution, tonsisting of a portfolio of styrene monomer, polystyrene and acryienitrile butadiene styrene
{““ABS”) and a number of other styrene derivatives under the category of “Specialties” such as ABS specialty
and copolymers.

- INEOS Inovyn, consisting of general purpose and specialty suspension PVC, emulsion PVC, caustic seda,
caustic potash, chlorine and chlorine by-producis, brine and water, salt, hydrochioric acid, chlorinated
paraffins, chlorinated solvents, allylics and epichlorohydrin,

- Acetyls, consisting of a variety of organic compounds, including acetic acid, acetic anhydride, methanol,
ethyl acetate and vinyl acetate.

- Arpmatics, consisting of a variety of aromatic chemical compounds, inchuding paraxylene, purified

terephthalic acid, benzene and metaxylene.
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2 OPERATING SEGMENTS (continned)

The revenue and EBITDA before exceptional items atiributable to each business segment was as foilows:

Revenue EBITDA before exceptional

items
2022 2021 2022 2021

€m

Styrolution ... 6,634.3 5.889.7 748.6 1,180.3
INEOS [novyn. 5,136.2 4,225.6 1.176.0 974.4
Acetyls. 1,369.6 1,219.0 363.4 622.0
AFOMALICS. .o e 5.118.2 3,683.2 284.4 2624
ENminations ..o e oo (83.0) (85.3) - -
18,172.3 14,932.2 1,372.4 3,039.4

All revenues and EBITDA are in relation to the Group’s ordinary activities.

Reconciliation of eamings before operating exceptional items, interest, taxation, impairment, depreciation and
amortisation and after the share of profitloss of associated undenakings and joint ventures using the equity accounting
method (“EBITDA before exceptionals”) to profit before tax:

2022 2021
€m
EBITDA before exceptional ff8MS. ... .. oo o e 25724 3.639.1
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges (712.3) {(718.4)
Exceptional items within aperating profit (note 4). (5.1 (181.7)
Impairment of investments (note 12).................... - (.0
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipmen 56 43
Loss on dispesal of equity accounted investment {note 12) (26.6) -
Profit on disposal of businesses (note 3).................. 7103 -
INet finance CoSts (MOIE B) ... oo (201.7) (240.2)
Profit before tax 2,342.6 1,902.1
Geographical analysis — revenues
Geographical information by location of customers 2022 2021
€m
T Y T T T T O PO TP 82226 6,694.6
North Americas .. 4,368.8 2,563.8
RESE QT WOTTH oottt i et et esre et e es h e srae e e ma e et e e e s ee s s ame et e aan t e et 5,580.9 5,273.8
Total 18,i72.3 14,932.2
Geographical information by location of trading lepal entity 2022 2021
. €m
BUIOPE .ol i e e §,7573 74341
North Americas 4,570.8 3,155.1
Resl O W OTT Lo e e e e e e e e 48442 4,34310
Total 18,172.3 14,932.2

In presenting information on the basis of geographic analysis of segments, segment revenue is based on the
geographical location of customers and registered address of the Group's trading lega! entities.
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3 ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF BUSINESSES

Disposals in current year

Disposal of INEOS Styrolution India Limited

On 22 April 2022, the Group sold 13.8% of its sharcholding in INEQOS Styrolution India Limited for consideration of
$25.1 million (€22.5 million equivalent). The Group’s sharehnlding reduced from 75 0% 10 61.2% as a result, with
coillrol being retained.

On 1 August 2022, the Group entered inlo an agreement to divest its remaining sharcholding of 61.19% in INEOS
Styrolution India Limited with Shiva Performance Materials Private Eimited. The transaction was completed on 17
November 2022.

The net assets disposed at the date of disposal were as follows:

Recognised
values on
___disposal
€m

Subsidiary’s net assets recognised at the disposal date:
Property, plant and equipment..... . 399
Intangible assets .., . 722
Investments ... 0.2
INVETILOTIES ..coioi i ittt e 411
Current debtors and other assels 44 4
Cash and cash equivalents.......... . 14.8
Trade and other payables............ e {5.0)
LeaSE HADIIIEY oottt e e e et {40.4)
Employees benefits ... .. 0.
P rOVESIOME .o et e eeiee i eett et ett e eas et et £ et e bt e e et a et e e e e s nneeen s e nnee e e e nrac (.3
Deferred tax habilities. ... SO PUUOO PO PR UUPPRUIO (11.6)
Tax liabilities for current tax ... 4.2)
Minority interests ................ ... (32.5)
Net assets of disposal group ....cvccevivcverirenreinisieenee e ene . 117.5
Proceeds:
Cash consideration .......................... e e 80.7
ACCTUSH IrANSACLION COSIS orvtivtirir i iceiiinr sey e eeeeireseriiee e e e e e e er e s e e e et e eecmesen e aaes sree e (0.5)
Nt PO o oeeeriicasereoeraistnersasrrerrr ot srars rerrascansder s bbb sb B RA R B AR e s smbommbec SRS Fam eambe e $o8003 8 hmas e bims s 80.2
Reclassification of foreign currency transiation reserve to the income statement.. 9.8
LSS O diSPOSAL...eeeiciiiini et set s crarsteser e e e e s e e R be e s RS nenene sem e bn e s rres s anns - (47.1)

The loss on disposal of €47.1 million, being the difference between net proceeds of €80.2 million (afier deduction of
transaction costs), the reclassification of foreign currency translation gains from reserve to the income statement of
€9.8 million and net assets disposed of has been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

The transaction resulted in a net cash inflow of €65.9 million, being the difference between the sale price of €80.7
million less the cash balances heid by the disposed business ot £/ 14,8 mifiton. { ransaction costs of €0.5 million remain
unsettled as at 31 December 2022.
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3 ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF BUSINESSES (continued}

Disposals in current year

Equity transfer agreement of INEOS Styrolution Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Limited

On 28 July 2022, the Group's subsidiary, INEOS Styrolution APAC Pte, Limtied, entered nto an agreement to transfer
50% of its sharcholding in INEOS Styrofution Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pie Limited to China Petroleum &
Chermical Corporation (“Sinopec™). As a resuft, the Group lost control but retained joint controi. Based on the terms
of the joint-arrangement reviewed in accordance with TFRS i 1, the Group has assessed that its 5G0% interest represents
an interest in a joint venture and shall be accounted for using the equity method. The transaction was completed on
28 December 2022.

‘
The net assets disposed at the date of the loss of control were as follows:

Recognised
values on
disposal
€m
Disposal of 100% of subsidiary’s net assets recognised at the loss of control date:
Property, plant and equipment 5609
Intangible assets 06
Deferred tax assets ... 20
Inventories..........ocveneen s, 0.4
Current debtors and Other @SSES. ... coov v e e e 583
Cash and cash equivalents. ... 40.7
Trade and other payables (34.1)
Intercornpany loans .................. (64.7)
External loans and borrowings. (4089
Debt issue costs 0.4
Net assets of disposal group . 155.6
Recognition of 50% of the joint-venture equity share:
Fair value of share of joint-venture ... [ETTO e 443.1
Proceeds:
Cash consideration® . 2264
Deferred consideration. 246.2
Accrued fransaction costs 27
Net proceeds 469.9
Gain on disposal 757.4

*Withholding tax of €13.5 million was pad in respect of this transaction,

The profit on disposal of €757.4 million, being the difference between the net proceeds of €469.9 millian (after
deduction of transaction costs); the 50% of the joint-venture equity share recognised at fair vatue of €443.1 million
and net assets disposed of has been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

The deferred consideration is retated to future instalments to be received from Sinopec on the achievement of certain
milestones, which are expected to be fulfilled by December 20213 at the latest. The deferred consideration has been
discounted to recognise the time value of money.

The cost of acquiring the 50% of the joint-venture equity share has been measured at fair value by applying discounted
cash flow method based on a long-term business plan with a detailed planning period of seven years,

The transaction resufted int a net cash inflow of €172.2 million, being the difference between the sale price settied on
completion of €226.4 million less €13.5 million of withholding tax paid and the cash balances held by the disposed
business of €40 7 million. Transaction costs of €2.7 miliion remain unsettled as at 31 December 2022
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3 ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF BUSINESSES (continued)

Acquisitions in the prior year — BP Petrochemicals

QOn 31 December 20620, pursuant to an acquisition agreement dated 29 June 2020 berween INEOS Holdings AG and
BP, certain subsidiaries of the Group apgreed to purchase the Aromatics and Acetyls businesses from certain
subsidiaries of BP (the “BP Acquisition™ or the “BP Petrochemicals Business”™), including shares in seven jointly-
controlled joint ventures and the assets owned and used in relation to the Aromatics and Acetyls businesses.

The total purchase price for the BP Petrochemicals business of $4,990.0 million (€4,178.3 million equivalent) was
subject to a completion accounts settlement process. Cash of €88.3 million was acquired with the Aromatics and
Acetyls businesses on 31 December 2020. During 2021, the completion accounts settlement process was finalised.
leading to a €85.8 million cash inflow from BP.

During the year ended 31 December 2021 the Group reviewed these provisional fair values and the fair value of
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, purchase consideration and goodwill was updated in 2021 as shown in the
table below. Following the clarification of certain tenms of the sale and purchase agreement with BP, additjonal
liabilities were recognised in relation tn employees’ compensation costs triggered at the acquisition date for €23.8
million and transfer to BP of a tax refund received by PT INEOS Aromatics Indonesia for €6.4 milfion. The balance
sheet as at 31 December 2020 has not been restated to reflect the above as the impact is not material.

2020 @21
Fima! valucs
Accounting Pravisional recognised
Book value on palicy Fair value fair value on Revaluation on
acquisition alipnment dj nts quisitinn updates _acquisition
€m

Acqairee’s net assets at acquisition date:
Property, plant and equipment .......c.ccooienne e 1,726.2 294 [CARY] 1.713.7 - 1,713.7
Tntangible assers....oooo v 34 - 5587 362.( . 562.1
Investments i equity accounted investees 789.1 - 390.3 1,179.4 - 1,179.4
Other non-current financial assets. ... . 2.0 - - 2.0 . 20
Other INVESTIMENLS .vicr e e e s e 126 - - 12.6 - 12.6
Other non-current receivables o 1.6 - - 1.6 - 1.6
Deferred (ax assets.......coe i+ - i, 81 - 182 265 - 265
Inventones ..., 3222 (29.4) (4 6) 2882 - 2882
Trade and ather reccivables . 455.4 - (33.6) 421.%8 - 4218
Cash and cash equivalents ... R 88.3 - - 883 - 88.3
Current and non-current interest-bearing loans and
BOITOWINES . . coveviioors oo e o, kP - . (17.2) - (17.2)
Current and non-current lease liabilines . ................ (85.4) - - (85.4) - (85.4)
Current and non-currcnt trade and other payables . (404.2) - (4.0) (408.2) (30.2) (438 4)
Employee benefils ..o i (2.4) - (0.1 (2.3) - (2.5)
Current and non-current provisions ... ... 2.9) - {L.5) (4.4) . 4.4)
Deferred tax Habilities ........cooeveieeeveres ovecvris e (R2.4) - 17.2 (65.2) - 652)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities ucquired.... 2.814.6 - §93.7 3,133 {30.2) 3,683.1
NON-CONIROT I IMLETESE.. . ...ttt sicaes 2 heae st e reees —oeebas b aea b s 48 SE S e e oot 45.1) - (431}
L A T O OO O VSN 3,668.2 {30.2) 3,638.0
Consideration paid:
Cash COMSIGEIRIOM. oot e o e oot eeteeeea e et eaeesae e e eaa aaamhasma 2o eth et ot et rabeeasamsaees e aaenens 4 5783 - 41783
Completion accounts scttlyment adjustment (66.0) {19.8) {85.8)
Effect of movements in forcign cxchange. . - 0.9 0.9

444.1 11.3 455.4

DifTerence berween consideration 3nd pet 35Sets 20QUITEd ...oovrmrriieiierecrsceenn et e e

The difference between consideration and net assets acquired has been recognised within intangible assets in note I1.
Goodwitl is not expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.
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4 EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
2022 2021
€m

Exceptional items included in cost of sales:
Plant closure costs!'t ... ... et ettt e enean s . 19.0
Environmental €S2 e e - 121.6

- 140.6
Exceptional items included in administrative expenses:
Acquisition costs® ... e e SR TOUUTURN [ - 4.1
Reorganisation costs' 1.3 318

. (0.8)

5.1 41.1

E.xceptional items excluding finance costs 5.1 18L.7
Exceptional finance costs:
Charge on early setdement of debi'®t. . . ... R T 43 689
Total exceptional expenses 94 250.6

Exceptional cost of sales and administrative expenses:

3

(2

3)

In March 2021, the Group announced the clasure of the sulphur chernicals plant at Runcom, United Kingdom and
its withdrawal from the UK sulphur chemicals market. As a consequence, exceptionat provisions of €11.%2 million
were recognised to cover the cost of exiting cerain commercial agreements and the safe decommissioning of the
olant. A further exceptional charge of €2.1 miflion was incurted in respect of redundant stock write-downs.

Remediation activities are continuing at Wilhelmshaven, Germany following the closure of INOVYN’s mercury
cell room in 2013, In 2021, a further provision of €350 million was made it 2021 (o cover the extended operation
of the waste water trearmeat planc until the demolition of the cell room is completed.

In 2016, INOVYN’s mercury cellroom at Runcom, United Kingdom ceased production. Following a full review
and assessment of scope and the availability of rehable cost estimates an excepiional provision of €258 millien
was recognised in 2021 to caover the demolition of the cellroom, including the safe disposal of hazardous waste
and elemental mercury.

A €22 6 million provision was made by the Group’s site in Runcorn, United Kingdom in relation to the demolition
of the redundant Weston Point Power Station after managemeni approved plans in 202! for the removal of
asbestos from the structure. Moreover, a dismantling provision of €9.) million was recognised at Runcom in
relation to the aforementioned clasure of the sulphur chemicals plant.

The Group also approved plans in 2021 for the dismantling of the mercury cell room at Wilhelmshaven, Germany
and related infrastrucrure in 2021, after aimospheric and groundwater mercury levels exceeded permissible limits,
with total provisions of €25 0 million being recognised.

At the Group’s site at Tavaux, France, an exceptional charge of €18 5 mullion (€21 8 million of new provisions
less €33 million of grants receivable) was incurred in order to comply with the obligations of the EU Water
Directive, specifically in relation to an indusirial scale waste water treatment plant and the sealing of
sedimentation basins.

In addition to the above, further exceptional charges of €20.6 million (€23 4 million of new provisions less €2.8
million of grants receivable) were created in 2021 at the Group's sites at Lillo, Belgium, Zandvhet, Belgium;
Tavazzano, ltaly, Ferrara, ltaly, Tavaux, France; and Runcorn, United Kingdom for various remediation related
projects mostly associated with mercury contamination.

In 2020, certain subsidiaries of the Group acquired the Aromatics and Acetyls businesses from certain subsidiaries
of BP. Acquisition-related professional fees relating to legal, accounting, human resources, ndustry specialists,
environmental specialists and other consultancy costs were incurred in 2021
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EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS {continued)

Tn 2022, the Aromatics businesses incurred €1.3 million of exceptional charges in respect of manpower
reorganisations. i

Tn 2021, the Aromatics and Acetyls businesses incurred €37.8 million of exceptional charges in respect of
manpower reorganisations and various [T-related costs following the cessation of the IT transitional service
agreement with BP.

In 2022, the Aromatics businesses incurred €3.8 million of exceptional charges related to cancellation of projects

started under BP ownership and no longer expected to be pursued. The exceptional credit in 2021 of €0.8 million
relates to the release of provisions made in prior years for legal claims and commercial disputes.

Exceptional finance costs:

(6)

In 2022, exceptional finance costs of €4.3 million were incurred in relation to the write off of unamortised debt
issue costs associated with the Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 and the Term Loan A Facilities due 2025 which
were repaid 1 full on 31 May 2022,

In 2021, exceptional finance costs of €52.7 million relate to the write off of unamortised debt issue costs
associated with the Five-Year Euro Term Loan A Facility, the Bridge Facilities and the INOVYN Senior Secured
Term Loan B Facility that were repaid on 2% January 2021. In addition, there was a finance charge of €16.2
million from a related party in respect of funding provided for the BP acquisition.

There is no material effect on the tax charge due to exceptionat items.

5 OPERATING PROFIT
Included in operating profit are the following:
2022 2021
€m
Research and development costs expensed as incurred ... [ETUUT 327 426
Amortisation of intangible assets ................ et e et e 1294 1229
Expenses relating to short-term leases 60 5.4
Expenses relating to leases of low value assets 0.6 2.1
Expenses relating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the
18aSE HADILIEY ..o e e et 9.3 19.7
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment - within cost of
sales, distribution costs and administrative expenses
Owned assets - dEPTECIALIONM ..oooo oo e e e 4952 450.5
Right-of-use assets - deprecialion.. ... 87.7 88.7
5829 539.2
Owned aSSELS - ITIPAITTIETI .....\iioeiieiivsieieeveeesreeesiierssisen e sor ommesnseninrens e - 56.3
582.9 §95.5
2022 2021
€m
Auditor’s remuneration )
Audit of these financial STACMENTS ... i e 1.0 0.7
Amounts receivable by auditors and their associates in respect of:
Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 4.1 41
INON-AUATE SBTVICES 1veeeeri ittt eeieteere cee e 2 ee oo et oo a e s e e e r st e a et e e 0.2 0.9
53 5.7

The audit fee above includes the audit fee of €13,600 (2021: €10,300) for the parent Company.
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6 STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

The monthly average number of persons including directors employed by the Group (including any divestitures up to
the date of disposal and any acquisitions from the date of acquisition) during the year, analysed by category, was as

follows:

Research and development ... ... TS [P
Administration.. ... -
OPerations .. ...t e

The aggregate payrolt costs of these persons were as follows:

Wages and salaries ... e e e
S0CIAL SECUMLY COSS ..ottt ettt e et et e et em e e e eeaee e
Contributions to defined contribution plans ...
Items related to defined benefit plans:

Current SErvVICe COSE... ..ol e e e s
Past service credit...oocovenirioieieerieenenn JE PRSP PPN

7 DIRECTORS® REMUNERATION

Salaries and other short-term benefits .................. e e
Company contributions te money purchase schemes.
Other long-term benefifs.............c il

Highest paid director

Aggrepate emOIUMENTS ... it e e e

2022 2021
Number
238 289
1,673 1,795
6,711 7,120
8,622 9,204
2022 2421
Em
8423 821.6
118.6 1.7
449 391
217 249
- (0.2)
1,627.5 997.1
2022 2021
€m
1.6 1.6
1.6 1.6
2022 2021
€m
1.6 1.6

Ong director has benefits accrued under defined benefit schemes (2021 ong). No directors have benefits accruing

under defined contribution schemes {2021 nil).

54



INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

8 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

2022 2021
£m

Finance income
Interest receivable from banks and short-term deposits 72 1.9
Interest receivable from associated undertakings .................... 2.1 20
Other interest income ... . s 5.3 33
Total interest income on financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss .. 14.6 7.2
Net exchange MOVemEnts ... R 62.1 94.4
Unwind of diSCOUNE 0N ProviSIONS . ..., .ooooieer et 12.9 0.2
TOtAl FIMANCE IMCOME ..co.oesreareeresrermnsessassssrssesacns s iressrsnss s ssasarss s assressnns sevesssases 89.6 101.8
Finance costs
Interest payable on Term Loans ... 156.0 1195
Interest payable on Bridge Facilities ..............ccoooiiii - 83
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts 7.7 -
Interest payable on Senior Secured Notes and Senior NOIES ... 68.2 62.4
Interest payable on securitisation facility ........oooooi 39 s
Intercst payable on revolving credit facility - 1.5
[nterest payable to related parties ... 1.8 t.7
Amortisation of debt issue costs ... e 17.6 159
Interest payable on right-of-use assets... 12.4 1t 6
Net fair value loss on derivatives 20.8 40.8
fnterest expense on pension SChEMES ...t e .8 2.1
Borrowing costs capitalised in property, plant and equipment..................... amn -
Other INETEST EXDENSE ..oo.ov. oo coecveereiteesecaece e ettt raen s oo e U 4.8 5.8
Total finance costs before exceptional items ...... N 287.0 273.1
Exceptional finance costs (note 4) 43 689
Total finaNce COSIS .oiinirinrnrssiarscsssnss s snersrsnsnnees 2913 342.0

201.7 240.2

INEL TINANCE COSIS woerinenieeeeeeciecrrassssstararesearassanocsocsssanmmnss s ronsnssnsanarsmsasrnn tamnsanasassansn

The exchange movements reflect foreign exchange gains or losses associated with short term intra group funding.

Net gains and losses on financial instruments are included in note 25.
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9 TAX CHARGE

Taxation recognised in the consolidated income statement

Current tax expense

CUITENT TAX EXPETISE -ooviii it etieeece et e vee e e et e see et e rae et aann o am e aam s er e et s

Adjustments in respect of Prior YEArs ... s [P

Current tax €xpense
Deferred tax charge/(credity
Orngination and reversal of temporary differences

Change in tax rates applied to temporary differences

Adjustments in respect of prior years ... RS :
Deferred tax charge/{credit) (see note 14) ... ...

Total tax charge...

Recouneciliation of effective tax rate

Profit Defore LAXALIOM . ... oo e ettt oo e

Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 19.0% (2021- 19.0%) ... ...

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions

Non-deductible eXpenses ... e

Change in tax rale......coooeviveierieniieeiann,
Adjustments in respect of prior years ..

Non-taxable joint VERTUIE INCOMIE ... e

Total tax charge

2022 2021
€m
293.9 3481
27.1 4.2
3218 362.3
64.4 (0.7
(0.6) (27.9)
(7.1) (2.7)
56.7 (36.3)
371.7 326.0
2022 2021
€m
2,342.6 1,902.1
4451 3614
65.6 32.9
(133.7) 374
o (28.2)
200 6.5
(44.1) (87.9)
26.6 -
(0.8) 39
377.7 3260

The Finance Bill 2021 which increased the rate of corporation tax to 25% on profits over £250,000 from Apnl 2023
was substantively enacted on 24 May 2021. As a result, deferred taxes in the United Kingdom at 31 December 2022
are measured at 25%. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calcuiated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Taxation recognised in other comprehensive (expense)/income

Remeasurement of post-employment
benefit obligations net of taxes .. ... ...
Fair value lass on investments in equity
instruments designated as FVTOCT. ... ...
Rectassification of foreign exchange
translation difference on disposal of
subsidiaries ... RUTUT
Foreign exchange translation differences
of subsidiaries . ...

2022 26021
Gross Tax Net Gross Tax Net
€m

(35.6) 6.8 (28.8) 54 8 (9-6) 452
(0.4} - (0.4) - - -
9.8 - 9.3 - - -
(31.0) - (31.0) 202.9 - 2029
(17.2) 6.8 (70.4) 257.7 9.6) 248.1
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and
equipment,
fixtures and

fittings, and Assets under Right-of-
Land Buildings vehicles construction  use assets Total
€m
Cost
At 1 January 2021, 2674 403.4 4.027.8 7929 3943 5,885.8
Additions ... - 51 93.3 647.5 489 794 8
Lease modifications and reassessments.......... - - - - 239 239
Reclassification ..., 2.7 47.2 3752 (440.1) - A{15.00
Aborted capital expenditure - - - (1.2) - (1.2)
Early termination of right-of-use assets.. - - - - [(tX%)} [((R%)]
Disposals ... et (5.0) (2.4) (357.5) - (16.5) (381.4)
Effects of movements in fureign exchange ... 17.4 10.6 186.5 61.7 15.5 291.7
AL 31 December 2021 .....ccvirinrinmmneessinironens 282.5 463.9 4,325.3 1,060.8 465.2 6,597.7
Additions ... - 30.5 6l16.4 2268 40.5 9142
Lease modifications and reassessments.......... - - - - 401 40t
Reclassification .................... R UTTUR 26.0 53.4 2714 (343.8) 35 10.5
Aborted capital expenditure ... - - - (16.9) - (16.9)
Disposals ..oooooooeoo (19 0.3) (82.2) ; (27.7) (12,0
Business disposal...........cocooioivieienccciinennn {38.4) (11.6) (37.0) (530.3) (7.1) {624.4)
Effects of movements in foreign exchange ... 10.8 {(6.5) (339 20.0 6.2 3.4
At 31 December 2022 ...........coicciciiiiiriannennee 27%9.0 529.4 _5,060.0 416.6 520.7 6,805.7
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment
At | January 2021 ........... ... [ESUR 1.8 108.5 1,150.5 0.3 915 1,352.6
Depreciation charge for the year .. 1.7 226 426.2 - 88.7 539.2
Impairment charge for the year ...................... 1.5 - 54.8 - - 56.3
Reclassification ... 0.1 Q3 (9.4) (0.3) - (9.3)
DHSPOSANS ..o e - (1.7) (356.7) - (16.5) (374.9)
Effects of movements in forgign exchange ... 0.2 29 538 - 4.7 61.6
At 31 December 2021 ...t 53 132.6 L319.2 - 168.4 1,625.5
Depreciation charge for the year ..................... 2.0 241 469.1 - 87.7 5829
Reclassification ....... vt e - 6.1 29 - (0.9) 8.1
Disposals (1.5) (0.2) (89.0Y - (27.3) {118.0)
Business disposal........,...c.ccocoois v (0.5} (3.9) {16.3) - 2.9} {23.6}
Effects of movements in foreign exchange ... - 05 4.9 - 26 80
At 31 December 2022 o....coeemrererecans N 53 159.2  1,690.8 - 2276 2,082.9
Net book value
At 31 December 2021 277.2 331.3 3,006.1 1,060.8 296.8 49722
At 31 December 2022 ...conrrrccinne . 273.7 370.2 3,369.2 416.6 293.1 4,722.8
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1¢ PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Property, plant and equipment under construction

in the year ended 3! December 2022, the Group acquired €226.8 million of property, plant and equipment under
construction.

In the Scyrolution business, the most significant expenditures in 2022 related to a new 600 kiloton ABS facility at
Ningbo, China and a newiy built ESPN plant in the US. In addition, there were planned turnarounds at the SM plant
in Samnia, Canada.

In the INEOS Inovyn business, the most significant expenditures consisted of a SPVC capacity expansion project at
Jemeppe, a new mechanical vapor recompression salt plant at Tavaux, a brine borehole drilling program at Northwich
and general SHE/sustenance expenditures. There were also planned wmaround events of the chlor-alkali and VCM
assets at Grenland i Norway and the cracker at Feyzin, France.

In the Acetyls business, the most significant capital expenditure project related to the mmaround of the A5 acetic acid
plant at Hull, U.K.

In the Arornatics business, the most significant expenditures were mainly on sustenance and safety compliance work
to keep the assets running safely and in line with regulatory requirements. In addition, capital expenditures were
incurred on an expansion project in Europe

Investments in property, plant and equipment in the year ended 31 December 2021 mainly related to the new ASA
Specialties plant at Bayport, US, a new 600 kilo ton ABS facility at Ningbo, China and a 78 kilo ton SPVC capacity
expansion project at Jemeppe, Belgium

Business disposal

The disposa! of INEOS Styrolution India Limited in November 2022 resulted in the disposal of property, plant and
equipment of €39.9 million (see note 3). The transfer of 50% of the shareholding in INEOS Styrolution Advanced
Maierials (Ningbo) Pre Limited 1o Sinopec in December 2022 resulted in the disposal of property, plant and equipment
of €560.9 milion, the majority of which were assets under construction in relation o a new 60¢ kiloton ABS facility
at Ningbo, China (sec note 3).

Aborted capital expendine

The proposed technology upgrade and modernization of one of the units of the Aromatics plant in Zhuhai, China was
aborted due to poor economics of the project.

Impairment charge in prior vear

Impairment charges in the prior year were mainly related to the closure of the the sulphur chemicals plant in Runcomn,
United Kingdom, abortion of a project 10 investigate the economic viability of a cellroom conversion utilising
membrane technology at Martorell, Spain and the write-down of basic engineering works and equipment associated
with an own-build new steam generator unit in Bayport, US.
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10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Right-of-use assets
Plant and equipment,

fixtures and fittings,

Land Buildings and vehicles Total
€m

At | January 2021 ... e 10.2 87.1 297.0 3943
Additions ... e - 1.6 47.3 48.9
Lease modifications and remecasurements ........... . 29 21.0 239
Early termination of right-of-use assets .............. - - 0.9) (0.9}
DiISPOsals .o - (1.3) (15.2) (16.5)
Effects of movement in foreign exchange ............ 0.3 1.9 13.3 15.5
At 31 December 2021 .....oeooveeerererersvennmnenonsssesinns 10.5 92.2 362.5 465.2
Additions ... - 35 370 40.5
Lease modifications and remeasurements ............ 51 0.7 343 40.1
Reclassification ..., - - 35 3.5
DiSposals ..o - 3.3 (24.4) (27.7
Business disposal..........ccoooiiiiin - (1.0) (6.1) 7.1
Effects of movement in foreign exchange ........_.. (0.3) 0.4 6.1 6.2
At 31 December 2022 ... 153 92.5 4129 520.7
At | January 2021 .. 0.8 13.4 77.3 91.5
Depreciation charge for the year 0.5 1.7 805 88.7
DHSPOSALS ....oevvooveeoeee oot - (1.3) (15.2) {(16.5)
Effects of movement in foreign exchange............ - 0.6 4.1 4.7
At 31 December 2021 ......ooovriveeeeencunienne t.3 20.4 146.7 168.4
Depreciation charge for the year 0.7 8.0 75%.0 87.7
Reclassification ... o - - (0.9) (0.9)
DHSPOSALS ..o e - (3.0) (24.3) (27.3)
Business disposal. ... - {0.6) 2.3 29
Effects of movement in foreign exchange........... - 0.3 2.3 2.6
At 31 December 2022 ... 2.0 25.1 200.5 227.6
Net book value

AC31 December 2021 ... 9.2 7i.8 2158 296.8
AU 31 December 2022 .o..vovecevereecesevsnasnsresssasons 13.3 67.4 2124 293.1

The Group mainiy leases tanks, railcars, vessels, storage and transportation infrastructure, machinery, production
buildings, administrative offices, motor vehicles and land, which are classified as right-of-use assets. Rental contracts
arc usually made for periods between 1 to 20 years, but may also include extension options, Extension options are
included only if the lease term is reasonably certain to be extended and the decision of extending is mainly up to the
Group (as a lessee).

Sce note 18 for lease obligations related to right-of-use assets.
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I3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intellectual  Envirea-
Customer property mental  Licence
Goodwill _relationships_ rights certificates  fees Other __Total
€m

Cost
Ap 1 January 2020 ... 1.124.7 1,026.4 432.5 36.7 27.8 1.0 2,708
ACQUISILIONS. .o i1.3 - - - - - i3
Reclassifications . - - (0.6) - 18 - 32
AddIONS ..o . - - 1.5 0.3 0.6 1.1 3s
Disposals ..o - - (22.1) (25.2) - - (47.3)
Effect of movemerits in foreign

exchange........oovcveciii i 57.7 44 i 24.0 G6 9.5 - 126.9
At 31 December 2021 1,193.7 1,070.5 485.3 12.4 33 1.1 2,805.7
Business disposal ................... (38.0) (40.1) (19.4) (0.7) - - (58.2)
Additions - - 2.5 1.7 0.3 1.2 75.7
Disposals - - - (26.8) (0.2} - (27.0)
Effect of movements in foreign

exchange. ... et 490 20.! 13.3 0.4 0.3 - B3
At 31 December 2022.............. 1,204.7 1,050.5 481.7 57.0 331 123 12,8393
Accumulated amortisation
and impairment
At | January 202).......... - 278.2 124.0 - 218 4.4 428.4
Amartisation for the year. . - 81.0 382 - 2.5 1.2 122.9
Disposals .....ooooviiiveier e - - (22.1) - - - {22.1)
Effect of movements in foreigh

exchange. ..o - 8.0 312 0.1 - 113
At 31 December 2021.. - 367.2 143.3 - 24.4 5.6 540.5
Amortisation for the year. - 338 421 0.1 2.1 1.3 129.4
Disposals ..o . - - - - {0.2) - 0.2y
Business disposal... . - (17.5) (7.7 (0.2) - - (25.4)
tffect of movemens in foreign

exchange.............. - 5.7 2.1 - Q.1 - 79
At 31 December 2022.............. - 439.2 179.8 0-1) 264 _ 69 _ 6522
Net book value
At 31 December 2020 ... 1,193.7 703.3 342.0 124 8.3 5.5  2,2652
At 31 December 2022.............. 1,204.7 611.3 301.9 57.1 6.7 54 2,187.1

Other intangible assets mainly relate to development costs, purchases for pipeline access righis and electricity grid

capacity fees.

Separable intangible assets for custamer relationships represent value attributed to customer relationships arising from
contractual rights and non-contractual relationships and for intellectual property value mainiy in relation to the right
to use patents. Those were recognised as part of acquisitions in Styrolution as wel! as part of the acquisition of the
Aromatics and Acetyls businesses. The remaining customer life or the acquired customer relationships range berween
2 and 16 years and for the acquired intellectual property rights the remaining useful lives range between 6 and 15

years.
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11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Environmental certificates are in respect of costs associated with the purchase of EU and UK Emissions Trading
Scheme allowances and the nitrogen oxides emission scheme in the US. The emissions allowances are subjcct to
impairment under the indefinite lived intangible asset impairment model.

Business disposal

The disposal of INLOS Suytotution India Limited in November 2022 resuited in the disposal of intangible assets of
€72.2 million, of which €38.0 million related to goodwill (see note 3). The transfer of 50% of the shareholding in
INEQS Styrolution Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Limited to Sinopec in December 2022 resulted in the disposal
of intangibles assets of €0.6 milion (see note 3).

Amortisation

The amortisation charge is recognised in administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement.
Goodwill impairment testing

Goodwill has been allocated to cash generating units (“CGUSs™) or groups of cash generating units as follows:

2022 2021
€m

Polymers EMEA 2522 2822
Polymers Asia 61.6 98.6
Polymers Americas 196.0 184.5
Styrene Monomer......ccocoeviie BRSO P USRS UU RO PRSPPI 185.9 178.1
Styroiution Total....c..occevvviiviricorisrnnan iesrssersst b et sra b anne sene s e 695.7 713.4
Aromatics . 134.4 120.2
Acetyls......... 374.6 360.1

1,204.7 1,193.7

The Polymers EMEA, Polymers Asia, Polymers Americas and Styrene Monomer CGU’s refate to the Styrolution
business.

No impairment charge has been recorded in these financial statements as a result of the annual impaiment test,

For the Styrolution business” CGUs, the Group determined the recoverable amount based on value in use. The
recoverable amount is calculated on a long-term business plan for the CGUs with a detailed planning period of three
years and a consistent terminal growth rate of 0.5% for each unit for the period thereafter. The key assumption on
which management based its cash flow projection is EBITDA before exceptionals over the detailed three year planning
period, which is seen as the most important performance indicator and the basis for cash flow estimates used to
determine the value in use. The terminal growth rate of 0.5% reflects the expecled economic growth rates of countries
in which the Group is operating. The main assumpticns for the preparation of the three-year-business plan are the
economic growth developments in the main customer regions and industnes of the Styrolution business. These
agsumptions are based on external market data as well as internal assessments. The expected demand that is denived
from the growth assumptions is compared with the supply balance of its product groups.
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11 INTANCGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

For the acquired Aromatics and Acetyls businesses, the acquisition was negotiated in total and the consideration was
reviewed in the context of the whole transaction. The Aromatics and Acetyls businesses reports separately to the
Group, and decisions around resource allocation and monitoring of performance consider the Acetyls and Aromatics
businesses separately. Each business has its own independent management structure. The carrying amount of goodwitl
resulting from the acquisition has thercfore been allocated between the Acetyls and Aromatics segments.

For the Acetyls and Aromatics businesses CGU’s , the recoverable amount, being value in use, is cajcufated on a long-
term business plan for the CGUs with a detaited planning period of three years and a terminal value which represents
the mid-cycle performance on which a consisient terminal growth rate of 2.0% is apphed for the periods thereafier.
The terminal growth rate of 2.0% represents the average expected growth rates in the countries in which the Group is
operating. The main assumptions for the preparation of the three-year business plans are the production volumes and
margins, and dividend income from the joint ventures. The margin assumptions are based on externa) market data as
well as internal assessments. The volume assumptlions are based on historical run rates of the assets and approved
ircrease of praduction projects.

None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for ingome tax purposes. The following discount rates were applied
per cash generating unit to determine the cash flow projection before taxes:

Polymers Polymers Polymers Styrene
EMEA Asia Americas Monomer Aromatics Acetyls
Forecast period................ 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years
Growth rate . 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 2% 2%
Post-tax dlscoum rate 7.9% 7.9% 7.9% 79% 79%97% 7.7%-167%

Sensitivity analysis on the recoverable amount was performed based on a 10% increase in the discount rate, a 10%
decrease to the growth rate and a 10% decrease in the gross margin, all of which are considered a reasonable possible
change in estimate. Neither of these changes resulted in the recoverable amount being lower than the carrying amount
except for the Hull CGU in the Acetyls business and the Geel CGU in the Aromatics business.

These rwo CGUSs have limited headroom and as a result any change in assumption can result in the recoverable amount
being lower than the carrying amount. Management has considered the assumptions used te determine the recoverable
amount and considered that those assumptions are conservative especially around the price curve used for cnergy;
moreover the current forecasts do not take into account future developments (o improve the economics of the plants.
On this basis, the absence of headroom, in the case of Hull CGU, or the limited headroom, in the case of Geel CGU,
is not considered as an indicator that an impairment loss 15 required. The margin assumptions ar¢ one of the key
assumption in determining the recoverable amount of each CGU. These margin assumptions are developed by
managemcnt based on external market data as well as intemnal assessments and require a significant amount of
judgement. The Group has estimated that a 10% reduction in margin could give raise to an impairment of
approximately €211.3 million for the Hull CGU and could reduce the headroem to nil for the Geel CGU.
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12 INVESTMENTS
12(a)

INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

Investiments in subsidiary undertakings

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has the following investments in subsidiaries:

Company

Country of

incorporation Principal acdvity

INEOS Quattro Financing Limued®
INEOS Quattro Finance | plc”
INEOS Quattro Finance 2 plc
TNEOS Styrolution Finance GmbH™®
INEOS Styrolution Holding GmbH™

MNEDS Etyrolotion hivesunent GrbH

INEOS Styrolution America LLC

TNEOS Styrolution Belgium NV

INEQS Styrofution Belgium Services bvba
INEOS Styrolution Canada Lid

MNEQS Styrolution (China) (nvestment Co. Lid

MNEOQOS Styrolution do Brasil Polimeros Ltda

INEOS Styroluuon Hong Keng Company Limited.

INEOS Styrolution Europe GmbH.
INEOS Siyrolution France SAS.

INEOS Styrolution France Services SAS.
fNEOS Styrolution Group GmbH

INEQS Styrotution Theria § L.
[INEOS Styrolution Switzerland SA.

TNEQS Styrolutton lalia S.r.L.

INEOS Styrolution Kimyasal Urinler Ticaret
Limited Sirkeni

INEOQOS Styrolution Koin GmbH

INEQS Styrolution Korea Lid.

KR Copolymer Co. Lid.

TNEOS Styrolution Ludwigshalfen GmbH..
INEOQS Styrolution Mexicana, § A. de C.V
INEOQS Styrolution Netherlands B.V.
MEOS Styralution OOQ.

INEOS Styrofution Poland Sp. z 0.0

INEOQS Styrolution Polymers (Foshan) Co Lid

UK

UK

UK
Germany
Germany

Germany

usa
Belgium
Belgium
Canada
China
Brazil
Hong Kong
Germany
France

France

Germany
Spain
Switzerland
ltaly
Turkey
Germany
South Korea
South Korea
Germany
Mexico
Netherlands

o Russia

Poland

China

Class of Registered
shares Ownership  Ownership office
held 2022 2021 reference
Holding company Ordinary L00% 100% {1
Financing company Ordinary 100% 100% (4]
Financing company Ordinary 100% 100% (N
Holding compary Ordinary 100% 100% (2)
Holding company Ordinary - 100% Bl
Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% 2)
Manufacture of styrene
menomer and polymers, Members
selling, distribution interest 100% 100% ()]
Munufacture of styrene
monomer and polymers Ordinary 100% 100% 4)
Sales office Ordinary {0G% 100% (5)
Manufacture of styrene
monomer Common 100% 100% (6)
Registered
Financing company capital 100% 100% %]
Equity
Sales office IOrdinary 100% 100% [¢3]
Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% (33)
Distribution company Ordinary 100% 100% )
Manufacture of poiymers Ordinary 100% 100% [q1)
Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% {(n
Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (2)
Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% (12)
Distribution company Ordinary 100% 100% (14)
Salcs office Ordinary 100% 100% (135
Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% {16}
Manufacture of polymers Ordinary 100% 100% (n
Manufacture of polymers Common 0% 100% (18)
Manufacture of K-Resin Ordinary 100% 100% (19
Manufacture of polymers Ordinary 100% 100% ()
Manuvfacture of polymers Ordinary 100% 100% {20)
Salcs office Ordinary 100% 100% 210
Sales olTice Charter L00% 100% 22
—_— = capital ——— T —— — T e e
Sales office Ordinary 100% [90% (23)
Manufacture of polymers  LoEiered ana, L00% 29

capital
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12 INVESTMENTS (continued)
12¢a) Invest 15 in subsidiary undertakings (continued)
Class of Registered
Country of shares Ownership  Ownership office
Company incorporation Principal activity heid 2022 2021 reference
INEOS Styroiution Polymers (Ningbe) Co. Lid. China Manufacture of palymers Rccf‘:;.;r'cd 100% 100% (25)
INEOS Styrolution Advanced Materiats (Ningho) Pte R Manufacture of ABS Registered
Lid ‘¢ China (undcr construction} fapiial 0% 100% (26)
. i Registered o
INEOS Styrolunon Polymers (Shanghai) Co. Lud, China Sales office capita! 100% 100% h
INEQS Styrolution Schwarzhcide GmbH Germany Mapufaciure of polymers  Ordinary 100% 100% {36)
INEOS Styrolution APAC Pte Ltd. Singapare Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% (1)
INEOS Styrolution UK Limited.”™ UK Salcs office Ordinary 100% 100% €3]
INEOS Styralution US Holding LLC. Usa Holding company “:;e":i’:(’ 100% 100% et
INEOS Styrotution Verwaliungsgesellschaft mbH. Germany Financing company Ordinary 100% 100% 2)
NEQS Styroluiion {Thaifand} Co.. Lid. Thaifand Manufacture of polymers Ordinary (00% 100% (34)
. . . Charnter

INEOS Styrolution Vietnam Co,, Lid. Vietnam Sales office Capntal t00%% 100% (3%)
Dewtsche Bank Mexico F/1787 Sryrolution. Mexico Sccuntisation vehicle nla n/z nla 37
INEOS S-lyraluxion Receivables Finance Designated . . )
Activity Cormpany. frcland Sccuritisation vehicle ala nla n/a (51}
NEGQS Quactro Holdings UK Limiced UK Holding comgpany Ordinary 100% 160% ({5

I Production of acetic acid . . .
INEOS Acery!s UK Limited UK and other acetyls products Ordinary 100% 100% (0
MNEOS Accty!s Intemational Limited™ UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (1
INEQS US Petrochem L1L.C usa Holding company Ordinary 100% 100%, {3)

Production of purified
INEQS US Chemicals Company UsA terephihalic actd and Commeon 100% 100% [8))]
paraxylene

INEQS 179 Limited™ UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% [43]
INEOS Aromatics and Acctyls Trading {Shanghai) . Repisiered a
Company Limited China Sales office capital 100% 100% 29
INEOS Acetyls Japan KK Japan Sales oftice Ordinary 100% 100% (36)
INEOS Acetyls Investments Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (43]
INEQOS Aromatics Asia Limited Hong Kong Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% 3y
INEOS Acetyils (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Mataysia Seles office Ordinary 100% 1G0% (68}
TNEOS Acetyls (Korea) Limited™ UK Holding company Ordipary 100% 100% )
INEOS Acetyls Americas Limited”™ UK Holding company Ordinary {00% 100% [
TNEOS Aromatics Holdings Limited =* UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% [
™NEOQS Aromatics Limited UK Sales company Ordinary 100% 100%, (1)
INEOS World-Wide Techmical Services Limited ™ UK Licensing services Ordinary 100% 100% (0
INEQS Aromatics Holding Company USA Holding company Commaon 160% 100% (3)
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12 INVESTMENTS (continned)

12(a) Investments in subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Company

a8y

Class of Registered
Country of shares Ownership  QOwnership office
incorporation Principal activity € reference
pal activi held 2022 2021 fi
Production of purified Member
INEQS Zhuhai Chemical Company Limited!® China terephthalic acid and intcrost 41.90% 91.90% {66)
paraxyicne tter
[INEOS Aromatics Indonesia Holdings Ltd USA Holding company Common 100% 100% {64)
Production of purified :
INEQS Aromatics Belgium NV Belgivm terephthalic acid and Ordinary 100% 100% [e2}]
paraxylene
INEOS Aromatics Belgium Holdings LLC USA Holding company Common 100% 100% 3
: Production of purified
PT INEQS Aromatics Indonesia Indonesia terephthalic acid and Ordinary 100% 100% (4]
paraxylene
PT INEQS Aromatics Trading Indonesia'®! Indonesia Trading company Ordinary 100% 100% (76)
NOVYN Limited® UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
INGVYN Holdings Limitcd® UK Holding comparny Ordinary 1002 100% (38
[NOVYN Finance Limited UK Hoelding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
TNOVYN Group Treasury Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
MNOVYN Europe Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
Manufacture of chemicals . o 5
MNOVYN Norge AS Norway Ordinary 100% 100% (3N
and PVC
INOVYN Sverige AB Sweden Manufacture of chemicals ) o 100% 100% (40}
and PVC
TNEOS ChlorVinyls Holdings BV Netherlands Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% {4H)
INOVYN Newton Aycliffe Limiled UK Nan-trading Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
INEQS Newton Aychiffe Trustees Limited UK Pension trustee Ordinary 100% 100% (3R)
INOVYN Services Limited UK Scrvice company Ordinary 100% 100% 3%
INOVYN Enterprises Limited UK Extmction and supply of -y 100% 100% (38)
bnne and water
INOVYN ChlerVinyis Holdings Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (&L}
INOVYN Newca 2 Limited UK Helding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38
INOVYN ChlarVinyls Limited UK Manufac::;e:\l:(c:hemlcals Ordimary 109% L00% on
A Manufacture of salt and . o
IMEOS Enerpnses Groyp Limited UK sulphur chemicals Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
Keuper Gas Storage Limited UK Gas storage Ordinary 100% 100%: 3%)
INEOS Chlor Atlantik GmbH Germany Non-trading Ordinary 100% t00% (42)
NOVYN Americas [nc UsA Purchase and resale of (. 100% 100% @3)
chemicals
NOVYN Sales Intemational Limuted'®' UK Non-trading Ordinary 100% 100% 38
TNEQS Chlur Trustees Limited UK Pension trustee Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
TTTTINEOS Vinyls UK Lty T T TTUTOK 7T Nonetrading | Ordinary | 100% 100%
MNEQS Vinyis GmbH & Co KG Germany Holdirig company Ordinary 10G% 100% (42}
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED

31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

12 INVESTMENTS (continued)
f2¢(a}  Investments in subsidiary undertakings (continued)
Class af Registered
Country of shares Ownership  Ownership office
Company incorporation Principal activity held 2022 2021 reference
MOVYN Schkapau GmbH Germany Non trading Ordinary 100% 100% (423
INOVYN Sales GmbH Germany Non trading Ordinary 100% 100% 42
EVC Pension Trustees Lieited UK Pcnsion trusice Ordinary 100% {00% 38y
MNOVYN Energy Limuled UK Haolding company Ordinary 100% 100% (&L
Kerling Newco | Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 106% {00% [RE 4]
Kerling Newco 2 Limited UK Holding campany Ordinary 100% 100% (3%)
INOVYN Deutschland GmbH Germany M“"”f”cg:f]f\f,éh“"““'s Ordinary 100% 100% @D
NOVYN Espana S.L. Spain Manufacture of chemicals ¢y oy 100% 100% (44
and PVC
NOVYN Qsterrcich GmbH™. Auslria Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% {45)
TNOVYN Belgium SA. Belgium Manufacture of chemicals Ordinary L00% 100% {46)
INOVYN Olefines France SAS. France Oper"'f"mfkf;’h’ ne  oedinary 100% 100% “n
{INOVYN Portugal Lda Portugal Sales office Ordinary 1G0% 130% (48}
TNOVYN Trade Services SA Belgium Purchase and resule of (L 100% 100% (46)
chemicals
INOVYN Manufacturing Belgium SA Belgium M“"“f“:f;v'éh”"“““ Ordinary 100% 100% {a6)
INOVYN France SAS France Manufacture of chlorine ¢, . 100% 100% (47)
products
MNOVYN [wha Sp.A. lualy Commercial services Ordmary 100% 100% 45
INOVYN Produzigne Jialia S.p. A haly Manulacture of chemicals  Ordinary 100% 100% (50
MNOVYN Quimica Espana S.L. Spain Wasle treatment Ordinary L00% 100% (44)
Vinyloop Ferrara S.p. A™ tealy PV Reeyciing Ordenary 106% 100% (49
Cimied
TTE Training Limited UK Training company by 190% 100% (32)
Guarantee
Limted
TTE Appeenticeship Trining Agency Limited. UK Apprenticeship company by 180% 100% (52}
Guarantee
INEOS Norway Finance Ireland Limiied Ireland Securitisation vehicle n/a nfa nfa 3n
# Shares held directly by INEOS Quatiro Holdings Limited. Al other subsidianes listed are held indirecdy
(a} In the process of being liquidated
{b) On 22 Aprii 2022, the Group sold part of its 75% share i INEQS Styrolution India Limited. This resubted in a reduction of the ownership from

{€)

)

(e)
i

(@)
(hi

'y

75.0% 10 61.2%. On 17 November 2022, the Group sold its remaining shareholding interest of 61.2% to Shiva Performance Materais Pie Lid.
Profit attnbutabie to the non-controiling interest is €8.4 million {2021 profii of €1G.7 milhon) Accumulated non-controliing interests are €nil
{2021 €19.6 oullion), )
Effective on 28 Deeember 2022, the Group sold 50% of its 100% sharc in TNEOS Styroluton Sinopee Advanced Matcrials (Ningbo) Pic Lid.
to China Petroleumn & Chemical Corporation establishing a joint venture berween the Group and Sinopec, each holding 50% share 1n the
registored capital of the invesice, Sec also note 12{b}.

Portion of ownership interests held by non-controlling interests is 8.1%. Loss attnbutable to the non-controlling interest is €1 4 million (2021
€3.1 milhon). Accumulated non-conwrolling interests are €43.0 ulbon (2021, €46.6 mullion).

Company incorporated on 11 August 20672

Portion of ownership interests held by non-controlling interests is 3.1%. Profit attributable 10 the non-comrolling interest 1s €37 6 millon
(2021. €22.7 millien}. Atcurnulated non-controlling interests are €23.1 milivon (2021: €5.7 milhon)

Dissolved in January 2023 following liquidation

Effcctive from | lanuary 2022, INEOS Styrolution Holding GmbH was merged it INEOS Styrolution lnvestment GmbH.

Entities claiming exemption from audit under section 479A Companies Act 2006
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12 INVESTMENTS (continued)
12¢b)  Investments in eguity-accounted investees, joint operations and other investments
Details of the Group’s investments in equity-accounted investees. joint operations and other investments:
Country of Class/ Registered
registration or percentage of office
lavestment incgrparation Principal activity shares held reference
Asseciated undertzkings:
Thermal Power Station
INEOS Runcom (TPS) Holdings Limited UK operator Ordinary/ 60%1! {38)
Joint ventures:
Production of acetic acid
and other acetyls
INEDS PCG Acetyls Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia products Ordinary/ 70% (67)
Production of acetic acid
and other aceryls Member interest/
Yangtze River Acctyls Co. Lid China products 51% (69)
Production of acetic acid
snd other acetyls Ordinary/
LOTTE INEOS Cheoucal Co. Lid Korca products 50.94% (70)
Production of acetic acid
) and other acetyls
Formosa INEQS Chemicals Corp Taiwan products Comman/50% (73)
Production of acetic acid
and ather acctyls Member interest/
INEOS YPC Acetyls Company (Nanjing} Lid China products 50% {14}
Atlas Mcthanol Company Unlimited Trinidad Mecthanol praducticn Qrdinary/36.9% (75}
Production of purified
China Amcrican Petrochemical Company Lid Taiwan erephthalic acid Ordinary/61.36% (65)
INEQS Styrofution Sinopec Advanced Materials (NMingbo) Lid.™ Register capital/
(prev: INEOS Styrolution Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Lid) China Manufacturing of ABS 50% (26)
Joint operations:
Runcom MCP Limited UK Ccll room operator Ordinary/ 50% (38)
Brine solukton mining
GIE Cancel-Bresse France serviges Crdinary/ 30% {59}
Other investments:
Manufacture of polyester
Akra Polyester 5A de CV Mexico filaments and polymers Ordinary/6.65% (28)
Production of purified Ordinary
Tereftaltos Mexicanos SA de CV Mexico terephihalic acid B/3.55% (32}
IndustriET AS Norway Emergy consultancy Ordinaryf {2.5% (33)
Plastic waste
Sociedad Espanola de Materiales Plasticos SEMAP S.A Spain management Ordinary/8% (54)
Societe Intercommunale D' Amenagement et d'Equipement Economic development
Economique Belgium of province of Namur Ordinary/0.17% (55)
Plastic recyching
BEV GmbH Germany association Ordinary/2.0% (56)
[ndustrins Réddningsyinst | Stenungsund AB Sweden Fire and rescue service Ordinary/25.0% (57)
PVC technology
API PVC - u. Umwecltberatung GesmbH Austria solutions Ordinary/73 2% (58)
Sustainable production
Haillbar Kemi | Stenungsund Sweden association Ordinary/20 0% {60}
Energy For Growth Societa’ Consortile A Responsabilita
Limuata Naly Encrgy consortium Ordinary/7.3% (61)
Power to Mcthanol Sustamnable methanol
Antwerp BV, Belgium production consartium Ordinary/14 3% (62}
Drecarbonisation
Consorzio Polo TecnologicoMagona  _ __ _ . I _ltaly — . consortium . ___ Ordinary/6.8% —{63)-
n The Group owns shares entitling st to 60% of the voting rights but only 25% of the economic benefits

(2} Sce footnote {c) to note 12(a).
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12 INVESTMENTS (continued)

12(b)  Investments in equity-accounted investees, joint operations and other investments

None of the above other investments are heid directly by INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited.

Investments in associated undertakings, joint ventures and other investments

Equity-
Joint Associated accounted Other .
ventures undertakings investees investments Total
€m

At 1 January 2021 .. 1,148.4 149 1,i63.3 173 1,180.6
Share of retained eamings . 462.5 (0.5) 462.0 - 462.0
AdGitions ... ... e - - - 0.7 0.7
Dividends received.. ... ...l (188.7) - ([88.7) - (188.7)
[mpairments.............. R [RUP - - - {1.0) (1.0)
Effect of movements in exchange rates 94 4 0.1} 943 1.1 @54
At 31 December 2021 .ccienecnnaen. 1,516.6 14.3 1,530.9 18.1 1,54%.0
Share of retained eamings................... 2320 1.6 233.6 - 2336
Additions {see Note 3)....cc..oooovvcennn. 443} - 443.1 - 4431
Rec)assification .......o.ccooccevoveevveeevene, (33.8) - {33.8) (3.2) (37.0)
Dividends received..........cocoevviernnnen. (401.4) - (401 .4) - (401.4)
Loss on disposal of equity ac

investmentsﬁ?.s..‘..(.’..f.c.‘.,“.t.}.l_ aCOU"“’«d (20.0) ) (2007 (6.6) (26.6)
Effect of movements in exchange rates 479 0.3 48.2 LS 49.7
At 31 December 2022 .....oevrrueerreernes 1,784.4 16.2 1,800.6 9.8 18104
Addition

In December 2022, the Group's subsidiary, INEOS Styrolution APAC Pre. Limited, entered into an agreement to
transfer 50% of its shareholding in TINEQS Styrolution Advances Materials (Ningbo) Pte Limited to China Petroleum
& Chemical Corporation. As a result, the Group loss control but retained joint control. The retained 50% interest in
the business was fair valued at the date of the transaction (se¢ note 3).

Reclassification

In November 2022, the Group made 2 non-cash exchange for its current interest in Tricoya UK Limited (30% interest)
and in Tricoya Technologies Limited (9% interest) for shares in Accsys Technologies Plc. This share exchange
resulted in an wnpairment of €26.6 million and a reclassification from joint ventures and other investmments of
respectively €3 million and €3.2 million to other financial assets (see note 13).

The Group provided an ABS technology license service ta the newly acquired INEOS Styrolution Sinopec Advanced

Matenals (Ningbo) Limited joint-venture. A reclassification of €30.8 million was made to eliminate the Group’s share
of royalty revenue recognised in the current year.
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12 INVESTMENTS (continued)

12(b)  Investments in equity-accounted investees, joint operations and other investments

Summarised balance sheer and income statement

Set out below is the summarised financial information of the Group’s material joint ventures as at 31 December 202!

and 2022.
2022
INEOS
Styrolulion
LOTTF. Formesa Vang(re INEOS YPC Singpec
Atlus Mcthanol INEOS INEOS PCG INEOS River Aceryls TAcoyw 4 dvanced
Company Chemical Co. Acctyls Sdn. Chemicals Acetyls Company K Matcrials
Unlimited Ltd Bhd. Corp Co. Lid (Nunjing) Lid__Limited™  (Ningta) kid. Tutal
€m

Current assets................... 642 1991 68.5 85.3 454 327 - 78.3 573.5
Neon-current assets............ 112.8 451.0 154.8 196.3 2007 108.6 - 646.1 1,790.3
Current liabilities ............. (15.1) 90.1) (13.3) (11.5) (4.6) (10.5) - (76.5) (?71.6)
Non current liabilities ... {50.8) {394) (29.3) (2.3) (0.4) (0.1) - {235.9) (357.8)
Net assets...onviiiecsninne 111.1 520.6 180.7 267.8 161.1 130.7 - 4124 1,784.4
Other operating revenue... 1854  1,190.6 159.6 1159 1394 61.2 - - 1,352.1
Operating expenses........... (116.3) (995 .8} (142.2)  (101.3) (116.8) (59.4)  (0.2) - (1,532.2)
Interest expenses............. 2.7 1.3 (1.0) (0.0) 0.9 (0.4) - - 1.9
Income tax expenses ...._... (23.2) (54.4) (5.6) (2.8) 0.6 (0.6) - . {86.0)
Total| profit for the year.

43.2 141.7 10.8 11.6 24.1 0.8 0.2) - 232.0
Dividend received........... 53.2 161.6 34.7 390  58.1 54.8 - - 4014

(a) EfTective on November 2022, the Group exchanged its share in in Tricoya UK Limited (30% interest) and in Tricoya Technologies Lymited

(9% tnterest) for shares in Accsys Technologies Ple.. See also note 12(b) - Reelassification.

2021
LOTTE Formaosa Yangize INEOS YPC
Allas Methanal INEQS INEOS PCG INEDGS River Acetyls Tricoys
Company Chemical Co. Acetyls Sdn. Chemicals Acetyls Company UK
Uintimited Lid —Bhd, = Corp _Co.lud _(Nonjlug)ldd _Timited _ Total
€m
Current assets ........... 753 2400 97.0 1031 94.7 82.1 31 6953
Non-current assets ... 1153 4481 157.6 2089 1.0 109.6 25.6 1.176.1
Current liabilities... ... (30.9) (136.2) (32.3) (23.7) (9.8) (9.8) (1.4) (244.1)
Non-current iiabilities. (44.8) (30.5) (L1 (€2) _ (04) (0. _ (3.6) (110.7)
Net assetls ..cvcivnccernrs 114.9 521.4 i%.2 288.1 195.5 181.8 23.7 1,516.6
Dividend received ..... 36.2 69.2 735 15 4.9 24 - 188.7
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12 INVESTMENTS (continued)
12¢c)  Registered office addresses of investrments
The registered office addresses of the investments disclosed in this note are:

Reference Registered office address

[A8] Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, 8043 7FG, United Kingdom

) Mainzer Landstrasse 50, 60325 Frankfurt, Germany

3 Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Stregt, Wilmimgton DE 19801, Delaware, USA

(4) Haven 725, Scheldclaan 600, 2040 Amwerp, Belgium

(3) 2070 Zwijndrecht, Nieuwe Weg 1. 1053 Haven, Mechelen, Betgium

(6} 872 Tashmoo Avenue, Samia ON N7T 8A) Ontario, Canada

(7 Room 2502, 567 Langao Road, Putuo District, Shanghai, China

(8) Rua Quintana 887 3° andar, conjunios 33 € 34, Ciudade Moncoes, Sio Paulo 04569-011

9 Chensey Road, Sunbury on Thames, Middlesex, TW16 7BP, United Kingdom

(10} Ruc Albert Duplat, F-62410 Wingles. France

[RRD] 95 rue la Boétie, F-75008 Pans, France

{12} Ronda General Mitre 28-30, 08017 Barcelona, Spain

(14) Avenue des Utins 3, CH-1 180 Relle, Switzerland

(15} Via Caldera 21, 20153 Milano Cesano Mademao, ltaly

16} Biiyikdete Cad. Meydan sok., Spring Gz Plaza K. 13 N.11, Maslak Sariyer, Istanbul, Turkey

an Alte Strasse 201, 30769 Cologne, Germany

(18) Sanggae-ro 143 (Sanggac-dong), Nam-gu. Ulsan, South Korea

9 14" Flgor, 92 Tongi-ro (Soonhwa-dong) Jung-gu, Scoul, 04517, Korca

(20) Avenida Insurgenics Sur No. 859, Pisa 11, Oficina 182, Coloniz Nipoles, 03810, Mexice City, Mexica

21 Strawinskylaan 411, NL-1077 XX Amsterdam, The Netherlands

(22} Bldg. 3. I8 Pyatnitskaya St, {15035 Moscow, Russiaa Federation

(23) ul. Woltoska 9, 02-583 Warszawa, Poland

{24} No 61, Jinben Industry Avenue, Xinan Sub-district, Sanshui District, Foshan, Guangdong Pravinee, China

(25) No.2388, Minghai North Road, Ningbo Petrochemical Economy & Technology Development Zong, Ningbo,
Zhejiang, China

26) Building No. 3 Unit |-10, 266 Beihai Road, Ningbo Petrochemical Zone, Zhenhai Dustrict, Ningbe, China

@n Cenwral Towers, Suite 2501 &2503, 567 Langao Road, 200333 Shanghar, China

28) Avenida Adolfe Ruiz Cortines y Priv. Roble S/N, Col. San Pedro Lozano, Monterrey. Nueve Ledn, 64299, Mexico

(29) 17F, Block B, Central Towers,567 Langao Road, Puluo District. Shanghai, P R.China, 200333

(30) Schipkauer Strasse 1, 01987 Schwarzheide. Germany

3h 11! Somersel Road, #t4-16 to 2] TrpleOne Somerset, Singapore 238164, Singapare

(32) Av Ricardo Margdin Zozaya 444, Torre Equus 1ZA Sur, Colonia Valic del Campestec, San Pedro Garza Garcia.
Nuevo Leon, 66265, Mexico

(33) 5/F, Manulife Place, 348 Kwun Tong Road. Kowloon, Hong Kong

(34) No. 4/2,1-8 Road, T Map Ta Phur, A Muang, 2115 Rayong, Thailand

(35) 16th Aoor, Dacha Business Centre, 360 Kim Ma Str., Ngoc Khanh Ward, Ba Dinh Dist. Hanoi, Vietnam

36) 1-25-} Nishi-Shinsuku, Shinjuku-ku, (35F, Shinjyuku Center Building), Tokyo 1630635, Japan

a7 Torre Vireyes, Pedregal 24, Piso 20, Colonia Making dei Rey, 11040, Mcexico City, Mexice

(38) Bankes Lanc Office, Bankes Lane, Runcom, Cheshire, WA7 4JE, United Kingdom

(39) Rafnes Industriomrade, 3966 Stathelle, Norway

(40} 444-83 Stenungsund, Sweden

(41) Luna Arena, Henkerbergweg 238, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 1101 Cm

42) Ludwigscrasse 12, 47495 Rheinberg, Germany

43) 2036 Foutk Rd, Suite 204. Wilmington, Delaware 19801, USA

(44) Cafle Marie Curie i-3-5, 08760 Martorc!{, Barcelona, Spam

(45) Schottengasse |, 4. Stock, 1010 Wien, Austna

(46) Avenue des Olympades 20, § 140 Brussels, Belgium

47) 2 Avenue de la Républigue, 39500 Tavaux, France

(48j Rua do Centro Cultural n” § — R/C, sala 8. [700-106 Lisboa. Porgal

(49) Via Marconi 73, 44122 Ferrara (FE), laly

(50) Rosignano Mantume (L1}, Via Piave 6 CAP 57016, ltaly

[&2D)] Kilmore House, Park Lane, Spencer Dock, Dublin |, Ireland

(52) Ncw Horizons House, New Bridge Road, Ellesmere Port, Cheshire, CHES 4L Y, United Kingdom

(33) Posiboks 1367 — Vika, 0114 Oslo, Norway

(54) Calle Pnacipe de Vergara 204 ~ Primero C - 28002. Madnd. Spain

{55) Rue de ia Religion, 10, 1400 Nivellcs, Belgum

(56) Mainzer LandstraBe 55, 60329 Frankfurt am Main, Germany
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12 INVESTMENTS (continued)

12(c)  Registered office addresses of investments

Reference Registered office address

(37 Verkstadsvagen [ 1, 44431 Steoungsund, Sweden

(58) Paniglgasse 24/1/19°, A-1040 Wien, Austrin

(39) 12 Rue Raoul Nordling C5 7001, 92270 Bois Colombes, France

(60) Fregatien 3, 444-30 Stenungsund Sweden

ol) Via Giovanni Da Procida, 11, 20149, Milan, ltaly

(62) Scheldelaan 480, 2040 Antwerpen, Belgium

(63) Via Magona, 57023 Cccina, Ttaly

(64) 2711 Centerville Road. Suite 400, Wikmington DE 19808, Umited States

(65) 6™ Floor, No. 413 Section 2 Ti-Ding Bivd., Neihu. Taipei, 11493, Taiwan

(66) Da Ping Harbowr, Lin Gang tndustrial Zone, Zhuhai City, Guangdong Province, China

()] 12" Floor, Menara Symphony No. 5, Jalan Prof Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen |3, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul
Ehsan, Malaysia

(68) 12th Floor, Menara Symphony No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor,
Malaysia

(6% 57 Weijiang Road (in the Petrochemical Park), Changshou District, Chongging, China

70) 6 3-15 Sanggae-ro, Cheongnyang-myeon, Uljugun, Ulsan, 44987, Korea

an Amocolaan 2 2440 Geel, Belgium

(72} 20 Fioor Summitmas {7 JT., Jend. Sudirman Kav. 61 — 62, Jakarta, Setatan, Indoncsia

on No. 1-1Formosa Industrial Comples, Mailiao, Yunlin Hsien, Taiwan

4) 9# Huo Ju Road, Liu He District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, China

(15 Maracaibo Drive, Pomt Lisas Industrial Estate, Point Lisas, Trinidad and Tabago

(76) Scuth Quarter Building Tower C, GJ). R.A. Kartini Kav, 8, Cilandak Barat, Jakarta. Indonesia

13 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2022 2021
Em
Non-current
Other rec@iVables ... e ‘ 2.2 2.1
2022 2021
€m
Current
Financial assets designated as fair value through OCI (note 25).. . 5.5 -
Deferred consideration {NOE 3)....o.oivereereeeteeeee e e serire s 239.0 -
2445 -

The shares acquired by the Group in November 2022 in Accsys Technologies Plc are classified as financial assets
designated as fair value through OCI as the Group intends to participate in the development of the Company and to
retain these shares in the long-term.

The deferred considerations are refated to future instalments to be received from Sinopec on the achievement of
certain milestones, which are expected to be fulfilled by December 2023.
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14 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the foilowing:

Property, plant and equipment

Investments

Intangible assets .o
Employee benefits ... ...
Tax value of loss carry-forwards...

Net tax assets/(liabilities)

Movement in deferred tax during the year

Property, p1ant and equipment .
Investments... [P
Intangiblc assets... .
Employee benefits ...
Tax value of loss carry-
forwards...

Property, plam and equipment .
Investments. e
Intangible asscts...........
Employee benefits ... ...
Tax value of ioss carry-
forwards ...
Other

2022 2021 2022 2021
Assets Liabilities
€m
....................... 58.3 58.5 (254.8) (229.3)
- - (42.9) {41.2)
- 0.3 (135.8) (158.0)
,,,,,,,, i85 51.3 {6.1) (9.0)
69.3 838 - .
105.3 77.0 (81.9) {35.9)
{121.2) (680) 121.2 68.0
150.2 202.9 (400.3) {404.9)
1022
Recagnised
Recognised in equity -  Recognised in
in income translation equrity —
! January statement Dispgsal exchange acturarial 31 December
Em
(170.8) (23.6) 4.8 (6.8) (196 .4)
(41.2) 08 - (2.5} (429
(151.7) 5.1 8.6 (1.8 - (133.8)
423 §47.2) - 06 638 325
838 {(11.9} (2.2) G.4) . 693
41.6 (199 (1.6) 3.1 232
(202.0) (56.T) 9.6 (7.8) 6.8 (250.1)
2021
Recognised
Recognised in equity -  Recognised in
in income Reclassifi-  transfation equity -
1 January statement cation exchange actuarial 31 December
€m

(135.0) (- (27.4) (7.3 {170.8)
(33.0) - - 3.5 41.2)
(174.7) 183 o (2.3} - {(1572.7)
66.7 (12.8) (2.0) - (9.6) 4273
721 234 (r.n (4.6) 838
(3.53 8.5 3155 1.} - 4i.6
(212.4) 363 - (16.3) {9.6) (202.9)

In assessing the Group’s ability 1o realise deferred tax assets, management considers whether 1t is probable that some
portion of all of the deferred tax assets will not be realised. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred
tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax strategies in making this assgssment.

in order to fully realise the deferred tax asset, the Group will need ta generate future taxable income in the countries
where the net operating losses were incurred. Based upon the level of historical taxable income and projections for
future taxable income over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible, management believes that the

Group will realise the aforementioned benefits.

The Group did not recognise gross deductible temporary differenices of €376.6 million (2021: €275.4 muilion), the
majonty of which refates to tax losses.
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15 INVENTORIES
2022 2021

€m
601.8 5628

Raw materials and consumables

Work in progress .........occoeoeenene . 165.6 2137
FIished BOOAS. ..ottt e et s 706.2 772.4
1,473.6 1,548.9

Raw materials, consumables and changes in finished goods and work in progress recognised as cost of sales in the
year amounted to €15,515.0 million (2021: €12,183.0 million). The write-down of inventories 1o net realisable value
amounted to €3.9 million (2021t : €20.8 million). The reversal of previous write-downs of inventories to net realisable
value amounted to €2.6 million (2021: €4.3 miilion).

16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2022 2021
€m
Current
Trade reCEIVADIES ..o oe e e e 1,383.1 1,788.0
Amounts owed by related parties and associated undertakings... 660.2 936
Other receivables ... .. 277.6 4073
Prepayments and accrued incorme 40.0 83.0
2,360.9 2,377.9
Non-current
Amounts owed by related parties and associated undertakings 920 30.8
Other receivables ... 593 20.2
Prepayments and accrued income 1.4 1.5
152.7 52.5

An inter-company loan of €500.0 million with the immediate parent company of the Group is included within the
current amounts owed by related parties and associated undertakings. This inter-company lean is unsecured, attracts
interest at commercial rate and had a maturity of 2 December 2023, Subsequent to the year-end, this loan was fully
settled through a dividend distribution approved on 23 January 2023 (see note 32). Loans amounted to a total of €63.1
million were granted by the Group to INEOS Styrolution Sinopec Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Lid. These loans are
unsecured, attract intergst at commercial rate and mature in 2032,

Credit guality of financial assets and impairment losses

The ageing of trade receivables at the end of the reparting period and the expected credit loss rate (ECLR) was:

2022 2021
Gross  [mpairment ECLR Gross  Impairment ECLR
€m €m % €m €m %
Notpastdue................ 1,171.2 (0.2) 0.0% 1,699.2 (0.3) -
Past due 0 — 30 days......... 205.3 (0.3) 0.1% g1.4 (0.2) 0.2%
Past due 3] —90 days......... 2.2 - 0.0% 8.0 (0.1 1.3%
Past due more than 90 days 13.1 (8.2) 62.6% 13.6 (13.6) 100.0%
1,391.8 (8.7) 0.6% 1,802.2 (14.2) 0.8%

There were no allowances made against amounts owed by related parties and other receivables during the year (2021:

€nil).

The amounts receivable not yet due after impairment losses as of the end of the reporuing period are deemed 1o be

collectible on the basis of established credit management processes such as regular analyses of the credit worthiness
— — —— -— —of customers and external credit checks where appropriate for new customers (see note 25(c))- At 31-December 2022 ————— ——- -

and 202 | there were no significant trade, related party or other receivable balances classified as “not past due” that

were subsequently impaired.
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16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Due to the global activities and diversified customer structure of the Group, the management considers that there 1s
no significant concentration of credit risk (2021: nil).

Durning 2022 and 2021 therc were no significant tradc balances that were subject to material rencgotiation of terms.

Trade receivable balances totalling €737.5 million (2021: €552.5 miltion) have been pledged as security against
amounts drawn under the Sccuritisation Facility, totalling €ml {(2021: €nil). In accordance with IFRS 9 “Finencial
Instruments " the trade receivable balances pledged as security do not qualify for derecognition and are included within
the trade receivable balances above.

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables (as per this note) during the year was
as follows: )

2022 2021
€m
Balance at | Januany. ... e e (14.2) (14.5)
Disposals ..o B e et e e 0.6 -
Impairment loss recognised. . 0.1 -
L8 LS T O TSP SP PP U P PRRCR PO RRPURPIN 5.2 0.7
Effects of movement in foreign exchange ... e 0.2 (0.4)
Balance 31 December ....ccuveeernrnen (8.7 (14.2)

The allowance account for trade receivables 1s used to record any impairment losses unless the Group 15 satisfied that
no recovery of the amount owing is probable; at that point the amounts considered irrecoverable are written off against
the trade receivables directly.

The Group applies the forward-looking ‘cxpected credit loss’ (ECL) model in line with IFRS @ in assessing the
recoverability of trade receivables. The ECL is calculated considering past experiences and management’s estirnate
of furure developments. Management expects no significant change in the future market sinuation. Consequently, the
future credit losses m the ECL maodel are in the same range as the credit losses experienced in the past years. This is
regarded as the future expectation of the mmherent credit risk of the not impaired trade and other receivables
outstanding. The Group reviews the assumptions of the ECL model on a yearly basis.

Credit risk of trade receivables

2022 2021
 €m
1,306.4 1,692.8
72.3 78.0
131 314
(8.7} (14.2)
1,383.1 1,788.0

The credit risk grade 15 based on the analysis on both the quantitative and qualitative factors as detailed below:

¢ High: Customers under significant financial difficulty and customers for whom there is an uncertainty of
payment based on knowledge of factors like inselvency, dispute. Any receivable more than 180 days past
due should also be classified in this category.

¢ Medium: Any receivable between 90 and 180 days past due should be classified as medium risk unless
qualitative factors indicate a higher credit risk.

s Low: Any receivable less than 90 days past due should be classified as low nsk unless qualitauve factors
indicate a higher credit risk.

During the year the Group has not experienced a significant deterioration in the quality of receivable balances due to
the current economic conditiens

There were no allowances made against amounts due from other receivables during the year (202 t: €nil).

There were no allowances made against ameounts due from related parties duning the year (2021 €nil).
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17 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings,
which are measured at amortised cost. For more information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate and foreign

currency risk see note 25({e).

2022 2021
€m

Non-current liabilities

Senmior Secured Notes due 2026 oo s 1,268.7 12413
Senior Notes dug 2026 ... e 500.0 500.0
Term Loan B Facilities due 2026 .......ooeivioiiee e 3,328.1 32386
Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 ...... e et aa e e e e ~ 609
Term Loan A Facilities due 2025 e i - 185.3
Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 vt eeee e ir e e eeee e 632.5 623.6
Senior Secured Notes due 2027 ... 600.0 600.0
Loan from related party ... 417 398
OUNET JOBIS oot eet e e e e e bt ecereetas b et e easeseabe e e e ereeseeabe e st anan 0.t 02
Gross DOTTOWINES ... 6,371.1 6,489.7
Less: unamortised fiNance CoStS ... iviicicieeieeeeeeen IO (34.6) (53.3)
INEE BOETOWITMES oottt s st st e ss e e en s assaaans s s paas seem b sibsbases 6,336.5 6,436.4
Current liabilities

Term Loan B Facilities due 2026 .......... 18.7 17.7
Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 - 121.8
Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 1.9 1.8
External bank loan.......................ciiiiiiiiii - 9.2
Gross borrewings .................... 20.6 150.5
Less: unamortised fINANCE COSS ...vvviivervreceeieeioeeseeee e eeeeeeeeeerermnens R (e.1) (16.6)
TNEE DOETOWINES cuvvevrieectcvesrasassserssessasesemensissssesstsssass anssasarsrens s soscomerarsesassmsmstsnssans 4.5 133.9

2022

Gross debt and issue costs

Gross loans

and Net loans and
berrowings Issue costs borrowings
€m

Senior Secured Notes due 2026.............. e 1,268.7 (13.2) 1,255.5
Senior Notes due 2026 ..o 500.0 - 500.0
Term Loan B Facilities due 2026 ... 3,346.8 31.2) 3,3156
Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 ) 634.4 (3.1} 631.3
Sentor Secured Notes due 2027 ..o 600.0 3.5 597.0
Securitisation facilities . . - (0.2) (0.2)
Loan from related party............... e e 417 - 417
Other [OBNS ...iiiiiieii e et 0.1 - 0.1
6,391.7 (50.7) 6,341.0
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17 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

Gross debt and issue costs

2021

Gross loans

and Net lpans and
borrowings  Issue costs borrowings
€m
Senior Secured Notes due 2026, ... 1,241.3 (17.5) 1,223.8
Senior Notes due 2026 ..o 500.0 - 500.0
Term Loan B Facilites due 2026 ... ... .. 3,256.3 (39.8) 32165
Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 . 182.7 {2.8) 179.9
Term Loan A Famlibes due 2025 ... ... 185.3 ()] 183.4
Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 ..o e 625.4 {3.9) 621.5
Senior Secured Notes due 2627 600.0 3.7 596.3
Securitisation facilities .............. ST UR O UUUUSRTROROR - {0.3) 0.3)
Loan from related party ..o 398 - 39.8
External bank loan.......... 9.2 - 9.2
Other loans ............ococoeeeiieeiae . 0.2 - 0.2
6,640.2 (69.9) 6,570.3
Terms and debt repayment schedule as at 31
December 2022
Year of
Currency Nominal interest rate maturity
Euro Senior Secured Notes due 2026........ccoocoeeee. € 2.50% 2026
Daollar Senior Secured Notes due 2026 ) 3.375% 2026
Senior Notes due 2026 ... £ 3.75% 2026
Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2026 £ USD LIBOR (fioor of 0.5%) + 2.75% 2026
Euro Term Loan B Facihity due 2026...... € EURTBOR (floor of 0.0%) + 2.75% 2026
Euro Term Loan B Facility due 2027 .. € EURIBOR {(floor of 3.5%) + 2.00% 2027
Dallar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 b USD LIBOR (floor 0.0%) + 2.00% 2027
Senior Secured Noles due 2027.... € 2.25% 2027
ABS Plant Facility............. s RMB China Loan Pnme Rate minus 0.65% 2032
Securitisation facilities ... ... SEiE Variable 2024

Senior Secured Notes due 2026

In January 2021 the Group raised €1,206.5 million of Senior Secured Notes maturing on 15 January 2026 and
consisting on €800.0 million of Euro Senior Secured Notes and $500 million of Dollar Senior Secured Notes.

The Senior Secured Notes outstanding at 31 December 2022 before issue costs were €1,268.7 million (31 December
2021: €1,241.3 million). The total amounts outstanding on the Euro denominated Secured Notes were €800.0 million
(31 December 2021: €800.0 million) and the US dollar denominated Secured Notes were SS00.0 million (€468.7
million equivalent) {31 December 2021: €441.3 million).

The Senior Secured Notes are listed on the Euro MTF - Luxembourg stock exchange. The Euro Senior Secured Notes
bear interest at a rate of 2% per annum. The Dollar Senior Secured Notes bear jnterest at a rate of 3%% per annum.
Interest on the Euro Senior Secured Notes and the Dollar Senior Secured Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears.
The Senior Secured Notes have no repayment until maturity.

The Euro Senior Secured Notes and the Dollar Senior Secured Notes are jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior
secured basis by certain of the Group's subsidiaries. The Euro Senior Secured Notes and the Dollar Semior Secured
Notes and the related guarantees are secured by first priority liens (subject to certain exceptions) on the same assets
that secure the obligations under the Credit Facility Agreements, the Senior Secured Notes due 2027, and certain
hedging obligations and cash management arrangements.
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The Euro Senior Secured Notes are subject to redemption at any time on or after 15 January 2023, at the option of the
Issuer, in whote or in part, at the following redemption prices (expressed as percentages of the aggregate principal
amount), if redeemed during the twelve-month period beginning on 15 January of the year indicated below:

Euro Senior
Secured
Notes
Redemption
Price
101.250%
100.625%
100.000%

In each case, the redemption premium will be in addition to accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date
(subject to the rights of holders of record on relevant record daies to receive interest due on an interest payment date).

The Dollar Senior Secured Notes are subject to redemption at any time on or after 15 January 2023, at the option of
the Issuer, 1n whole or in part, at the following redemption prices (expressed as percentages of the aggregate principal
amount), if redeemed during the twelve-manth period beginning on |5 January of the year indicated below:

Dollar
Senior
Secured

Notes
Redemption

Year Price
20 e e e e e ete e e e aein e e et e eetesteeeeenpeeeeeeen et e e e eae e e e e aseee et nnnnnnaaeeeeas 101.6875%
L OO OO U PSPPI 100,84375%
2025 and thereal er . i e e e et ettt b n e aae et naae e enanneenenes 100.000%

In each case, the redemption premium will be in addition to accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date
(subject to the rights of holders of record on relevant record dates to receive interest due on an interest payment date).

The Euro Senior Secured Notes and the Dollar Senior Secured Notes contain a number of operating and financial
covenants including limitations on indebtedness, restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, liens, sale of assets
and dividend payments.

The Senior Secured Notes due 2026 are stated net of debt issue costs of €13.2 million (31 December 2021: €17.5
million). These costs are allocated to the profit and loss account over the term of the Senior Secured Notes due 2026.

Senior Netes due 2026

In January 2021 the Group raised €500.0 million of Senior Notes maturing on 15 July 2026. The Senior Notes
outstanding at December 31, 2022 were €500.0 million (31 December 202} : €500.0 million).

The Senior Notes are listed on the Euro MTF - Luxembourg stock exchange. The Senior Notes bear interest at a rate
of 3%% per annum. Interest on the Senior Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears. The Senior Notes have no
repayment until maturity.

The Scnior Notes are jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior subordinated basis by the guarantors (other than the
parent, which guarantees the Senior Notes on a senior basis). The Senior Notes and the related guarantees are secured
by second-ranking security interests (subject to certain exemptions) over the shares of the capita! stock of the Issuer
and the loan made by INEQS Quattro Finance 2 Plc to the Tssuer of the proceeds of the Senior Notes. These security
interests rank behind the security interests granted over those assets in favor of the creditors of certain other
indebtedness, including under the Senior Secured Notes due 2027, the Senior Secured Notes due 2026 and the Credit
Facility Agreements.
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The Senior Notes are subject to redemption at any time on or after 15 January 2023, at the option of the Issuer, in
whole or in part. at the following redemption prices (expressed as percentages of the aggregate principal amount), if
redeemed during the twelve-month period beginning on January 15 of the year indicated below:

Senior
Notes
Redemption
Price

101.875%
100.9375%
2025 and thereafter ... IO O RO TP SR P O TRTSPOION 100.000%

In each case, the redemption premium will be in addition to accrued and unpaid interest, tf any, to the redemption date
(subject to the rights of holders of record on relevant record dates to receive interest due on an interest payment date).

The Senior Notes contain a number of operating and financial covenants ncluding limitations on indebtedness,
restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, liens, sale of assets and dividend payments.

Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 and 2025, Term Loan B Facilities due 2026

On 31 July 2020, the Group has entered inlo a Term Loan Agreement (as amended and restated) which consists of"

Q) Term loans maturing in 2023 denominated in US dollar and denominated in euro, in aggregate principal
amount of $140.0 million (the “Three-Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility™) and €120.0 million (the “Three-
Year Euro Term Loan A Facility™), respectively, (together, the “Term Loan A Facilities due 2023").

(ii) Term loans maturing in 2025 denominated in US dollar in an aggregate principal amount of $210.0 million
(the “Five Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility™); and

(i) Term loans maturing in 2026 denominated in US dollar (the “Dollar Term Loan B Facility”) and in euro (the
“Euro Term Loan B Facility™), in an aggregate principal amount of $2,000.0 million and €1,500.0 million,
respectively, (together, the “Term Loan B Facilities due 2026™).

The $85.5 mullion and €75.0 million puistanding principal of the Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 and the $210.0
million owistanding principal of the Term Loan A Facilities due 2025 were repaid on 31 May 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, $1,970.0 miliion was drawn under the Dollar Term Loan B Facility (€1,846.8 million
equivalent); and €1,500.0 million was drawn under the Euro Term Loan B Facility.

The Term Loans that are denominated in dollars bear interest at a rate per annum equal to USD LIBOR divided by
100% minus the USD LIBOR Reserve percentage (subject to & flgor of 0.5% per annum) plus 1 75% for the Three-
year Dollar Term Loan A, 2.25% for the Five-Year Dollar Term Loan A Facility, and 2.75% for the Dollar Term Loan
B Facility. Subsequent to year-end, the Group has initiated the process to transition from LIBOR to SOFR.

The Term Loans that are denominated in euros bear interest at a rate per annum equal to EURIBOR (subject to a floor
of 0% per annum) plus 1.75% for the Three-Year Euro Term Loan A Facility, 3.5% for the Five-Year Term Loan A
Facility and 2.75% for the Euro Term Loan B Facility. '

The obligations under the Term Loan B Facilities are jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior basis by the certain
of the Group’s subsidiaries.

The Term Loan B Agreement contains a number of limitauons on indebtedness, restricted payments, transactions with
affiliates, hens and sale of assets.

The Term Loan B Facilities do not contain any financial maintenance covenants,

The Dollar Term Loan B Facility are to be repaid in quarterly instalments beginning on 30 September 2021, in
aggregate principal amounts equal tc 0.25% of the original aggregate principal amount of the Dollar Term Loan B
Facility. The Euro Term Loan B Facility and the balance of the Dollar Term Loan B Facility are payable, subject 1o
certain exemptions, on 1§ January 2026.

The Term Loans B facilities due 2026 are stated net of debt issue costs of €31.2 million (31 December 2021: €398
million). These costs are allocated 1o the profit and loss account over the term of the Term Loans.
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Term Loan B facilities due 2027

The Group has outstanding borrowings under a credit facilitics agreement dated 7 Novernber 2014 (as amended and
restated) which consist of euro and US doilar denominated Term loans (referred to as the “Term Loan B Facilities
agreement”).

On 31 January 2020, the Group successfully completed an amend-and-extend transaction of the existing term loans
nuicasing e pringigal amount of the Euro 1erm Loan B borrowtngs to €450.0 mullion (the “Euro Term Loan B due
2027} and the Dollar Term Loan B borrowings remained at $202.3 mithon (the Dollar Term Loan B due 20277) .

As at 31 December 2022, €450.0 million remained drawn under the Euro Term Loan B due 2027 and $196.7 million
(€184.4 miltion equivalent) remained drawn under the Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027.

From 31 January 2020, the new Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 bears interest at a rate per annum equal to USD
LIBOR divided by 100% minus the USD LIBOR Reserve Percentage {as defined in the Term Loan B Facilities
Agreement) (subject to a floor of 0% per annum) plus:
» in the case of new Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 bearing interest at a rate determined by
reference to USD LIBOR, 2.00%;
+ in the case of new Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 bearing interest at a rate determined by
reference to Alternate Base Rate, 1.00%.

Subsequent to year-end, the Group has completed its transition from LTIBOR to SOFR. See note 32 for further details.

From 31 January 2020, the new Euro Term Loan B Facility due 2027 bears interest at a rate per annum equal to
EURIBOR (subject to 2 floor of 0.50% per annum) plus 2.00%.

The obligations under the Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 1s jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior basis by
the certain of the Group’s subsidiaries.

The Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 contains a number of operating and financial covenants including limitations
on indebledness, restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, liens, sale of assets and dividend payments.

The Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 do not contain any financial maintenance covenants.

The new Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 is to be repaid in equal instalments, in aggregate annual amounts
equal to 1% of the original principal amount of the new Dollar Term Loan B Fagcility due 2027 The new Euro Term
Loan Facility due 2027 and the balance of the new Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 are payable on January 31,
2027.

The Term Loans B facilities due 2027 are stated net of debt issue costs of €3.1 million (31 December 2021: €39
mitlion). These costs are allocated to the profit and loss account over the term of the Term Loans.

Senior Secured Notes due 2027

On 31 January 2020, the Group issued €600.0 million aggregate principal amount 2%% Senior Secured Notes due
2027 (the “Senior Secured Notes due 2027”). The Senior Secured Notes due 2027 are listed on the Euro MTF -
Luxembourg stock exchange and bear interest at 2'4% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on 15 January and
15 July of each year, beginning 15 July 2020. Unless previously redeemed as noted below, the Seniar Sceured Notes
due 2027 will be repaid by the Group at their principal amount on 16 January 2027.

The Senior Secured Notes due 2027 outstanding at 31 December 2022 were €600.0 million (31 December 2021:
€600.0 milhon).

The Senior Secured Notes due 2027 are subject to redemption at any time on or after 15 January 2023 in whole or in
part, at the following redempuon prices (expressed as percentages of the aggregate principal amount), if redeemed
during the twelve-month period beginning on 15 January of the year indicated below:

Senior
Secured
Notes due
2027
- 77 77 “Redemption™
Price
101.1250%
100.5625%
100.0000%
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In each case, the redemption premium will be in addition 1o accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date
(subject to the rights of holders of record on relevant record dates to recerve interest due an an interest payment date).

The Senior Secured Notes due 2027 are jointly and severally guaranteed on a senior secured basis by INEOS
Styrolution Group GmbH and cerain of its subsidianes. They are secured by first priority liens {subject to certain
exceptions) on the same assets that secured the obligations under the Term Loan B Facilities due 2027, the Term Loan
Agreement and certain hedging obligations and cash management arrangements.

The Senior Secured WNotes due 2027 contain a number of operating and financial covenants including limitations on
indebiedness, restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, liens, sale of assets and dividend payments.

The Senior Secured Notes due 2027 are stated nel of debt issue costs of €3.0 million (31 December 2021: €3.7
million). These costs are allocated to the profit and loss account over the term of the Notes.

ABS Plant Facility

On 21 January 2022, INEQS Styrolution Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Ltd entered into a new term loan agreement
with Bank of China and 1CBC 1o provide RMB 3,300.0 million (€464.3 million equivalent) of financing for the
construction of a new 600 kiloton ABS plant in Ningbo, China {the “ABS Plant Facility™). The term loan facility
matures in 2032 and has a straight-line semi-annual amortisation over the lifetime commencing afier the start of
operations. The term loan bears interest at a rate equal to the China Loan Pnime Rate minus a rate of 0.65% per annum.
As at 31 December 2022, the amount utilised against the facility was RMB 3,0352 million {€408.2 million
equivalent). On 28 December 2022, a subsidiary of the Group completed an equity transfer agreement with China
Petroleum & Chemical Corporation relating to the sale and purchase of 50% equity interest in INEOS Styrolution
Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Ltd. As a result of this divesture, the obligation of the Group under this term loan
facility have been transferred to the newly created joint-venture and derecognised in the Group consolidated financial
statements. For further details see Note 3.

Securitization facilities

INEOS Styrolution Group GmbH and certain other Group companigs are party to a €600.0 million trade receivables
securitization program (the “Styrolution Securitization Program™) that matures on 28 June 2024, The facility is secured
by pledges over the trade receivables sold into the program. For drawn amounts, interest 1s charged on the facility at
a rate of either EURIBOR or US LIBOR plus 0.95% or short-term commercial paper rates plus a margin of 0.95%.
For undrawn amounts, the facility bears interest of 0.5%.

[INOVYN Group Treasury Limited and certain other INOVYN business’ companies are party to a €240.0 million trade
receivables securitization program {the “TNOVYN Securitization Program”™) that matures on 30 June 2024. The facility
is secured by pledges over the trade receivables sold into the program. For drawn amounts, interest is charged on the
facility at a rate of either EURIBOR, US LIBOR or SONIA plus 0.95% or short-term commercial paper rates plus a
margin of 0.95%. For undrawn amounts, the facility bears interest of 0.5%.

The Debt issue costs of €0.2 million (31 December 2021: €0.3 million) were incurred in relation to the Securitizaton
facilities. These costs are allocated to the profit and loss account over the tenn of the facilities.

Other facilities

The Group has several short-term credit facilities with different local banks to fund working capital requirements up
to a total aggregate amount of €224.2 million equivalent as of 31 December 2022 (31 Decernber 2021: €194.8 million
equivalent) in China, Malaysia. Singapore, South Korea, Thailand, and United Kingdom. The available amount under
the working capital facilities at 31 December 2022 amounted to €197.8 million equivalent (31 December 2021:€151.2
million equivalent), with €26.4 million (31 December 2021: €43.6 million) of certain trade finance facilities being
utilised in China.

The Group alsa has letter of credit facilities in China, Malaysia, Indonesia, Mexico, Singapore, South Korea, Thailand,
and United Kingdom. As of 31 December 2022, the drawn amount under all letter of credit facilities was €16.0 million
equivalent (31 December 2021: €23 .1 million equivalent). The letters of credit are generally securcd by current assets.
The facilities also provide for a limited number of other financial services, such as bank guarantees and foreign
exchange hedging lines.
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18 LEASE OBLIGATIONS

Analysed as: 2022 202t
- €m
Current lease Habilities..........ocooii e, (BT 65.0 72.6
Non-current lease liabilities 224.3 226.6
289.3 299.2
Maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted cash flows: 2022 2021
€m
Less than one ¥ear ..o e B3.6 823
Between one and five years ... 150.6 144.8
More than five years 156.1 143.5
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 December........c..coioreriniinimnnninaneens 390.3 370.6
Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows: 2022 2021
€m
Lease CapItal PAYITEIIIS .. .o oottt e e e e e e et e s 828 95.8
Lease interest payments.. i1.8 1.7
Short-termn leases............... 6.0 54
Leases Of low valle asS5L8 ... oo e 0.6 2.1
Total cash outflow fOr LEases.. ...t s s s 101.2 115.0

The Group has entered into a number of significant fease arrangements relating to off-site storage capacity, rail cars,
land and buildings, and air separation plants used for the generation of industrial gases.

19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 2021
€m
Current .
Trade payables. ........ccoooiiiii e e TR 1,390.8 1,737.0
Amounts owed to related parties . 2393 428 .8
Accruals ............. 468.7 522.8
Deferred income. 7.1 7.4
Other payables........................ . 195.1 2825
2.301.0 2,978.5
Non-current
B Voo o T U S O S O PRSP 31.2 136
Deferred income 104.5 1121
Other payables ... ..o e e 6.8 1.2
142.5 146.9

The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in note 25.

20 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Group operates a number of pension and post-retirement medical plans throughout the world, devised in
accordance with local conditions and practices. The plans are generally of the defined benefit type and those that are
funded are done so by paymens to separately administered funds or insurance companies. The principal funded plans
are in Belgium, Canada, France, Germany, India, South Korea, Mexico, Switzerland, USA, Norway, Austria, Spain
and the United Kingdom.

The Group also operates a number of unfunded defined benefit pension schemes in the Indonesia, Canada, South
Korea, Thailand, USA, Germany and ltaly.
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20 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS {continued)

The most recent full valuations of the significant defined benefit plans were caried out as follows:

Ptlan Country Valuation date
All Plans Belgium 01 January 2023
All Plans Canada 31 December 2020
All Plans France 31 December 2022
All Plans Germany 31 December 2022
All Plans India N/A

All Plans South Korea 31 December 2022
All Plans Mexico 31 December 2022
All Plans Switzerland 31 Decernber 2022
All Plans Thailand 31 December 2020
All Plans USA 01 January 2022
All Plans Indonesia 01 January 2023
All Plans United Kingdom 04 May 2022

All Plans Norway 31 December 2022
All Plans Italy 31 December 2020
All Plans Spain 3] December 2022
All Plans Austria 311 December 2022

Where the mos! recent full valuations werc carried out prior to the balanee sheet date, these have beecn updated to
3! December 2022 by independent qualified acruaries.

The Group's pension schemes have been disclosed on a geographical basis as those schemes in Europe, United
Kingdom, North America and Rest of the World.

The European pension arrangements are a mix of final salary, career average, unit benefit and cash balance plans in
rature, and the majority are closed to new entrants. The majority of the plans are funded via insurance policies and
there are also a number of unfunded German and Ttalian plans

The UK defined benefit pension plans were histerically final salary in nature, with a normal retirement age of 60, and
are both closed to new entrants and future accrual. The plans operate under trust law and are managed and administered
by Trustees in accordance with the terms of each plan’s Trust Deed and Rutes and relevant legislation. The
coniributions paid to the UK plans are set every three years based on a funding agreement between the company and
Trustee after taking actuarial advice.

The North Americas pension arrangements consists of three funded plans in the USA (all of which are closed to future
accrual) and one funded plan in Canada {which is clesed to new entrants and to future accrual). All pension plans,
except one, are final salary defined benefit in nature, and the plans’ liabilities are valued regularly in line with statutory
funding requirements.

The Rest of the World pension arrangements are comprised of the Group’s pension plaps in Tndia, South Korea,
Mexico, Thailand and Indonesia.

The Group also operates a number of post-retirement healthcare plans in North Americas and the United Kingdom,
which provide employees with other post-retirement benefits in respect of heaithcare. The plang are unfunded and the
liability 15 assessed by gualified independent actuaries under the projected unit method.
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20 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Pension plan assumptions

The major actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages or ranges) at year end were as follows:

European United Kingdom North America  Rest of the World
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
%

Pricc inflation ..... e s 1.30-2.50 1.00 - 2.00 320 3.20 0.00-200 0.00-2.00 0.0¢-3.50 0.00-3.50
Discount rate for scheme
liabilities..... ......ocooviie e 2.20-3.80 0.25-225 500 1.90 2.5 2.75 200-950 2400-9.50
Rate of increase in pensionable
salaries ... ... IOV 2.00-3.50 0.00 - 4.50 9.00 n/a 0.00-3.00 000-3.00 4.00-800 4.00-3.00
Rate of increase in pensions in
payment............oc.. oo s 0.00-2.50 260-200 300370 220-370 0.00-050 0.00-050 - nfa
Rate of increase for deferred
PENSIONErS ... ... i . 0.00-0.53 000-200 IRO-320 290-3.20 - n/a - nfs
Healthcare medical trend rate
gindtial} e 240 2.00 540 5.40 548 -600 548 -46.00 - nfa
Healthcare medical wend rate
(ultimate)..........oo 240 2.00 5.40 540 4350-500 4.50-5.00 - n/a

The assumptions relating to longevity underlying the pension liabilities at the reporting date are based on standard
actuarial mortality tables and include an allowance for future improvements in longevity. The assumptions are
equivalent to expecting a 65-year old to live for a number of years as foltows:

European United Kingdom North America  Rest of the World
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 20 2022 2021
(Years)
Longevity at age 65 for 204- 204 - 21.8-  218- 211 21.1-
curTent pensioners............... 249 249 219 222 222 222 nfa nfa

The following table presents the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation o each significant actuarial assumption:

Discount rate: 1% decrease..... ... ..
Rate of inflation: 0.5% increase!™ . ...
Monrtality: 1 year increase in longevity for a member currently
aged 65,

Discount rate: § % decrease ...
Rate of inflation. 0.5% increaset i
Mortality: 1 year increase in longevity for a member currently
aged 65. ... e e RO

20622
United North Rest of the
European Kingdom America World
€m
3.7 116.6 69 0.1
155 250 0.9 -
7.6 243 09 -
2021
Uniited Naorth Res¢ of the
Europezan Kinodom America Waorld
€m
79.9 3255 98 1.8
241 1108 1.2
12.5 57.3 1 6 -

(Y The sensitwity to the inflation assumption change includes corresponding changes (o the future salary increase and future pension increase
assumplions where these assumplions are set to be linked 10 the inflatien assumption.
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20 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
Pension ossets (schemes in surplus)

The disclosures refating to the net pension assets are disclosed below. The amounts recagnised in the balance sheet
are as follows:

2022
United
European Kingdom Total

£m
248 0.8 256
149 2552 2701
6.3 - 6.3
24 60.6 63.0
Fair value of plan assets .., 48.4 316.6 365.0
Present value of funded obligations .............oooeiieitiis oo (39.2) {298.1) (337.3)
Net pension asset ..o . 9.2 __ 18.5 277

-
2021
United
European Kingdom Total

€m
Equitics. SO 36.5 895 126.0
Bonds.... . 15.¢ 964 .8 976.8
Property ... 5.0 14.0 19.0
Other......coveeee. e e T P4 3176 319.0
Fair value of Plan assets ..t st e 57.9 1,3829 1,440.8
Present value of funded obligations ... ... {45.8) (1,326.0) {1,371.8)
INEt PENSTON BSSET..eeiiiiiiiiiienrieirneeinne st sareenecas s s er e t2:1 569 §9.0

Other investments largely consist of quoted instruments. There are no plans which held investments in the Group’s
own financial instruments, or hold assets or property which are used by the Group.

The amounts recognised 1n the income siaterment are as follows:

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
European United Kingdom - Total
€m
Curvent service cost(’} . 3.9 (4.3) (1.4) (0.9} (5.3) (5.2)
Expected return on plan assetst® ... 0.6 02 255 82 26.1 24
Interest cost on obligationt? o 8.5) ©2) (241} (7.6 (24.6) (7.8)
Total....coceerrenas (3.8) 4.3 - 0.3) (3.8) {3.6)

U jncluded within operating profit
12 Included within finance costs.
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20 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Pension assefs (schemes in surpius) (continued)

Reconciliation of present value of scheme liabilities:

United
European Kingdom Total
€m
AL T JAMUATY 2021 .o e RV - {465.0) (465.0)
Current service cost (4.3) (0.9) 5.2)
TRLEEESE COST.. oot et oo (0.2) (7.6) {7.8)
Movements between schemes in surplus and schemes in deficit.............. (45.5) {829.0) (874.5)
Benefits paid... 1.2 26.0 272
Actuarial galn/(loss) experlence a7 0.7 -
Actuarial gain/{loss) - assumplmns ................. 23 5.4) {3.1)
Exchange adjustments............. . e e e - (43.4) (43.4)
At 31 December 2021 eeveeeeesaeesoeeaes eestaneasessaatmaeeeeseat Ao r e sns e e smanmteen 45.8) (1,326.0) (1,371.8)
CUITENE SEIVICE COSE .oovo o eooeeoeceeeeeeeiteeaee e caes e osraaeeeneae e 3.9 (1 4} (5.3}
Interest cost (0.5) 24.1) (24.6)
Movements between schemes in surplus and schcmes indeficit ... ... - 488.7 488.7
Benefits paid ... 20 78.2 802
Acluarial galnl(loss) expenence e e e . (3.5) {4.4) (1.9}
Actuarial gain/(loss) - assumptions... 12.5 4702 482.7
Exchange adjustments... - 20.7 20.7
AL 31 December ZY2L.......eeeeetivieeereeeestaamtassaesnenria o ressasinsanssnssnsans (39.2) (298.1) (337.3)
Reconciliation of fair value of scheme assets:
United
European Kingdom Tocal
€m
AT January 2021 ... s - 498.0 498.0
Expecied returmn on scheme assets.... .. R . 0.2 82 84
Employer contributions...... .. ... 4.0 37 127
Movements berween schemes in surpius and schemes in deficat. 45.3 841.2 886.5
Benefits paid . R U PP U US TP USPPPS PP PR {1.2) (26.0) (27.2)
Actuarial gain ... 9.6 6.9 16.5
Exchange adjustments...... ... . ... ... - 459 459
At 31 December 2021 ... ioemrrmermercieee e ssimnsnarereas 57.9 1,382.9 1,440.8
Expected return on scheme assels.. 0.6 255 26.1
Employer contributions......c.....oooceiiiene e 37 283 320
Movements between schemes in surplus and schemes in deﬁcat. - (466.8) (466.6)
Benefitspaid ... e e (1.9) (78.2) (80.1)
Actuarial 108S.......ooiiie e et e (1.9 (552.8) (564.7)
Exchange adJUSHMENTS. . oot it o e e ene e - (22.5) 22.5)
ACIT DECOMBEr 2022...cooooee oo esee e rneeereens s sosnsssrtes s 484 316.6 365.0
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20 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Pension liabilities (schemes in deficit)

The disclosures relating to the net pension liabilities are disclosed below. The amounts recognised in the balance

sheet are as follows:

2022
United North Rest af the
Eurgpean Kingdom America World Total

€m
EQUITIES ..o 47.7 - 359 0.7 843
Bonds....... e . 733 1531 42.4 0.7 269.5
Property ... e e 125 - - - 12.5
Other............ S e 809 2813 (31.6} 59 3365
Fair value of plan assets . U 214.4 434.4 46.7 73 702.8
Present value of funded obligations ... {273.1) (456.3) (40.1) (9.6, (7719.1)
Present value of unfunded obligations ..... (B8.3) (0.3) (8.9 (15.7) (113.2)
Net pension fiability ............... (147.0) 22.2) 2.3) (8.0 (189.5)

2021

United North Rest of the
European Kingdom America World Total

€m
EQuities ... oo o 95.4 - 4.6 0.3 100.3
BONGS...coeiev e e e 95.6 1.2 55.4 0.5 152.8
Property .. 8.8 - - - 2.8
Other e . 479 0.7 Q.5 8.3 57.4
Fair value of plan assets .............. 247.7 1.9 60.5 9.2 3193
Present vatue of funded oblhigations . (340.2) {2.4) {53.7) (12.0) {408.3)
Present valug of unfunded obligations ... {(112.5) (0.5) (7 (19.6) (144 3)
Net pension liability (205.0) 1.0 (4.9) (224) (233.3)

The majority of the assets invested in property are unquoted. All other investments are largely in quoted instruments.
Equities comprise of well-diversified holdings over a wide range of global markets.

There are no plans which hold invesiments in the Group’s own financial instruments, or bold assets or property which

are used by the Group.

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 202] 2022 2028
United
Eurppean Kingdom North America Rest of World Total
€m
Current service costt .. (13.8) (15.1) N N () (09) (1.9) {(2.0) {164} (9N
Past scrvice ereditt" . L 0.2 - - - - - - - 0.2
Expected return on plan assets® . 31 1.6 - 13.0 1.7 1.6 03 0.2 5.1 164
Interest cost on obligation™.... .. _{5.3} (3.4} - (137 (18) .7 (L) (08 (84 (9.1
R (62) _ (67 _ - _(9) _(08) _ (0 _Q7) _Q& (90 _ Q1)

) (ncluded within aperaung profit
) Ingluded within finance cost
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED

31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Pension liabilities (schemes in deficit) (continued)

Reconciliation of present value of scheme liabilities:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

United North Rest of the
European Kingdom America Warld Total
€m

At January 2021 ... (509.3) {799.5) (68.6) (33.4) (1,410.8)
Transfers iM.....c.ooooeeieeeeiceiei e (0.8) - - (0.1) 0.9)
CUurrent SErvice COSt ...ocoovvvrveeies eoeeenee (15 (1.7 [((R)] (20) {(19.7)
Past service eredit ..o.cooviree s 0.2 - - - 0.2
Employee contributions ....................... {0.3) - - - 0.3)
Tnterest COSL. ..o (3.4) (13.2) (1.7 0.8) (19.1)
Movements between schemes in surplus

and schemes in deficit.....c....oo. 455 829.0 - - B74.5
Benefits paid ..o 15.2 51.6 6.5 4.0 773
Actuarial (loss)/gain - experience ... (5.8) 1.2 1.6 0.7 3.7
Actuarial gain/(loss) - assumptions.......... 20.1 (17.0) 32 1.6 7.9
Exchange adjustments.................ccceeen. 10 (53.3) (5.5) (0.2y (58.0)
At 31 December 2021 (452.7) 2.9) {65.4) (31.6) {552.6)
Divesture........ s e - - - 2.0 240
Current service Cosl.ou. o ioccveieiiee e (13.8) - 0.7} ) (16.4)
Employee coatributions ....eeeee.veeeenenncn.e 0.3} - - 0.3
Thlerest oSt . . . oo o (5.5} - (1.8) (n (84)
e e s 0 SUPILS : (488.7) - : (488.7)
Benefits paid................ ... s 19.9 - 43 4.6 28.8
Actuarial (loss)/gain - experience ... (6.2) 02 (0.4) 0.6 (5.8)
Actuarial gain - asSUmptions................... 95.4 1.3 17.2 22 161
Exchange adjustments.................... 1.8 335 (2.2 ©.1) 33.0
At 31 December 2022........ (361.4) (456.6) (49.0) {25.3) (892.3)
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20 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Pension liabilities (schemes in deficit) (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value of scheme assets:

United North Rest of the
European Kingdom America World Total
€m

At Jamuary 2020 270.0 T7L.7 61.5 8.7 1,1 1.9
Expected return on scheme assets........... 1.6 13.0 1.6 02 16.4
Employer contributions... ... 234 327 1.0 4.1 61.2
Employee contributions ... 03 - - - 0.3
Movements between schemes in surplus
and schemes in deficit... ... ... {45.3) (B41.2) . - (886.5)
Benefits paid _.... (15.2) (51.6) 6.5) 4.m (77.3)
Actuarial gain/(loss)..... .o 14.1 250 2.0) 01 372
Exchange adjustments..........cccoovien oo (1.2) 523 4.5 01 56.1
At 31 December 2021 c.uniiccviiveciiaecnnnns 247.7 1.9 60.5 9.2 3193
Divesture - . - (1.9 19
Expected return on scheme assets.... 31 - ) 03 5.1
Employer contribulions..........o...c..oooeeeee. 25.7 0.2 09 42 31.0
Employee contributions . - 0.3 - - 0.3
Mavamens berveet schemes i s S : e
Benefits paid..........ccco..nn (19.8) - 4.4) (4.6 (28.8)
Actuanaf loss ... . (4.7} (0.6} (13.6) 0.1 (56.0)
Exchange adjustments .. 0.9 (33.7) 1.6 0.2 (328)

214.4 434.4 46.7 7.3 702.8

At 31 December 2022

Depending on prevailing exchange rates, the Group expecis

pension plans in 2023,

to contribute approximately €59.7 million to its defined

21 PROVISIONS
Onerous Severance and Plant Other
contracts restructuring  _Envir al closures provisions Tatal
€m

At 1 January 2022 1.5 35 2019 12.8 209 240.6
Charged/(credited) to lhc

consolidated income statement .. ) 0.1 0.2 ) 0l )
Reclassifications ... ... ... - 48 (4.0) {2.8) (2.0)
Business disposals (1.3) - - - - (1.3)
Utilised in the ycear ... (0.2) (2.9) (26.2) 2.7 (0.8) (32.8)
Discount unwinding . - - (12.5) (0.3) (0.1} (129
Effects of movement in forelgn

- . (3.0} 0.1y 0.1 .

exchange ... (0.1} 3.0 0 0.1 (3.3)
At 3t December 2022 ... - 0.6 1643 57 172 188.3
NON-CUITENE, oo - 03 1614 62 174 1853
CUTENt e e ey e 15 3.2 40.5 6.6 3.5 553
At 31 December 2021 . ... .. 1.5 3.5 201.9 12.8 20.9 240.6
Non-current ... - 0.1 134.4 432 159 154.6
Current. .. ... . - 0.5 304 15 1.3 337
At 31 December 2822 - 0.6 164.8 5.7 17.2 188.3
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21 PROVISIONS (continued)

Onerous contracts

Provisions relaled to unfavourable supply contracts and contract termination costs with related parties. Cash of €0.2
million was spent in the year. The remaining provision was disposed of as part of sale of INEQS Styrolution India

limited (see Note 3}.
Severance and restruciuring

The provision recognised in 2021 by Aromatics business in respect of manpower reorganisation costs was fully spent
in the year for €2.2 million. Remaining provision related to supply chain and commercial teams reorganisation costs
in INEOS Inovyn. Cash of €0.7 million was spent in the year. The remaining provision of €0.6 million is expected to
be fully utilised by 2025

Envirormental

Environmental provisions represent the expected cost of remediation works where there is a legal or constructive
obiigation for the works to be carried out and a reasonable estimate of the cost can be made. The majority of the
provisions created in prior years relate to obligations associated with the remediation of mercury-based cell rooms at
INEOS Inovyn sites i Belgium, France, Sweden, Spain, haty and the United Kingdom, plus costs of implementing
the remdiation work at the Feyzin site in France to comply with local legislation.

In total €26.2 million was spent on environmental-related provisions in the year and the remaining provisions of
€164.8 million is expected to be utilised by 2047.
Plant closures

Plant closure provision mainly relate to activities at Runcom, United Kingdom in respect of the Sulphur Chemicals
plant which closed in 2021 and Withelmshaven, Germany in respect of the mercury cell room which closed in 2013.
The remaining provision of €5.7 million is expected to be fully utilised by 2029.

Other provisions

Other provisions mainly relate to various legal and customer claims, including a hiability to the Styrolution business’
previous shareholder, BASF under prior legal agreements. Therc was a reclassification of €2.8 million to short-term
accruals during 2022 as the amounts and timing of payment became more certain. The provision is expected to be
fully urilised by 2027.

22 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

2022 2021
€m

Current
Derivative commodity contracts designated as fair value through the profit or

1055 (BOE 25) .. iiiveeeeiere ot evece e ee st ene e e et 46.2 534

23 SHARE CAPITAL AND DIVIDENDS

Share capital
2022 2021

€m

200,100 (2021: 200,100) issued Ordinary shares {pounds sterling) of £1.00
(2021 £1.00) @aCh .. e 03 03
2 (2071 - 4) lssucd Ordinary shares (Euro) of€1 00 (2021: €1.00) each........... .. - -

o . - “70.3"7_'j__ 037
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23 SHARE CAPITAL AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

As the reporting currency of the Company is the Euro, share capital has been converted to Euros at the effective rate
of exchange ruling at the date of issuance.

On 15 January 2021, the Company undertook a capital reduction exercise of its fult share premium account ot €6,620.4
million which was transferred to retained eamings. Two ordinary shares (Euro) were also canceiled.

Dividends

The following dividends were recognised during the year:

2022 2021
€m
Repayment of Equity Bridge Contribution ... ... - 8249
Other dividends declared.......coovoiiiiiii e e e s 521.0 393.3
521.0 1,218.2

The Equity Bridge Contribution received from the Company’s immediate party undertaking as part of the BP
Acquisition was repaid 1n January 2021 via a return of capital of €824.9 mithon.

Interitn dividends of €521.0 million were declared and paid during the year (2021: £393.3 mullion}. Subsequent @
year-end, the Directors have declared a final dividend of €500.9 miilion (2021: €nil) as at 23 January 2023 (sec note
32).

The dividend declared in the current year equates to €2,603.7 per Ordinary share (202(: €6,087 8 per Ordinary share).

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to recetve dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one
vote per share at meetings of the Company.

24 MERGER RESERVE

On 31 December 2020, the Group acquired 94.9% of the shares in INOVYN Limited, pursuant to a contribution
agreement dated 24 July 2020 berween INEOS Group Investments Limited, TNEOS Industries Limmited, INEOS
Industries Holdings Limited, the Company and (INEOS Quattro Financing Limiled, a subsidiary undertaking of the
Company in exchange for €3,416.4 million. On 31 December 2020, €3,245.7 million was debited to a merger reserve,
being the difference between the book value of the net assels acquired and the total consideration paid.

A difference of €1,281.2 million between the predecessor value of the Group and the fair value recognised as the
investment has been debited to a merger reserve for other prior year acquisitions.

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instrurents:
e credittisk
«  liquidity risk
e market risk (including curvency and interest rate risk)

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group's management of capital.

The Board of Directors have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management
framework. They are responsible for developing and momitoring the Group’s risk management policies. The Group,
thraugh its rraiming and management standards and pracedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control
environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.
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15 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

25(a)  Fair values of financial instruments

Trade and other receivables

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables generally approximates to fair value due to their short matunties.
Where settlement is not due in the short-term and where the effect is material, fair value is estimated as the present
value of future cash flows discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

Trade and other payables

The carrying amount of trade and other payables generally approximates to fair value due to their short maturities.
Where settlement is not due in the short-term and where the effect is material, fair value is estimated as the present
value of future cash flows discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

Cash and cash equivalenis

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is estimated as its carrying amount where the cash is repayable on demand.
Where it is not repayable on demand then the fair value is estimated at the present value of future cash flows,
discounted at the market rate of interest at the balance sheet date.

Interest-bearing borrowings

The fair value of the interest-bearing loans (excluding the securitisation facility, lease liabilities and related party
loans) is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market
rate of interest at the balance sheet date. The fair value of the securitisation facilities is the same as the carrying value
excluding debt issue costs. The fair value of lease labilities is determined by reference to market rates for similar
lease agreements. The fair value of the related party loans is the same as the carrying value.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group has entered into derivative financial instruments and the fair value is based on market or broker quotes.
Equity instruments

The Group has entered into derivative financial instruments and the fair value is based on market or broker quotes.

The fair values for each class of financial assets and financial liabilities together with their carrying amounts shown
in the consolidated balance sheet are as follows:

2022 2021
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
: €m
Financial assets held at fair value through other
comprehensive incame:
EQUItY INSIIUMIENIS. ooovee et stve s e 5.5 S5 - -
Financial assets held at amortised cost:
Trade receivables..........oooooi e 1,383.1 1,383.1 [,788.0 1,788.0
Amounts due from related parties and associated undertakings 752.2 752.2 124.4 124.4
Other receivables (excluding prepayments and 1ax)................ 3369 3369 429.6 429.6
Other investments............ v.8 9.8 18.1 18.1
Deferred consideration.............. 239.0 2350 . .
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENS ......o.c..... oo e 1,530.1 1,530 1 1,291.3 1,291.3

TOLA] FIRATICEA] ASSELS 1vervrrvrseeeenrivasiosorisesesssaesessees sesemsmrescsnsens 4,256.6 4,256.6 3,651.4 3,651.4
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

25(a)  Feir values of financial instruments (continued)

2022 - 121
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
ameount value amaount value
€m
Financial liabilities held at fair value through profit
or loss:
Derivative commodity CORTactS.....ccooooiriiiieeceiriieeie e vee 46.2 46.2 534 53.4
Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost:
Senior Secured Notes due 2026......... D (SO 1,255.5 1,108.4 1,228 1,236.9
Senior Notes due 2026 ..o 500.0 410.0 500.0 502.2
Term Loan B Facilities due 2026 ... 33156 3,210.6 3,216.5 3,237.2
Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 .....ooiiiivieeie e - - 179.9 i82.7
Term Loan A Facilities due 2025 .......... VT U - - 183.4 185.3
Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 ................ ST 6313 589.8 621.5 612.4
Senior Secured Notes due 2027 ... T 597.0 486.0 596.3 584.3
Securitisation facilities ... ....c..ooocoooevierceen e e (0.2) - (0.3} -
Loan from retated party .. 41.7 417 398 398
OUher 1OANS ..coov oo 0.1 02 9.4 9.4
Trade Payables... .. ..o 1,390.8 1,390.8 1,737.0 1,737.0
Amounts due to retated parties............................ 2393 2393 4288 428.8
Accruals and other payables (excluding deferred income)... 701.8 7018 840.1 B40.1
Lease HabIltIES ... oo e nen 2893 2853 2992 299.2
Total financial liabilities ............... . 5,008.4 8,514.1 9.928.8 9.948.7

The table below analyses financial insuments carried at fair value, by valuation method The different levels,
determined in accordance with IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”’, have been defined as follows:

e Level |: queted prices {unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

s Level 2. inputs other than quoted prices included within Level | that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

« Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observabie market data (unobservable inputs).

The fair values of all financial assets and financial liabilines by class together with their carrying amounts shown in
the balance sheet are as follows:

2022
Level
Fair value 1 2 3
€m
Net financial assets and liabilities designated as fair value
through profit or loss
Derivative commodity coniracts ........................ T, (46.2) - (46.2) -
(46.2) - (463) -
Net finauncial assets and liabilities designated as fair value
through other comprehensive income
Equity IMStruments ... . 5.5 5.5 - -
5.5 3.5 - -
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

25(a)

INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

Fair values of financial instruments (continued)

2021

Level

Fair value 1 2

Net financial assets and liabilities designated as fair value

through profit or loss

Derivative commaedity contracts

€m

(53.4)

(53.9

The derivative commodity contracts have been assigned to Level 2 since there are no market prices available. The
fair value of derivatives is the value that the Group would receive or have to pay if the financial instrument were
transfeired to an external party at the reporting date. ‘The equity instruments have been assigned to Level 1 since the
shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange.

There have been no transfers from one level te another during 2021 and 2022,

25(h)

Net gains and losses from financial instruments

Net gains and losses from financial instruments comprise the results of valuations, the amortisation of debt issue costs,
the recognition and derecognition of impairment losses, results from the translation of foreign currencies, interest,
dividends and all effects on profit or loss of financial instruments.

Net gains from financial assets measured at amortised cost relate primarily to recognition and derecognition of
impairment losses, results from the translation of foreign currencies and interest income.

Net losses from financial liabilities measured at amortised cost relate primarily to amortisation of debt issue costs,
resuits from the translation of foreign currencies, interest expense and other financing related expenses.

The item ‘financial instruments at fair value through profit or less’ comprise valuation gains and losses, and only
includes gains and losses frorm instruments which are not designated as hedging instruments as defined by IFRS 9.

Gains from financial instruments

Interest income ... ...

Foreign exchange gains...........

Net restlt ...cciiieinseersevcnsssions

[T S

Carrying value at 31 Dec

Losses from financial instruments

INterest COSt. . oo

Amortisation of debt issue costs

Net fair value loss on derivatives..........oooovev i

Net fair value foss on equity instruments ...

Net resplt .ooeeeee

Carrying value at 31 December...

2022
Financial Fair value Financial Financial
assefts at recognised assets at fair  liabilities at
amortised in profit or value amortised
cost loss through OCI cost
€m
i4.6 - - -
140.7 - - R
155.3 - - -
4,251.1 - - -
- - - (247.0)
- - - (21.9)
- (20.8) - -
. (0.4) -
= O e R S o J . 1 ) S
- (20.8) (0.4) (347.5)
- (46.2) 5.5 (8,962.2)
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

25(8)  Net gains and losses from financial instruments (continued)

2021
Financial Fair value Financial
assets at recogunised liabilities at
amortised in profit or amartised
cost loss cost
€m
Gains from financial instruments
Interest income ... ... [T s 72 - L -
Foreign exchange gains. ............oonenneninen i5t.3 - -
Net result 158.5 - -
Carrying value at 31 December .......cvveeeernee. 3,651.4 = -
Losses from financial instruments
Interest cosl................. [UTTSSTRU e T U e - - (2143}
Amortisahion of debtissue costs ... - Co- (68.6)
Net fair value gains on dernivatives.. - (40.8) -
Foreign exchange losses - - (56.9)
Net result , - (40.8) (339.8)
Carrying value at 31 December - (53.9) (9,875.4)

25(c)  Credit risk
Financial risk management

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty Lo a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations, and arises principaily from the Group's receivables from customers, deposits with financial
institutions and amount owed to Group undertakings.

The Group’s treasury policy and objectives in relation to credit nisk is to minimise the likelihood that the Group will
experience financial loss due to counterparty failure and to ensure that in the event of a single loss, the failure of any
single counterparty would not matenially impact the financial wellbeing of the Group.

Trade and other receivables

The Group's exposure to credit nsk 15 influenced mainly by the individual charactenstics of each customer. However,
managemen! also cansiders the demographics of the Group’s customer base, including the default risk of the industry
and country in which customers operate, as these factors may have an influence on credit nsk. Management considers
that there 15 no geographical concentration of credit risk. The Group has established a credit policy under which each
new customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms
and conditions are offered or are adjusted accordingly. The Group's review includes extemal ratings, when available,
and in some cases bank references. Purchase limits are established for cach customer, which represent the maximum
open amount without requiring approval. Customers that fail to meet the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may
transact with the Group only on a prepayment basis. No single customer accounts for more than 5% of revenue.

Investments. cash and cash equivalents

Surplus cash investments are only made with banks with which the Group has a relationship. Occasionally deposits
are made with banking counterparties that provide financing arrangements, reducing the credit exposure of the Group.
Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. Therefore, the maximum exposurc
to credit risk at the reporting date was the carrying amount of financial assets. Further details on the Group's exposure
to credit risk, and the associated impaurments recognised, are given in note 16.
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (coentinued)
25¢d}  Liguidity risk
Financial risk management

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its
liabilities when due, under normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage
to the Group. The Group's exposure 1o hquidity risk 15 limuted by the fact that it operates with significant cash
resources, it maintains the most appropriate mix of short, medium and long-term borrowings from the Group's lenders
and has significant headroom on the secuntisation facilities (see note 1 7).

The Group 1s reliant on committed funding from a variety of sources at Group and subsidiary company level to meet
the anticipated needs of the Group for the period covered by the Group’s budget.

The Group forecasts on a regular basis the expected cash flows that will occur on a weekly and monthly basis. This
information is used in conjunction with the weekly reporting of actual cash balances at bank in order to calculate the
level of funding that will be required in the short and medium term. On a monthly basis the level of headroom on
existing facilities i1s reported and forecast forward until the end of the financial year.

The maturity profile of the Group’s undrawn committed facilitics at 31 December 2022 and 2021 was as follows:

2022 2021
Undrawn Undrawn
facilities facilities
€m

In tess than one year.......... e e - -
In more than one year, but not more than two Years................ccoceieae. e ———— 840.0 690.0
In more than two years, but not more than five years....................... e - -

840.6 690.4

The undrawn committed facilities of €840 million (2021: €690.0 million) are in respect of the unused securitisation
facilittes. The maturity date of the securitisation facilities is 30 June 2024 for the INOVYN securitisation facility and
28 June 2024 for the Styrolution securitisation facility.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and
excluding the effect of netting agreements:
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
25¢d)  Liquidity risk (continued)

Financial risk management {(continued)

2022
Carrying Contractual 1 yearor 1to2 2to5 S years
amount  cash flows less years _years and over
€m
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Senior Secured Notes due 2026.................... 1,255.5 (1,394.1) (35.8) {(35.8) (1,322.3) -
Senior Notes due 2026 ... .. . 500.0 (575.1) (18.8) (18.8) (537.5) -
Term Loan B Facilities due 2026............ . 33156 (3,993.0) (2283) (2298) (3,534.9) -
Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 ............... - - - - - -
Term Loan A Facilities due 2025.......... ... - - - - - -
Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 ... ... 631.3 (760.7) (32.8) (33.1) (694.8) R
Senior Secured Notes due 2027............ 597.0 (660.8) (13.5) (13.3) (633.8) -
Securitisation facilities ... (0.2) 94 4.3) (3.6) (1.3) -
Loan from related party ..o 41.7 (51.9) - - - 519
Other loans........ 0.1 n 0.1 - - -
Trade payables .........co.cooveieiveiieis e 1,390.8 (1,390.8)  (1,39C.8) - - -
Amounts due to related parties.... . e 2393 (239.3) (239.3) - - -
Accruals and other payables {excludin
defereed income) payables ( 8 7018 (7018)  (669.9)  (254) {4.8) (1.7
Lease obligations 289.3 (390.3) (83 6) (62.4) (88.2) (156.1)
Derivative financial liabilities
Commuoadity contragts ... ... ... . 46.2 (46.2) 46.2) - - -
9,008.4 _ (10,213.5) (2,763.4) _(4224) _(6,818.0) (209.7)
2021
Carrying Contractual 1yearor 1to?2 2108 5 years
amount_cash flows less years years and over
€m
Non-derivative financizl liabilities
Senior Secured Notes due 2026, ... 1,223.8 (1,398.3) (34.9) {34.9) (1,3285) -
Senior Notes duc 2026 ..o.oooooee v 500.0 (593.9) (18 8) {18.8) (356.3) -
Term Loan B Facilities due 2026................. 32165 (3,639.2) (116.9) (116.8) (3,425.5} -
Term Loan A Facilities due 2023 ................ 179.9 (1859) (124.5) {61.4) - -
Term Loan A Facilities due 2025 ................. 183.4 (199.8) (52) (39.4) (155.2) -
Term Loan B Facilities due 2027 ... ... 621.5 (702.0) (16.9) {16.9) (668.2) -
Senior Secured Notes due 2027 ... ... 596.3 (674 3) (13.5) {13.5) (6473) -
Securitisation facilities ........................ (6.3 (8.8) (3.5) 39 (18 -
Loan from related party 198 (49.6) - - - (49.6)
Other [OaNS ... i v e e e 9.4 (9.9) 9.7 {o.n 1)
Trade payables ... e OSSR 1,737.0 (1,737.0) (1,737.0) - - -
Amounts due to related parties - 428 8 (4288} (428.8) - - -
Accruals and other payables (excluding
deferred IRCOME} oooiiriie e 8401 {840.1) (805.3) (29.2) 3.7 (1.9}
Lease obligations. ...........ooeeiiiee e 2992 (370.6) (82.3) (55.6) (89.2) (143.5)
Derivative financial liabilities
Commodirty conteacts ... ... 534 (83.4) (53.4) - - -
99288 (10,916.6) (3,450.7) (390.1) (6875.8)  (195.0)
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

25fe)  Market risk

Financial risk management

Market risk reflects the possibility that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates, crude
oil, key feedstocks and raw materials wall adverscly affect the value of the Group’s assets, liabilities or expected future
cash flows. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptahle
paramelers, while optimising the return,

(i) Market risk - Foreign currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to the US Dollar, Sterling, Norwegian Krone and Swedish Krona. Foreign exchange risk arises
from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities.

A substantial portion of the Group’s revenue is generated in, or linked to, Sterling, US dollars and the Euro. Product
prices, certain feedstock costs and most other operating costs are denominated in US Dollar, Sterling, Euro, Norwegian
Krone and Swedish Krona. Inthe US petrochemical and specialty chemicats businesses, product pnces, raw materials
costs and most other costs are primarily denominated in US Dollars.

The group applies hedge accounting to foreign currency differences arising on the retranslation of a financtal liability
designated as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation. When the settlement of a monetary item receivable
from or payable to a foreign operations is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains
and losses arising from such a moenetary items is considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation
and changes to the fair value are recognised directly within equity.

The Group generally does not enter into foreign currency exchange instruments to hedge foreign currency transaction
exposure, although the Group may do so in the future.

The Group benefits from natural hedging, to the extent that currencies in which net cash flows are generated from the
Group’s operations, are matched against long-term indebtedness.

The foreign currency exposure where the Group’s financial assets / (liabilities) are not denominated in the functional
currency of the operating unit involved is shown below, Foreign exchange differences on retranslation of these assets
and liabilities are taken to the income statement of the Group.

2022 2021
€m
TS, . et e et ettt e [OURUTOTTUPYN 374 154.9
Pounds Sterling............. PSP TS UPTPOOR e e 273 20.6
US Dollars ......... e et e e e ra et aeiean e nnnnes 186.3 33.6
INOrWeZIAN KITOME ..o e ettt et e e ea e e (0.3) (8.8
ORETS . .oev et over oot e (74.8) (76.6)
175.9 151.3

Sensitivitv analvsis

A 10% per cent weakening of the following currencies at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022 would have
increased/(decreased) equiry and profit or loss by the amounts shown belaw. This calculation assumes that the change
occurred at the reporting date and had been applied to risk exposures existing at that date.

This analysis assumes thal all other variables, in particular other exchange rates and interest rates, remain constant.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for the comparative year.
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23 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

25(e)  Market risk (continued)

(1) Market risk - Foreign currency risk fcontinued)

2022 2024 2022 202}
Equity Profit or loss
€m
BUIOS ... i TR - - (3.4) (14.1)
Pounds Sterling - - (2.6) (1.8)
Norwegian Krone. - - (16.9) (.7
USDollars ... e - - - (3.1}
ORET o e - - 6.7 6.7

A 10% per cent strengthening of the above currencies against the Euro at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022
would have had the equal but oppesite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that
all other variables remain constant.

(ii) Market risk — Interest rate risk
Profife

At the reporting date the interess rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

2022 2021
€m

Fixed rate instruments
Financial liabilities ... SO OT PSRV (2,683 6) (2,659.1)

(2,683.6) (2,659.1)
Variable rate instruments
Financial assets ... ...l e 1,530.1 1,291.3
Financial Habilitles . e e (3,946 8) (4,210.4)

(2,416.7) (2,919.1)

Sensitivity analysis

A change of 1% in interest rates al the reporting dare would have increased equity and profit or loss by the amounts
shown below. This calculation assumes that the change occurted at the reporting date and had been applied 1o risk
exposures existing at that date.

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant and considers the
effect of financial instruments with variable interest rares and financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2022 and 2021.

Profit or {loss) ' 022 2021

Increase in interest Tates by 1% oo B [T _(242 (29.2)

A 1% change in the opposite direction of the above interest raies at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022 would
have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other
variables rernain constant.
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
25¢e) Market risk (continued)

(iii) Market risk — Commadity price risk

This section discusses the Group's exposure to the commodity contracts which are not covered under the own use
exemption and are recognised as derivative instruments.

The Gironp is exposed to conunudily price tisk through tluctuations in raw material prices and sales of products. The
raw material exposures result primarily from the price of feedstocks, electricity and base chernicals linked to the price
of crude. The sales price exposures are primarily related to petrochemicals where prices are in general linked to the
market price of crude oil.

The Group enters into contracts to supply or acquire physical volumes of commaodities at future dates during the
normal course of business that may be considered derivative contracts. Where such confracts exist and are in respect
of the normal purchase or sale of products to fulfil the Group’s requirements, the own use exemption from derivative
accounting is applied.

The Group in some circumstances enters into swagp vontracts to acquire physical velumes of commodities at future
dates which are not covered under the own use exemplion and are recognised as derivative instruments. Derivative
commodity contracts designated as fair value through profit or loss are disclosed in notes 22.

The Group operates within procedures and policies designed to ensure that risks, including those relating to the default
of counterparties, are minimised.

25(  Capital management

The Group’s objectives for managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concemn in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital

structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group defines its capital employed of €9,444.1 million (2021: €8.587.3 million) as equity attributable to the
owners of the Company of €4,582.5 million (2021: €3,238.4 millton) and net debt (total gross loans and borrowings
less cash and cash equivalents) of €4,861 .6 million {2021 €5,348.9 million).

The principal sources of debt available to the Group at 31 December 2022 arc described in note 17 along with the key
operating and financial covenants that apply to these facilities.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
issue new shares, raise new debt or sell assets to reduce debt. The ability of the Group to pay dividends and provide
appropriate facilities to the Group is restricied by the terms of principal financing agreements to which members of
the Group are party.
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26 RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT

2622 2021
€m
Increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year............ RO e 2269 438.4
Cash outflow from change in debt financing......... . (12.2) (647.1)
Change in net debt resulting from cash flow... 214.7 (208.7)
Disposals of business.... ... 408.9 -
Other net 10n-¢ash TrANSACHIONS. ........oo.iveii it sens et eear s e (136.3) (166.8)
Movement in net debt in the year.. 487.3 (375.5)
Forefgn
exchange
and other 31
1 January Disposal non-cash December
2022 Cash flow {Note 3)* changes 2022
€m
Cash at bank and in hand................. 1,291.3 226 9 - 1.8 1,530.¢
Debt due within one year.................. (150.5) 1381 - (8.2) (20.6)
Debt due after more than one year... (6,489.7) {150.3) 4089 (140.0) (6,371.1)
Total external borrawings................. (6,640.2) 2.2) 408.9 _(148.2) (6,391.71)
Net debt before issue costs .....e..... 5,348.9) 214.7 408.9 (136.3) (4,861.6)
*Excludes cash
Foreign

exchange and
other non-cash 31 December

1 January 2021 Cash flow changes 2021
€m
Cash at bank and inhand.................. 805.6 4384 47.3 12913
Diebt due within one year ................ (2.9304) 2,925¢6 (145.7) (150.5}
Debt due after more than one year.... (2,848.6) (3,572.7) (68.4) {6,485.7)
Total external borrowings................ (5.779.0) __(647.1) (214.1) (6,640.2)
Net debt before issue casts ............ {4,973.4) (208.7) (166.8) (5,348.9)

Following the application of IFRS 16 Leases on | January 2019, all lease liabilities have been excluded from the
definition of net debt.

27 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Outstanding capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment authorised by the directors of Group companies and
for which contracts had been placed as at 31 December 2022 by the Group amounted to approximately €211.7 milbon
(2021: €575.5 million).

28 CONTINGENCIES

The Group companies are and may from time to time be involved in proczedings or litigation arising in the ordinary
course of business. Management does not believe that the ultimate resolution of these matters will matenally affect
the Group’s financial condition or results of operations.

100



INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

29 RELATED PARTIES

Related parties comprise:
e Parent entities and their subsidiaries not included within the INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited group;

= Entities controlled by the shareholders of INEOS Limited, the ultimate parent company of INEOS Quattro
Holdings Limited,

*  Key management personnel

» Jointly controlled entities and associated undertakings held by [INEOS Limited (and their subsidiaries) and

e Jointly controlled entities and associated undertakings held within the INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited
group.

Mr J A Racliffe, Mr A C Currie and Mr J Reece are shareholders in TINEOS Limited.

Parent entities and their subsidiavies not included within the INEOS Quattro Holdings group

Matenial trading and non-trading transactions by the Group with the entities controlled by INEOS Limited are as
follows:

Transaction value Balznce outstanding
Twelve-Months Period Ended Period Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2022 2021
(€ in millions)

Sale of products ................. . 338.1 323.6 - -
Purchase of raw matenals (1,488.1) (1,229.3) - -
COSE TECOVEIIES....oo..iooes o ooceeeoeeeoeee e ers e 173 89.3 - -
SEIVILES ME0RIVED ....oovvvooceveeree s oot i, (223.9 (139.7) - -
NEUUEETES ... o oo en (£.8) (.7 - .-
Trade and other receivables ... - - 97.0 62.1
Loans receivable . ... ... - - 5008 -
Trade and other payables - - (172.4) (264.4)
Interest-bearing loans and barrowings ... ... - b (41.7) (39.8)

Tncluded within services above is a managerment fee paid to INEOS Limited of €59.5 million (2021: €55.3 million).
No amounts remained outstanding as at 31 December 2022 (2021: €nil).

In general, all outstanding trading balances with [INEOS companics are priced based on contractual arrangements and
are to be setiled in cash within two months of the reporting date, with the exception of the interest-bearing loans and
borrowings. None of the balances are secured. The transactions were made on termns equivalent to those that prevail
in arm’s length transactions. There were no provisions for doubtful debt related to these entities as at 31 December
2022 (2021: €nil).

The loan recejvable is an unsecured loan owed by INEOS Industries Holdings Limited. The loan attracts interest at
commercial rate and had maturity of 2 December 2023. Subsequent to the year-end, this loan was fully settled through
a dividend distribution approved on 23 January 2023 (see note 32).

The interest bearing loan is an unsecured loan due to INEOS Enterprises Holdings Limited. The loan bears interest
at a rate of 4.5%. There is no formal repayment date under the loan agreement.
Entities controlled by the shareholders of INEOS Limited

The shareholders of INEOS Limited own a controlling interest in the share capital of INEOS Limited and
Screencondor Limited. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group made no sales or purchases with these
companies (2021: €nil). As at 31 December 2022, amounts owed by Screencondor Limited were €1.2 million (2021:
€1.2 miilion),
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29 RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Jointly controlled entities and associated undertakings held within the INEOS Limited group and jointlv controlled
eitities and associated undertakings held within the INEOS Quatiro Holdings Limited group.

Material trading and non-trading transactions with these entities during the period wers as follows:

Transaction value Balance outstanding
Twelve-Months Period Ended Perigd Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2022 2621
(€ in millions)}

Sale of products ... .. ... e 88.6 79.8 - -
Purchase of raw matetials ... ... . e (553.0) (570.5) - -
Cost recoveries.... 236.1 191.5 - -
Services received ... ot (0.4) - - -
Net interest.............. B e e 2.1 2.0 - -
Trade and other receivables ........... ...o.ocoooerivecenns oo - - 77.8 46.7
Trade and other payables ... .............. RO N - (67.1) (164.4)
Loans receivable ... .. - - 75.1 14.4

In general, all outstanding balances with these related parties are priced based on contracal arrangements and are to
be settled in cash within two months of the reporting date with the exception of the interest-bearing loans and
borrowings. None of the bafances are secured. The transactions were made on terms equivalent to those that prevail
in anm’s length transactions. There were no provisions for doubtful debt relaied o these entities as at 31 December
2022 (2021: €nil).

Loans receivable include a totai of €63.1 miliion (oans granted by the Group to INEOS Styrotution Sinopec Advanced
Materials {Ningbo) Ltd. These loans are unsecured, attract interest a1 commercial rate and maiure in 2032

Transactions with key managerient personnel

The Group define key management as the Directors of the Company. Details of Directors’ remuneration are given in
note 7.

k) ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING AND CONTROLLING PARTY

The immediate parent company of the Company is INEQS Industries Holdings Limited.

The ultimate parent undertaking of the Company is INEQS Limited, a company incorporated in the Isle of Man. The
directors regard Mr J A Ratcliffe as the ultimate controlling party by virtue of his majority shareholding in INEOS
Limited.

The smallest and largest group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by INEOS

Indusiries Limited. Copies of the financial statements can be obtained from the company secretary at the registered
office, INEOS Industres Limited, Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, 3043 7FG.

102



INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022 (forming part of the financial statements)

31 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Group prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with adepted IFRSs, which require
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions which affect the application of the accounting policies,
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

On 28 July 2022, INEOS and Sinopec signed a petrochemical deal to establish a total of three joint-ventures for ABS,
based on INEOS’ proprietary ABS technology. The set-up of the first joint-venture was completed on 28 December
2022. Management had to exercise critical judgement regarding the allocation of the consideration to the disposal of
INEOS Styro Advanced Materials (Ningbo) Pte Lid due to the linked nature of the transactions. The contractual
arrangements are such that the first two joint ventures are accounted for together, and the third will be accounted for
separately, in due course.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting period
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are discussed below.

Post-retirement benefits

The Group operates a number of defined benefit post-employment schemes. Under IAS 19 Revised Employee Benefits,
management is required to estimate the present value of the future defined benefit obligation of each of the defined
benefit schemes. The costs and year end obligations under defined benefit schemes are determined using actuarial
valuations. The actuarial valuattons involve making numerous assumptions, including:

» Future rate of increase in salaries;

« Inflation rate projections;

* Discount rate for scheme liabilities;

+ Expected rates of return on the scheme assets;
e«  Mortality levels.

Details of post-retirement benefits including the major actuarial assumptions and the sensitivity of the post-
retirement benefits to the assumptions are set out in Note 20 : pension plan assumptions.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised for the cost of remediation works where there is a legal or constructive obligation for such
work to be carried out. Where the estimated obligation arises upon initial recognition of the related asset, the
corresponding debit is treated as part of the cost of the related asset and depreciated over its estimated useful life.

Other provisions are recognised in the period when it becomes probable that there will be a future outflow of funds
resulting from past operations or events that can be reasonably estimated. The timing of recognition requires the
application of judgement to existing facts and circumstances, which can be subject to change.

Estimates of the amounts of provisions recognised are based on current legal and constructive requirements,
technology and price levels. Because actual outflows can differ from estimates due to changes in laws, regulations,
public ¢xpectatians, technology, prices and conditions, and can take place many years in the future, the carrying
amounts of provisions are regularly reviewed and adjusted to take account of such changes.

The nature and amount of provisions as well as the key assumptions are included within the financial statements are
detailed in note 21. The discount rate applied to reflect the time value of money in the carrying amount of provisions
requires estimation. The discount rate applied is reviewed regularly and adjusted following changes in market rates. If
the estimated discount rate, one of the key assumptions in detcrmining the environmental provisions, used in the
calculation had been 1% higher than management’s estimalte, the carrying amount of the environmental provisions
would have been €3.9 million lower.
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k] | CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment tests for goodwill and other non-financial assets

Goodwill impairment iesting is performed annually or of there is an indication of impairment. Goodwill impairment
tests are based on cash generating units and compare the recoverable amount of the unit with the respective carrying
amount. The recoverable amount of an asser or cash generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs of dispasal
and its value in use. The value in use is determined using a discounted cash flow method, considering earnings forecast
of the unit, The management of the Group identified the operating segments as cash generating units (“CGUs") for
the purposes of testing goodwil! for impairment. Each unit or group of units to which goodwill is allocated to shatl
represent the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill 1s monitored for internal management purposes. The
goodwill is internally monitored at the level of business units.

Intangible assets other than goodwill assets and property, plant and equipment are generally valued at cost less
amortisation. Empairment losses on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are recognised when the
recoverable amount of the cash generating  unit which includes the asset is lower than the respective carrying amount.
In accordance with the definition of a cash generating unit under 1AS 36, the individual production plants generally
do not represent scparate cash generating units, but are part of {arger asset groups that form the cash generating units.

Since assessment whether goodwill or a non-financial asset is impaired is based on long-term business plans for the
cash generating units and the determination of an appropriate discount rate, management uses significant estimates
and assumptions in making these assessments. Details on the estimates used for the goodwill impairment test are
disciosed in notwe 11.

Partial disposal of business with joint control relained

On 28 December 2022, the Group transferred 50% of its shareholding in TNEOS Styrolution Advanced Materials
(Ningbo) Pte Limited to China Peaoleum & Chemical Corporation (Sinopec). As a result, the Group gave up controf
but retained joint control. The 50% equity share in the joint-venture acquired by the Group has been measured at fair
value on the date of acquisition by applying discounted cash flow method based on a long-term business plan with a
detailed planning period of seven years.

The discount rate of 9.0% applied to reflect the time value of money of the cash flows expected based on the long-
term business plan requires cstimation. If the estimated discount rate, one of the key assumptions in determining the
fair value, used in the calculation had been 1% higher than management's estimate, the fair value of 50% share of the
joint-venture will have been €81 million lower.

32 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 23 January 2023, the Group declared a dividend payment to its owners of €500.9 million. The dividend was used
to settie an inter-company [oan {principal pius interest} owed by the Group’s owners and as such fias not resulted in
any cash outflow (see note 16).

On 14 March 2023, the Group entered into an [neremental Facility Agreement to raise a new Dollar Term Loan B of
§500.0 million (€471.6 million equivalent) and a new Eure Term Loan B of €375.0 miilion. The gross proceeds
received under these borrowings were used on 15 March 2023 to pay an interim dividend to the Group’s owners of
€500.0 mitlion with the remaining proceeds used to increase the hquidity of the Group.

From March 2023, the Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2027 bears interest at a rate per annum equal to, at the
option of US Finco:

{a) the applicable Term SOFR plus 0.(0% (subject to a floor of 0% per annum) plus a margin of 2.00%; or

(b) the Alternate Base Rate (subject to a floor of 1.00% per annum) plus a margin of 1.00%.
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32 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (continued)

In April 2023, the Group has initiated the process of transitioning the Dollar Term Loan B Facility due 2026 from
LIBOR to SOFR.

Subsequent to the year-end, the Group entered into an interest rate swap agreement with HSBC to hedge the fair value
risk in relation to the 2030 Termi Loans with die netivnal principal amount of $500 million. Under this mterest rate
swap agreement, the Group will exchange the variable SOFR exposure for fixed-SOFR obligations.
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Naote 2022 2021
€m
AdminiStrative eXpenses. ... oo e 0.3) (0.1)
Operating foss. . . 2 (0.3) (0.1)
Income from shares in group undertakings ... 4 521.2 1,218.2
Profit before net finance costs 520.9 1,218.1
FINANCE IICOTIC ... eeiiesieeeeriisienes ereibss e e ns e eseseseemsanenaemseseocereanter et bnes 5 0.5 -
FENATICE COSLS .vvtieiiee oottt oo ete et e e e s oo een e e en e 5 (0.5) -
Profit Before CaX .. cirreeritstiee s sttt s eese st ds s b e seta s nan 520.9 1,218.1
Tax 0N PROTIE e ettt eae e [ (7.8) 0.2
Profit for the financial year ............... Artbrreees s s pss e teney ppeessa e nenescansterane 513.1 1,218.3

All activities of the Company relate to continuing operations.

The Company has ne recognised other comprehensive income and therefore no separate statement of other
comprehensive income has been presented.
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
COMPANY BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Nate 2022 2021
€m

Fixed assets
INVESIMERNTS ..o e ettt br e e 7 6,620.3 6,620.8
Current assets
Debtors: amounts due within One Y8 .......cc..ccceeiiinrecicininienesres 8 500.5 0.2
Debtors: amounts due after more than one year.............ccccoceiviiiininiinns 8 - -
Cash and cash equivalents................ ot S SO —— 0.3 03
Total current assets .........cccoccomeecceceieiincrcrcens eeimeeeemeestEee e eeT 500.8 0.5
Current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowing : : 9 (500.6) (0.1)
Trade and other payables......c.occveeinivenin ‘ 10 (7.8} (0.1)
Total current liabilities ........cccccvevrriiciiinecnnecressssssssannes remareenn reneeran et (508.4) (0.2)
Net current {(liabilities)/BSSetS .............cviveeiiceieniieace e ersrar s e (7.6) 0.3
Total assets less current liabilities......... ETRT eaveedunenansaaspnas reeeaaeaees : 6,613.2 6,621.1
Net assets 6,613.2 6,621.1

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital ........ocoeeecoermeeccict e e sse e 11 03 03

Share prefruurmn account ... 11 - -
Profit and loss account ..... cemeemmeesnenne s . 6,612.9 6,620.8
Total shareholder’s fUNAS....c.coiroraieeiossssienssssmssssersasseasapesemsssmessas 7 6,613.2 6,621.1

The financial statements on pages 107 to 12} were approved by the Board of Directors on 14 April 2023 and were
signed on its behalf by:

/G W Leask
Director

INEOS Quattro Hoidings Limited
Registered number: 09922632
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022

Calledup  Share  Profitand Total
share - premium loss shareholder’s
Noate capital account  account funds
€m

Balance at t January 202 1...eiiimeneiesinencreena. 0.3 6,620.4 0.3 6,621.0
Profit and total comprehensive income for the financial year........ - - 1,218.3 12183
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity:
Reduction of share premium ... e 1 - (6,620 4) 6,620.4 -
Repayment of Equity Bndge Contribution .................... e 1 - - (824.9) (824.9)
DHVAAENAS et 11 - - {393.3) {(393.3)
Total contributions by and distributions to owners.......cn........ - {6,620.4) 5,402.2 (1,218.2)
Balance at 31 December 2021 ....... tretenesarasesenamanesian 0.3 - 6,620.8 6,621.1
Profit and total comprehensive income for the financial year........ - - 513.1 KN
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity:
DHVIAEIES 1. ..cveeevvvees et et et 1 - - (521.0) {(521.0)
Total contributions by and distributions to owners......c.oeeccvies - - (521.0) (521.00
Balance at 31 December 2022 ..., 0.3 - 6,612.9 6,613.2
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022

t ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INEQS Quattro Holdings Limited (“the Company") is a private company, limited by shares, incorporated in the United
Kingdom, registered in England and Wales and has its registered office at Bankes Lane Office, Bankes Lane, PO Box
9. Runcom, Cheshire, United Kingdom, WA7 4JE.

These financial statements present information about the Company as an individual undertaking and not about its
group.

LI Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards, on a going concern
basis and under the historical cost accounting rules.

The Company financial statements have been prepared on a poing concem basis and approved by the Board of
Directors in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework (“FRS 1017) and the Companies Act 2006.

The Company meets its day to day working capital requirements through its intercompany loan, along with cash
generated by its subsidiaries’ operations. The Company held cash balances of €0.3 million at 31 December 2022
(2021: €0.3 million), current debtors of €500.5 million {2021: €0.2 million) and loans and borrowings of €500.6
million at 31 December 2022 (2021: €0.1 million). The Directors have considered the Company’s projected future
cash flows and working capital requirements and are confident that the Company has sufficient cashflows to meet its
working capital requirements for the next twelve months from the date of signing the financial statements.

On the basis of this assessment topether with net assets of €6,613.2 million as at December 31, 2022 (2021: €6,621 .1
million) the Directors have cancluded that the Company can operate within its current facilities for a period of at least
12 months from the date of this report. Therefore, these financial statements have been prepared on a going concemn
basis in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom.

The consolidated financial statements of INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited are prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards. [n these financial statements, the Company is considered to be a
qualifying entity (for the purposes of this FRS) and has applied the exemptions available under FRS 01 in respect of
the following disclosures:

e (Cash Flow Statement and related notes;

* Disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries;

= Disclosures in respect of capital management,

*  Disclosures in relation to the irnpairment of assets as required by IAS 36,
*  Financial instrument disclosures as required by [FRS 7;

e The effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs;

¢+  Comparative information for fixed asset reconciliations; and

*  Disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented
in these Company financial statements.

1.2 Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis. No assets or liabilities are stated ai fair value.
1.3 Functional and presentation currency

The Company financial statements are presented in Euros, which is also its functional cumrency.

14 Investments

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are carried at the cost to the Company (being the fair value of the shares
acquired) less any impairment.
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

L5 Impact of new standards and interpretations

There are no amendments (o accounting standards that are effective for the year ended 31 December 2022 which have
had a material impact on the Company.

L6 Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the local currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
transfation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and [abihities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the profit and loss account, except when deferred in reserves as qualifying net investment hedges.

L7 Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to imtial recognition they are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Cuash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, call deposits with maturities of three months or less from the
acquisition date and meney market funds that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are
used by the Company in the management of its short-term commitments. Pledged balances on accounts used for
payment transactions related to the securitisation of receivables are classified as cash. The amount of these balances
1s disclosed in the notes.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payabies are recognised initially at fair vaiue. Subsequent to imitial recognition they are measured al
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Invesiments in debt and equitv securilies
Tnvestments in loans and receivables are stated at amortised cost less impairment.
Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable wansaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings arc stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Share capital (ordinary shares)

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly artributable 1o the issue of ordinary shares are
recognised as a deduction from equity, et of any tax effects.

1.8 fmpairment

Financial assets {including receivables)

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether
there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset 15 impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss
event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative eifect on the estimated
future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost 15 calcuiated as the difference berween
1ts carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective
interest rate. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount. When a
subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss 10 decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss.
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022

1 ACCOUNTING POLICEES (continued)

19 Finance income and cost

Interest income and interest payable are recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective interest method.
Dividend income is recognised in the profit and loss account on the date the entity’s right to receive payments is
established. Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

LIy faxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit and loss
account except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in
equity.

Current tax s the expected lax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rares enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on timing differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilittes for financial
reporting, purposes and the amounts uscd for taxation purposes. The following timing differences are not provided for:
the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit other than in a business combination, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they
will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner
of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the timing difference can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same 1axation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to
settle the balances on a net basis.

2 OPERATING LOSS

The audit fee for the parent company for the year ended 31 Decemnber 2022 was €13,600 (2021: €10,300) and was
berne by a fellow group undertaking.

3 STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

The Company had no employees, other than the Directors, during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: none).

No Directors received any fees or remuneration in respect of their services as a director of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2022 {2021 €nil).

4 INCOME FROM SHARES IN GROUP UNDERTAKINGS

Duning 2022 the Company received dividends of €521.2 million from TNEOS Quattro Financing Limited.

During 2021 the Company received dividends of €824.9 million from INEOS Quattro Financing Limited to enable
the Company to repay the Equity Bridge Contribution received from the Company’s immediate party undertaking as
part of the BP Acquisition. In addition, the Company received further dividends of €393.3 million from INEQS
Quatiro Financing Limited.
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INEQS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022

5 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

2022 2021
€m
Finance income
Interest receivabie from associated undertakings ... ... 0.5 -
Total finance income ....... I =
Finance costs
Interest payable to associated undertakings.........ococoiriiiiri s -
Total finance ¢osts _(0.5) -
Net finance costs ....... - hd
6 TAX ON PROFIT
Recognised in the profit and loss account
2022 2021
€m
UK Corperation tax:
Current tax credit.........oo.viie . 0.1) 0.
Adjustment in respect of prior years. .. 7.9 _(on
Taotal current tax charge/(credit) ... 78 0.2)
Reconciliation of effective tax rate
2022 2021
€m
Total 1ax charge/(credit) .............. DO P ORGSR SR 78 (0.2)
Profit before taxation ... e e e 520.9 1,218.1
Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 19.0% £2021. 19.0%) ........ccoooenn 99.0 231.4
Adjustment in respect of Prior Years.... ... .o " 7.9 ©.0
Tax EXEMP iNCOME ..ooo. et e e e 99.1 (231.5
Total 1ax charge/(eredit) v oeeeevreecarmeraennae - 7.8 _0y

On 11 March 2021, the Finance Bill 2021 was announced in the United Kingdom, which increased the rvate of
carporation tax 10 25% on profits over £250,000 from Apri 2023.

7 INVESTMENTS

Shares in

group
Cost and net book value undertakings

€m

At 31 December 2021 and 2022, 6,620.8
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022

7 INVESTMENTS (continued)

The Company has the following investments in subsidiaries:

Class of Registered
Country of shares Ownership  Ownership office
Company incorporatioch Principal activity held 1022 2021 reference
INEOS Quattro Financing Limited” UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% m
NEQS Quatiro Finance 1 plc” UK Financing company Ordinary 100% 100% (1
NEQS Quattro Finance 2 ple UK Financing company Ordinary 100% 100% ]
TNEQS Styrolution Finance GmbH Germany Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (2)
INEQS Styrolution Investment GmbH Germany Ho'ding company Ordinary 100% 100% 2)
Manufacture of styrene
monomer and polymers, Members
NEQS Styrefution America LLC USA selling, distribution interest 100% 100% (3)
Manufacture of styrene
INEQS Styrofution Belgium NV Belgium monomer and polymers Ordinary 100% 100% (4)
TNEQS Styrolution Belgium Services bvba Belgium Sales office Crdinary 100% 100% (5)
Manufacture of styrenc
INEQS Sryroluiion Canada Lid Canada monomer Common 100% 100% [(:}]
Registered
MNEOS Sryrolution (China) Investment Co. Lid China Financing company capital 100% 100% N
Equity
INEQS Styroiution do Brasil Polimeros Litda. Brazil Sales office JOrdinary 100% 100% (8}
TNEQS Siyrefution Hong Kong Company
Limited. Hong Kong Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% 3
INEOS Sryrelution Europe GmbH. Germany Distnbution company Ordinary 100% 100% (2}
TNEQS Styrolution France SAS. France Manufacturc of polymers Crdimary 100% 100% (10
INEQS Styrolution France Services SAS, France Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% ()
INEOS Siyrolution Group GmbH, Germany Holding company Crdinary 100% 100% (03]
INEOS Siyrolution Iberia S.L Spain Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% (1)
INEOS Styrolution Switzerland SA. Switzerland Distribution company Ordinary 100% 100% (14)
INEOQS Scyrolution ltalia Sr L. . [taty Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% (1%)
MNEOS Styrolution Kimyasal Urinler Ticaret . o o
Limited Sitketi. Turkey Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% (161
MNEOS Styrelution Kéln GmbH. Germany Manufacture of polymers Ordimary 100% 100% (N
INEQS Styrolution Korea Lid. South Korea Manufacture of polymers Common- 100% 100% (8
KR Copolymer Co. Ltd South Korea Manufacture of K -Resin Ordinary 100% 100% (19
INEOS Styrolution Ludwigshafen GmbH. Germany Manufacture of polymers Ordinary 180% 100% {2)
INEOS Styrolution Mexicana, 5 A de C'V. Mexico Manufacture of polymers Ordinary 100% 100% (20)
INEOQS Styrolution Netherlands B.V Netherlands Sales affice Ordinary 100% 1 00% 2N
INEOS Styrolution 000, Russia Salcs office (;::::I' 100% 100% (22)
TNEOS Styrolutien Poland 8p.z 0 0. Poland Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% 23)
INEDS Styrolution Polymers (Foshan) Co. Lid. China Manufacture of polymers  C8SETd 1004 100% (24)

capital
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022

7 INVESTMENTS (continued)
7(a} Invesiments in subsidiary undertakings (continued)
Ctlass of Registered
. Country of shares Ownership  Ownership office
Company incorporation Principal activity held 2022 2021 reference
TNEOQS Styrolution Palymers (Ningbo) Co. Lid. China Manufacture of polymers Rii::glm 100% 100% {25)
TNEOS  Styrolution  Advanced  Malcrials . Manufacture of ABS (under Registered "
. . "

(Ningbo) Pre Lid China constnuction} capital 0% t00% (28
INEOS Styrolution Polymers (Shanghai) Co. China Salcs offiec Reg:syered 100% 100% an
Lud. capital
NEOS Styrolution Schwarzheide GmbH Germany Manufacture of polymers Ordinary 100% 100% {30y
fNEOS Styrolution APAC Pte Ltd. Singapore Sales office Ordinary 130% 100% 3n
INEOS Styrolution UK Limited.” UK Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% o
INEOS Styrclution US Holding LLC. usa Holding company “lf‘“l'e';:f: 00% 100% I&)
nl:::ifos Styrolution  Verwaliungsgeselischafi Germany Financing company Ordirary 100% 100% @
TNEOS Styrolution {Thailand) Co., Ltd. Thailand Manufacrure of polymers Ordinary 100% 100% [RES]

. . Charter N
INEOQS Styrolution Victnam Co., Ltd. Vietham Sales office Capital 100% 100% (35)
Deutsche Bank Mexico F/1 787 Styrolution. Mexico Securitisation vehicle nfa niz n/a (N
[NE.OS Stym!ut_lqn Receivables Finance Ireland Secuntisation vehicle nfa nfa nfa (51)
Designated Activity Company.
INEOS Quattro Moldings UK Limited UK Holding company Ordinary L00% 100% [4)]

L Production of acctic acid . o
INEOS Acctyls UK Limited UK and other acetyls products Ordinary 100% 100% o
INEOS Acetyls Intcrmational Limited™ UK Holding campany Ordinaty 100% 100% 1))
INEOS US Petrochem LLL.C UsaA Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% H

Production of purified
INEOS US Chemicals Company USA tevephthalic acid and Commen 100% 100% (&3]
paraxylene

M™NEQS 179 Limited™” UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% m
INEQS Aromatics and  Acetyls  Trading Registered o "
(Shanghar) Company Limited China Sales office capital 100% 100% a9
INEOS Aceryls Jupan KX Japan Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% 36)
TNEOS Acctyls [nvestments Limited UK Helding company Ordinary 100% 100% 4]
INEOS Aromatics Asia Limited Hong Kong Sales office Ordinary 100% 100%% {33)
INEOS Acetyls (Malaysia) Sda Bhd. Malaysia Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% (68)
INEOS Acetyls (Korea) Limuted™ UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% [$3]
NEQS Acetyls Americas Limited™ UK Holding company Qrdinary 100% 100% (48]
[NEOS Aromalics Holdings Limited UK Holding company Qrdinary 100% 100% n
TNEOS Aromatics Limited UK Sales company Ordinary 100% 100% m
FNEQS - World-Wide  Technical  Services UK Licensing services Ordinary 100% 100% (n
Limited Y
INEOS Aromatics Holding Company - - ——~USA - Holding company Common~— ~100% - - 100%— — —-(3)
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INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TQO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022

7 INVESTMENTS (continued)
7(a) Investments in subsidiary undertakings (continued)
Country of Class of Registered
incorparatio shares Ownership  Ownership office
Company n Principal activity held 2022 2021 referehce
. . L Praduction of purificd
INF (¥ Zhuh h | . . Memb
(furm:rl BPUZ::JhaiCCT'sr:r:iT:aE &Tﬁnyudl}r‘mlcd China terephthalic acid and nterest | O1:90% 91.90% (66)
M pany paraxylenc
INEOS Aromatics Indonesia Holdings Lid usa Halding company Common 100% 100% (64)
Produclion of punficd
INEOS Aromatics Belgium NV Belgium terephthalic acid and Ordinary 100% 100% ()
paraxylene
TMEOS Aromatics Belgium Holdings LLC USA Holding company Common 100% 100% (3}
Production of punhied
PT TNEQS Aromatics Indoncsia Indonesia tercphthalic acid and Ordinary 100% 100% (72)
paraxylene
PT INEOS Aromaties Trading Indonesia®™ Indonesia Trading company Ordinary 100% 100% (76)
INOVYN Limited'™ UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
MNOVYN Holdings Limited™ UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
NOVYN Finance Limited 054 Holding company Ordinary 130% 100% (3R}
MNOVYN Group Treasury Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
NOVYN Europe Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (3R)
Manufacture of chemicals . o o
MNOVYN Norge AS Norway and PVC Ordinary 100%% 100% 3%
NOVYN Sverige AB Swed Manufacture of chemicals Ordin: 100% 100% (40)
verige weden and PVC rdinary b (]
INEOS ChlorVinyls Holdings BV Netherlands Halding company Ordinary 100% 100% @
INOVYN Newton Aycliffe Limited UK Non-trading Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
INEOS Newton Aycliffe Trustees Limited UK Pension trustee Qrdinary 100% 100% 38
INOVYN Services Limited UK Service company Ordinary 100% 100% 38)
. . Extraction and supply of .
INOVYN Enterpnses Limited UK brinc and water Ordinary 1060% 100% (3R)
INOVYN ChlorVinyls Holdings Limitcd UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
MNOVYN Neweo 2 Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
INOVYN ChlorVinyls Limited UK Manufacturc of chemicals (o 100% 100% GB)
and PVC
. s Manufaceure of salt and o o,
INEOQS Enterprises Group Limited UK sulphur chemicals Ordinary 100% 100% (3R}
Keuper Gas Storage Limited UK Gas storage Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
[NEOS Chlor Atlantk GmbH Germany Non-trading Ordinary 100% 1J0% (42)
NOVYN Americas Inc USA P“":h‘:‘;e:::;fs”'“ of Ordinary 100% 100% (43)
INOVYN Sales International Limited's' UK MNon-trading Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
INEQS Chlor Trustees Limited UK Pension trustee Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
INEOS Vinyls UK Ld® UK Non-trading Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
INEOS Vinyis GmbH & Co KG Germany Halding company Ocdinary {00% 100% {42}



INEOS QUATTRO HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2022

7 INVESTMENTS (continved)
7ra) Investments in subsidiary undertakings (continued)
Cauntry of Crass of Registered
incorporatio shares Ownership  Ownership office
Company n Principal activity held 2022 2021 reference
™NOVYN Schkopau GmbH Germany Non trading Ordinary 100% 100% (42)
INOVYN Sales GmbH Germany Non trading Ondinary 100% 100% (42)
EVC Pension Trustees Limited UK Pension trustee Ordinary 100% 100% (38)
INQVYN Energy Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% ARy
Kerling Neweo | Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% {38)
Kerling Newco 2 Limited UK Holding company Ordinary 100% 100% {3%)
INOVYN Deutschland GmbH Germany M““"f“;:;“:\f,g‘““'"“'s Ordinary L00% 100% (42)
INOVYN Espana S L. Spain Manufacture of chemicals o0 100% 100% (44)
and PVC
MNOVYN Osterreich GmbH'™. Austria Salcs office Ordinary 100% 100% 45)
INOVYN Belgium SA. Belgium Manufacwure of chemicals Ordinary 100% 100% (46)
TNOVYN Olefines France SAS. France Opcran:'r;skf;thylcnc Ordinary 100% 100%, 47N
WNOVYN Portugal Lda Porgal Sales office Ordinary 100% 100% (48)
INOVYN Trade Scrvices SA Belgi Purchasc and resale of Ordi L00% 100% 46
rade Services clgium chericals rdinary ] (] (45)
INOVYN Manufacturing Belgium SA Belgium Manufac;:‘rjel;)\r]::hemlcals Ordinary L00% 100% (46)
fchl .
INOVYN France SAS France M“"“fa;‘rf;u‘zt: PNC Ordinary 100% 100% N
INOVYN lalia S.p.A. haly Commercial scrvices Ordinary 0% 100% (49)
INOVYN Produzione ltalia S.p.A Iealy Manufacture of chemicals Ordinary 100% 100% {30y
NOVYN Quimica Espana S.L Span Waste ircatment Ordinary 100% 100% (44)
Vinytoop Ferrara S.p.A® fraly PVC Recycling Ordinary 100% 100% (49)
Limited
TTE Training Limited. UK Training company by 100% 100% {52y
Guarantee
Limiicd
TTE Apprepriceship Training Agency Limiled. UK Apprenticeship company by 100% 100% (52)
Guarantce
INEOS Narway Finance iretand Limited reland Securittsation vehicle n/a nfa wa (51)
L] Shares held dircetly by INEOS Quattro Holdings Limited. All other subsidiarics histed arc held indsrectly.

(a) [n the process of beng Tiquidated
{b) Sold in November 2022,

) Effecuve on 28 December 2022, the Group soid 50% of (s {00% share in INEOS Styrolunon Sinopee Advanced Matenals (Ninghba) Pte Lid
to China Petroleum & Chemical Corporauon establishing a joint venture benveen the Group and Sinopec

(d) Portion of ownership interesis held by non-controlling interests is 8 1%.

(e} Company incorporated on 1} August 2022,

H Portion of ownership interests held by non<conirolling inerests 1s 5.1%,

(g} Dissolved in January 2023 following liquidation.

L Audit cxemption Subsidianes claiming cxemption from audit under section 472A Companics Act 2006
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 BECEMBER 2022

7 INVESTMENTS (continued)

7(bi  Registered office addresses of investments

The reg:stered office addresses of the investments disclosed in this note are:

Reference Registered office address

(13 Hawksleare Chape] Lane, Lyndhurst, Flampshive, 5043 706G, Uniwd Kingdom

2) Mainzer Landstrasse 50, 60325 Frankfurt, Germany

[€)) Cormporation Trust Center,1209 Orange Street, Wilmington DE 19801, Delaware, USA

4) Haven 725, Scheldelaan 600, 2040 Antwerp. Belgium

() 2070 Zwijndrechi, Nicuwe Wy 1. 1053 Haven, Mcchelen, Belgium

(6) 872 Tashmoo Avenuc, Sarnia ON N7T BA3 Ontario, Canada

€] Room 2502, 567 Langac Road, Putuo Districi, Shanghai, China

(8) Rua Quintana 887 3° andar, conjuntos 33 ¢ 34, Ciudade Moncaocs, Sdo Paulo 04569-011

(9 Chertsey Road, Sunbury on Thames, Middiesex, TW16 7BP, Unsied Kingdom

(1) Rue Albert Duplat. F-624 10 Wingles. France

(tn 95 rue ja Boéuie, F-75008 Paris, France

(12} Randa General Mitre 28-30, 08017 Barcelana, Spain

(14) Avenue des Uttins 3, CH-1180 Rolle, Switzerland

(15) Via Caidera 21, 20153 Milano Cesano Mademo, huly

(16) Biiyiikdere Cad. Meydan sok., Spring Giz Plaza K. 13 N.11. Maslak Sariyer, Istanbul, Turkey

(17 Alte Strasse 20%, 50769 Cologne, Germany

(18} Sanggae-ro 143 (Sanggae-dong), Nam-gu, Ulsan, South Korea

(19 14" Flagr, 92 Tongil-ro (Soonhwa-dong) Jung-gu, Scoul, §4517, Korea

(20) Aventda Insurgentes Sur No. 859, Piso 1 1, Oficina 1102, Colonia Napoles. 03810, Mexice City, Mexico

21y Strawinskylaan 411, NL-1077 XX Amstcrdam, The Netherlands

(22) Bldg. 3, 18 Pyatnitskaya St., 115035 Moscow, Russian Federation

(23 ul Weloska 9, 02-583 Warszawa, Poland

(24) Na. 61, Jinben Industry Avenue, Xmnan Sub-district, Sanshui District, Foshan, Guangdong Province, China

15 Na.2388, Minghai North Road, Ningbo Petrochemical Economy & Technology Development Zone, Ningbo,
Zhejiang, China

£26) Building No. 3 Unit 1-10, 266 Beihsi Road, Ningbo Petrochemical Zone, Zhenhai District, Ningbo, China

(27) Central Towers, Suite 2501 £2503, 567 Langao Road. 200333 Shanghai, China

(28) Avenida Adolfo Ruiz Cortines y Priv. Rable §/N, Col. San Pedro Lozano, Monterrey, Nucvo Ledn, 64299, Mexico

(29) 17F, Block B, Central Towers,567 Langao Road, Putue District,Shanghai, P.R.China, 200333

30) Schipkauer Strasse |, 1987 Schwarzheide, Germany

3n 111 Somerser Road, #14-16 to 21 TripleOnc Somcrsct, Singapore 238164, Singapore

32 Av. Ricardo Margain Zozaya 444, Torre Equus 1ZA Sur, Colonia Valle del Campesire, San Pedro Guarza Garcia,
Nuevo Ledn, 66265, Mexico

(33 5/F, Manulifc Placc, 348 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon. Hong Kong

34) No. 4/2,1-8 Road, T. Map Ta Phut, A Muang, 2115 Rayong, Thailand

35) 16th flogr, Dacha Business Centre, 360 Kim Ma Str., Ngoc Khanh Ward, Ba Dinh Dist, Hanoi, Viemam

(36) 1-25-1 Nishi-Shinjuku, Shinjuku-ku, (35F, Shinjyuku Center Building), Tokyo 1630635, Japan

(37 Torre Virreyes, Pedregal 24, Piso 20, Colonia Malino del Rey, | 1040, Mexico City, Mexico

(38) Bankes Lane Office, Bankes Lane, Runcomn, Cheshire, WAT 4JE, United Kingdom

(39) Rafnes [ndusinomrade, 3966 Stathellc, Norway

(40) 44483 Stenungsund, Sweden

(41) Luna Arena, Hertkerbergwep 238, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 1101 CM

{42) Ludwigstrasse 12, 47495 Rheinberg, Germany

{43) 2036 Foulk Rd, Suite 204, Wilmington, Delaware 19801, USA

(44) Calle Mane Curie 1-3-3, 08760 Martorell, Barcelona. Spain

(45) Schottengasse |, 4. Stock, 1010 Wien, Austria

(46) Avenue des Olympiades 20, | 140 Brussels, Belgium

(47 2 Avenue de la Réputhque, 39500 Tavaux, France

(48) Rua do Centro Cultural n® § - R/C, safa 8, 1700-106 Lisboa, Portugal

(49} Via Marconi 73, 44122 Ferrara (FE), italy

(50) Rosighane Marittima (LI}, Via Piave 6 CAP 57016, Raly

(51 Kilmore House, Park Lane, Spencer Dock, Dublin 1, lreland

(32) New Horizons House, New Bndge Road, Ellesmere Port, Cheskine, CH65 41T, United Kingdom

(53) Postboks 1267 — Vika, 01 14 Oslo, Norway

(34} Callc Principe de Vergara 204 - Primero C - 28002, Madrid, Spain

(55} Ruc de la Religion, 10, 1400 Nivclles, Belgium

(56) Mainzer Landstrafie 55, 60329 Frankfurt am Main, Germany *
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7 INVESTMENTS (continued)

7(b} Registered office addresses of investments

Reference Registered office address
[$) Verkstadsvagen 1 |, 4443 | Stenungsund, Sweden
(58) Paniglgasse 24/1/19°, A-1040 Wien, Austria
(59) t2 Ruc Raoul Nordling CS 7001, 92270 Bois Colombes, France
(60) Fregatien 3, 444-30 Stenungsund, Sweden
(6!) Via Giovanni Da Procids, 11, 20149, Milan, ltaly
(62) Scheldelaan 480, 2040 Antwerpen, Belgium
(63) Via Magona, 57023 Cecina, faly
(64) 2711 Centerville Road.Suire 400, Witmington DE 19808, United States
(63) 6% Floor, No. 413 Scction 2 Ti-Ding Blvd., Ncihu, Taipet, 11493, Taiwan
(66) Da Ping Harbour, Lin Gang Industrial Zone, Zhuhai City, Guangdong Provinee, China
67) 12 Floor, Menara Symphony No. 5, Jalan Prof Khoo Kay Kim, Scksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul
Ehsan, Malaysia
(68) 12th Floor, Menara Symphony No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor.
Malaysia :
(69, 97 Weyjiang Road (in the Petrochemical Park), Changshou District, Chongqing, China
(70 6 3-15 Sanggac-ro, Cheongnyang-mycon, Uljugun, Lsan, 44987, Korca
1) Amocolaan 2 2440 Geel, Belgium
(72} 20™ Floor Summitmas [T J1., Jend. Sudimman Kav. 61 — 62, Jakarta, Selatan, Indonesia
73) No 1-1Formosa Indusirial Comples, Maitiso, Yunlin Hsien. Taiwan
(74 94 Huo Ju Road, Liu He District, Nanjing, hangsu Province, China
(75) Maracaibo Drive, Point Lisas Industrial Estate, Point Lisas, Trinidad and Tobago
(76) South Quarter Building Tower €, GJI. R.A. Kartini Kav. 8, Cilandak Barat, Jakana, Indonesia
8 DEBTORS
2022 2021
€m
Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts owed by Zroup Underthkings......... ..o e 500.5 -
Group relief balance owed by group undertakings. . - 0.2
500.5 0.2

The amounts owed by group undertakings in the current year are an unsecured loan owed by the Company’s immediate
parent undertaking measured at amortised cost. The [oan attracted interest at commercial rate and had a maturity at §
December 2023, The loan was settled in January 2023 (see note 14).

9 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Current

2022 2021
€m

Amounts owed to group waderakings ... 500.6 0.1

The amounts owed to group undertakings in the current year are an unsecured loan owed to the Company’s immediate

subsidiary measured
2023. The loan was

at amortised cost. The loan attracted 1aterest at comumercial rate and had a maturity at § December
settled in January 2023 (see note 14).
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10 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 202t
€m
ACCrUAlS. L e e - 0!
Group relief balance owed 10 group undertakings 78 -
7.8 0.1
11 CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
As at 31 As at 31
December December
2022 2021
€m
200,100 (2021: 200,100} issued Ordinary shares (pounds sterling) of £1.00 (2021 :
B 00) each o e a e 0.3 0.3
4 (2021: 4) issued Ordinary shares (Euro) of €1.00 (2021: €1.00) each............._. - -
0.3 6.3

As the reporting currency of the Company is the Euro, share capital has been converted to Euros at the effective rate
of exchange ruling at the date of issuance.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are eatitled to one
vote per share at meetings of the Company.

Dividends
The following dividends were recognised during the year:
2022 2021
€m
Repayment of Equity Bridge Contribution ..o, - 8249
Other dividends declared....................... [T PP UPTO TP 521.0 393.3
521.0 1,218.2

Interim dividends of €521.0 million were declared and paid during the year (2021: €393.3 million). The Directors
have declared the payment of a final dividend of €500.9 million (2021: €nil) on 23 January 2023 (see note 14).

The Equity Bridge Contribution received from the Company’s immediate party undertaking as part of the BP
Acquisition was repaid in January 2021 via a return of capital of €824.9 milkion.

The dividend declared equates to €2,603.7 per Ordinary share (2021: €6,087.8 per Ordinary share).
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12 ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING AND CONTROLLING PARTY

The immediate parent company of the Company is INEQS Industries Holdings Limited.

The uitimate parent undertaking of the Company is INEQS Limited, a company incorporated in the Isie of Man. The
directors regard Mr J A Ratcliffe as the ulimate controlling party by virtue of his majonty shareholding in INEOS
Limuted.

The smallest group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by INEOS Quatro Holdings
Limited. The largest group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by INEOS Industries
Limited. Copies of the financial statements can be obtained from the company secretary at the registered office:
INEOS Industries Limited, Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst, Hampshire, 3043 7FG.

13 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with FRS 101, which requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions which affect the application of the accounting policies, and the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates
and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimates change and in any future periods. There is no area within the financial statements that involve a
significant degree of judgement or estimation.

14 SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 23 January 2023, the Company received a dividend of €500.9 miltion from its immediate subsidiary. On the same
day, the Directors of the Company declared the payment of a final dividend of €500.9 million to the Company’s
immediate parent. This dividend income did not constitute any cash inflow for the Company as this was used to fully
repay the amount the Company owed to its immediate subsidiary in forin of a loan (see nate 9). Similarly, the dividend
distribution did not constitute any cash outflow for the Company as this was used by the Company’s immediate parent
to settle the amount owed to the Company in form of a loan (see note ).
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